THE ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION OF MADAGASCAR'S PROTECTED AREAS – *A REVIEW OF THE EVIDENCE*

Andrew Cooke, Rija Ranaivoarison, Fano Andriamahefazafy and Mark Fenn.



FINAL VERSION FOR TRANSLATION 28 May 2022



Contents

ACRONYMS	5
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	7
INTRODUCTION	12
The global context	12
Madagascar biodiversity	13
Madagascar's protected area system	14
Purpose and Research questions	17
METHODS	17
Methodological approach	17
Main data sources used for the evaluations	19
Key variables in economic calculations	20
Specific valuation methods	20
Initial scoping of PA values based on internationally published ecosystem service values	20
Global economic contribution of Madagascar's protected areas	20
National economic contribution of Madagascar's Protected Areas	23
Local economic contribution of protected areas	28
Marine protected Areas	34
Other benefits of protected areas	34
Cost of managing protected areas	35
Opportunity costs of protected areas in Madagascar	35
RESULTS	36
Literature review	36
General findings	36
Important principles from the natural capital economics literature	36
Landmark references	37
Previous key research on Madagascar – a brief review	39
The WAVES programme in Madagascar	41
Orientations derived from the literature review	42
Initial scoping of potential PA values based on transferred value approach	42
Global economic benefits of Madagascar's protected areas	44
Global climate regulation benefits	44
Global biodiversity conservation benefits	44

	Global economic benefits linked to existence value of Madagascar's biodiversity	. 45
	Total global economic benefits provided by Madagascar PA network	. 46
Ν	ational economic contribution of Protected Areas to key development sectors	. 46
	Results by sector	. 47
	Biodiversity conservation	. 51
	Tourism	. 52
	Energy	. 54
	Agriculture and potable water	. 55
	Total economic contribution across multiple sectors	. 57
L	ocal Economic Contributions (Case Studies)	. 57
	Complex Mahavavy Kinkony	. 58
	Antrema Biocultural Site	. 58
	Ankarafantsika National Park	. 59
	Ranomafana National Park	. 59
	Analamazaotra / Mantadia	. 60
N	1akira Natural Park (hydro-energy study)	. 61
	Combined value of case study sites	. 62
	Discussion of the case studies	. 62
N	larine protected areas (MPAs) – a specific case study	. 63
	Value of marine ecosystems	. 64
	Value of MPAs – international evidence	. 65
	Fisheries benefits of MPAs – international evidence	. 66
	International guidelines on MPAs	. 66
	Benefits of specific ecosystems within Madagascar's MPAs	. 66
	Earlier MPA value studies for fisheries in East Madagascar	. 68
	Value of coral reefs for tourism	. 69
	Nosy Tanikely MPA – an exceptionally valuable site	. 69
	Value of coastal areas for recreation	. 70
	Total estimated economic contribution of Madagascar's MPAs	. 70
	Costs of managing MPAs	. 71
	Opportunity costs of MPAs	. 71
	Costs of inaction for MPAs	. 71
С	ther economic contributions and benefits of PAs	. 71
	Human health benefits of protected areas	. 72
	The special case of spiritual values	. 78

Costs of protected area management	79
Opportunity costs of protected areas in Madagascar	79
Options for compensating opportunity costs	79
Direct cost of maintaining protected areas	81
Costs of inaction and degradation	82
Experience of other countries	83
Costa Rica (2014 \$)	83
Rwanda (2019)	84
Uganda (2004)	84
China (2020)	85
DISCUSSION	85
CONCLUSION	88
RECOMMENDATIONS	88
International action and response	88
Management of the PA network	89
Research	90
Other technical actions	90
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
Scientific Committee	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	
ANNEXES	112
Methodological details	112
Value transfer method	112
Transferred value estimates following Costanza et al	113
Masoala-Makira Landscape evaluation in 2008	114
Economic sector valuation	116
Landscape economic contribution	117
Detailed calculations by site	120
Complexe Mahavavy-Kinkony (CMK)	120
Ranomafana economic values	126
Andasibe-Mantadia	
Ankarafantsika	
Detailed calculations – all contributions (images of master spreadsheet)	

ACRONYMS

AFD	Agence Française de Développement		
ANGAP	Association Nationale de Gestion des Aires Protégées		
ASCLME	Agulhas and Somali Current Large Marine Ecosystems		
BBC	British Broadcasting Corporation		
BIOFIN	Biodiversity Finance		
BNCCREDD	Bureau National de Changements Climatiques et de la REDD		
C3EDM	Centre for Economics, Ethics, and Environment for the Development of Madagascar		
CAZ	Corridor Ankeniheny-Zahamena		
CITES	Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species		
DBSAPM	Direction de la Biodiversité et du SAPM		
CBD	Convention on Biological Diversity		
CEPF	Critical Ecosystem Partnership Fund		
CGHV	Compagnie Générale Hydroélectrique de Volobe		
СМК	Complexe de Mahavavy Kinkony		
CoP15	15 th Conference of the Parties of the CBD		
COP26	26 th Conference of the Parties of the UNFCC		
COVID	Corona Virus Disease		
DBEV	Département de Biologie Végétale		
DEAP	Droits d'Entrée aux Aires Protégées		
EA	Ecosystem Accounting		
ECM	Energy consumption model		
EEZ	Exclusive Economic Zone		
EID	Emerging Infectious Disease		
EIRR	Economic Internal Rate of Return		
ENPV	Economic Net Present Value		
ES	Ecosystem Service		
ESSA	Ecole des Sciences Sociales et Agricoles		
ESMP	Environmental and Social Management Plan		
EU	European Union		
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organisation of the UN		
FAPBM	Fondation des Aires Protégées et de la Biodiversité de Madagascar		
GCLME	Guinea Current Large Marine Ecosystem		
GEF	Global Environment Facility		
GDP	Gross Domestic Product		
GEP	Gross Ecosystem Product		
GNP	Gross National Product		
GHG	Greenhouse gas		
GIS	Geographical Information System		
ICDP	Integrated Conservation and Development Project		
IEFN	Inventaire Ecologique et Forestier National		
IEM	Initiative pour l'Emergence de Madagascar		
IMRA	Institut Malagasy de Recherche Appliquée		
INSTAT	Institut National Statistique		
IOGA	Institut d'Observation Géographique d'Antananarivo		
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change		
IUCN	International Union for the Conservation of Nature		
JIRAMA	Jiro si Rano Malagasy (national power & water utility)		
КВА	Key Biodiversity Area		
KfW	KfW Banking Group (Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau)		
LMMA	Locally Managed Marine Area		
MEDD	Ministère de l'Environnement et du Développement Durable		
MEEF	Ministère de l'Environnement et du Développement Durable Ministère de l'Ecologie et des Forêts		
MEDD MEEF METT	Ministère de l'Environnement et du Développement Durable Ministère de l'Ecologie et des Forêts Management Effectiveness Tracking Tool		
MEDD MEEF METT MGA	Ministère de l'Environnement et du Développement Durable Ministère de l'Ecologie et des Forêts Management Effectiveness Tracking Tool Malagasy Ariary		
MEDD MEEF METT MGA MIT	Ministère de l'Environnement et du Développement DurableMinistère de l'Ecologie et des ForêtsManagement Effectiveness Tracking ToolMalagasy AriaryMassachusetts Institute of Technology		
MEDD MEEF METT MGA MIT MNP	Ministère de l'Environnement et du Développement Durable Ministère de l'Ecologie et des Forêts Management Effectiveness Tracking Tool Malagasy Ariary Massachusetts Institute of Technology Madagascar National Parks		
MEDD MEEF METT MGA MIT MNP MPA	Ministère de l'Environnement et du Développement Durable Ministère de l'Ecologie et des Forêts Management Effectiveness Tracking Tool Malagasy Ariary Massachusetts Institute of Technology Madagascar National Parks Marine Protected Area		

MTTM	Ministère du Tourisme Transport et Météorologie
NAP	Nouvelle Aire Protégée
NBFP	National Biodiversity Finance Plan
NbS	Nature-based Solutions
NEAP	National Environmental Action Plan
NEHO	Nouvelle Energie Hydroélectrique de l'Onive
NERF	Niveau d'Emissions de Référence Forestière
NGO	Non-Governmental Organisation
NHK	Japan Broadcasting Corporation
NMC	North Mozambigue Channel
NTFP	Non-timber forest products
NP	National Park
ONE	Office National pour l'Environnement
OECD	Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development
ONTM	Office National du Tourisme de Madagascar
ORE	Office de Régulation de l'Electricité
PA	Protected Area
PADAP	Programme d'Appui au Développement Approche Paysage
PAG	Plan d'Aménagement et de Gestion
PAGOSE	Electricity Governance and Operations Improvement Project
PAP	Plan d'Aménagement des Pêches
PCD	Plan Communal de Développement
PES	Payment for Ecosystem Service
PIC	Pôles Intégrées de Croissance
PRD	Plan Régional de Développement
PSSE	Plan de Sauvegarde Social et Environnemental
RFDD+	Reduced Emissions from Deforestation and Degradation +
RNI	Réserve Naturelle Intégrale
SAPM	Système des Aires Protégées
SCC	Social Cost of Carbon
SEP2D	Sud-Expert Plantes Développement Durable
SRAT	Schéma Régional de Développement
STAR	Species Threat Abatement and Restoration
SWIO	Southwest Indian Ocean
SWIOFISH	SWIO Fisheries Project
TEEB	The Evaluation of Ecosystems and Biodiversity
UNDP	UN Development Programme
UNEP	UN Environment Programme
UNESCO	UN Education Science and Culture Organisation
UNFCC	UN Framework Convention on Climate Change
UNSEEA	UN System for Environmental Economic Accounting
UN	United Nations
USAID	US Agency for International Development
USD	United States Dollars (\$)
VAT	Value Added Tax
WAVES	Wealth Accounting for the Valuation of Ecosystem Services
WCS	Wildlife Conservation Society
WEF	World Economic Forum
WHO	World Health Organisation
WIO	Western Indian Ocean
WTP	Willingness to pay
WTTC	World Travel and Tourism Council
WWF	World Wide Fund for Nature

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Nature provides many benefits for people, although the economic value of the multiple benefits provided by natural ecosystems are often not well understood and may even be ignored by decision makers. Ignoring nature can lead to economic development planning and market mechanisms that result in the conversion of remaining natural ecosystems to mono-functional uses and the ongoing degradation of protected areas and the essential ecosystem services they provide. In fact, the weight of the evidence shows that in most cases, conserving nature is better for human prosperity than conversion of natural habitats to other uses.¹

The present report seeks to assemble and review the available evidence of the global, national and local economic contributions of Madagascar's protected areas, including non-monetary beneficial contributions, notably to human health and well-being, and to compare them with the costs of maintaining the protected areas network and the opportunity costs to households living around protected areas. We aim to evaluate the contributions that protected areas make to the world and people of Madagascar and to help Madagascar's decision makers reach appropriate decisions on the maintenance, enhancement and financing of Madagascar's protected areas network.

The protected areas network of Madagascar, made up of 123 protected areas covering 6,233,317 ha of terrestrial and 1,379,029 ha of marine (including intertidal)² ecosystems, is the country's greatest natural capital asset and has been described as a 'priceless national treasure' and of 'immeasurable national and global value' ³ as both a national and global good⁴. Yet the full economic contributions of the ecosystem goods and services provided by this asset are not fully understood.

Making use of internationally published global data, national economic data and a series of local case studies, this study uses a combination of recognised methods for estimating the value of ecosystem services from protected areas⁵ to demonstrate the global, national and local economic contributions of Madagascar's protected areas and to highlight the critical importance of increasing financial investments in protected areas (Table 0).

At the global level, we estimate that Madagascar's protected areas network, in its current state, and assuming effective conservation, makes a total contribution through climate regulation, biodiversity conservation and related cultural services (tourism, research, entertainment) with an economic value of \$3.67 to \$17.27 billion annually (median value \$7.74 billion). Of this, \$2.19 to 14.64 billion (median value \$6.25 billion) is for climate regulation⁶, \$572-660 million⁷ is for biodiversity conservation, \$299-809 million from genetic resources and \$623-633 million for cultural benefits of biodiversity (tourism, research, entertainment). In counterpart, Madagascar expects to earn \$47 million annually from the national REDD+ program and receives approximately \$52-60 million towards the conservation of biodiversity, or about 2-4% of the global benefit. Overall, the global contribution of Madagascar's protected areas to climate regulation and biodiversity conservation has an estimated value many times greater (perhaps as much as 25–50 times greater) than the international investment or credit Madagascar is currently able to attract towards the conservation of its protected areas.

¹ Bradbury et al 2021

² Cooke et al in press

³ Jones et al in press

⁴ Carret & Loyer 2004; World Bank 2013

⁵ Including avoided losses, contingent valuation (willingness to pay), market-based pricing methods and transferred value methods (using internationally published values for comparable ecosystem services in other countries)

⁶ Assuming a social cost of carbon of \$171/tCO2eq as used in WWF 2020

⁷ Deutz et al 2020

Level	Key ecosystem services	Estimated value \$/yr
GLOBAL	Climate regulation by forests in PAs (terrestrial	\$2.19 – 14.64 bn (range) ⁸
	forests and mangroves)	\$6.25 bn (median) ⁹
	Biodiversity conservation in PAs	\$572-660 million
	Genetic resources from PAs	\$299-809 million
	Tourism (global spending based on PAs)	\$533-543 million
	Research (global spending linked to PAs)	\$8.34 million
	Natural History films (production costs)	\$412,500
	Global entertainment (animations)	\$88 million
	Subtotal	Range: \$3.67-17.27 bn
		Median: \$7.74 bn
NATIONAL	Carbon storage (theoretical @ \$5/tC)	\$47 million
	Carbon storage (actual @ \$5/tC)	\$27 - \$29 million
	Biodiversity conservation	\$52-60 million
	Tourism (in country expenditure)	\$42-174 million
	Scientific research (national expenditure)	\$2.8 million
	Natural history films (national expenditure)	\$112,000
	Agriculture (MNP managed PAs only)	\$22.5 million ¹⁰
	Drinking water (MNP managed PAs only)	\$10.1 million
	Hydroelectricity (existing or planned)	\$20.75-41.24 million
	Subtotal (terrestrial PAs)	Range: \$215-329 million
MARINE	Marine Protected Areas (indicative, based on	Range: \$195-199 million
	fisheries, mangrove use & tourism)	
ALL PAS	Marine and terrestrial PAs combined (national	Range: \$410-528 million
	economic contribution)	
LOCAL	Selection of 6 terrestrial PAs covering 590,951 ha	Range: \$42-55 million
	(9% of terrestrial network)	
	All terrestrial PAs (indicative, based on simple	Range: \$444-579 million
	area extrapolation)	

Table 0 – Economic contributions of Madagascar's Protected Areas network by level (Global, National, Local)

At the national level, we find that the measurable gross annual economic contribution of Madagascar's Protected Areas network (terrestrial and marine protected areas) captured in the national economy is an estimated \$410-528 million/yr (\$54-69/ha/yr), based on four key economic development sectors – agriculture, energy, tourism (2019 data) and fisheries, plus benefits in international finance secured for Madagascar's global contribution to climate regulation (carbon storage) and biodiversity conservation. The estimate should be regarded as conservative since it includes only certain sectors and because it does not include jobs created, taxes paid or foreign investments attracted (especially in tourism and energy). Marine protected areas, make a significant contribution to the total, estimated indicatively at \$195-199 million annually based on the existing MPA network of 1.38 million ha (\$141-144/ha/yr).

At the local scale, the economic benefits measured for individual protected areas are variable but can be substantial for the sites studied. Based on a series of case studies, the total economic contribution

⁹ Based on a Social Cost of Carbon of \$171/tCO2eq (WWF 2020)

⁸ Based on a Social Cost of Carbon in the range \$54 (Weng et al 2019) to \$417/tCO2eq (Ricke et al 2018)

¹⁰ A likely underestimate since based on estimate in 2003 (Carret & Loyer 2004) when the purchasing power of \$US1 in Madagascar was anomalously less than \$US1 in 2021

of seven prominent and relatively well-managed terrestrial PAs covering 590,951 ha (or about 9% of the terrestrial PA network) ranged from about **\$42 to \$55 million/yr** (\$67 to \$87/ha/yr). Extrapolated to national scale, this would indicate that the total local economic contribution from <u>terrestrial</u> PAs could reach as much as **\$443 to 579 million**. This should not be interpreted as indicating that local values are greater than those generated at the national level, since the estimate is based on a limited number of relatively well managed PAs with particularly valuable ecosystems (humid forests and wetlands). Rather, it serves to highlight that the national economic benefits of PAs indicated above of \$410-528 million/yr are likely to be substantially underestimated.

Exceptionally, one PA (Ranomafana National Park) of 40,566 ha in the province of Fianarantsoa (the poorest province in Madagascar) based on a combination of ecotourism, energy from hydroelectricity and carbon storage, yielded annual benefits of **\$13.7-22.3 million** (\$338-550/ha/yr). Such figures point to the high local economic contribution and importance of well-placed and well-managed protected areas.

The difference between the measurable benefits at global and national scales illustrates the need for more effective national benefits capture together with more equitable distribution of the economic benefits of protected areas between international and national levels. The high level of benefits at the local scale shows that redistribution of benefits to local households to compensate for sometimes high opportunity costs of PAs should be possible. Evidence shows that where local communities capture significant benefits, they will support protected areas, but that this positive effect can take a decade to become established¹¹ and that a landscape approach is required to allow the development of alternative sources of livelihood¹².

Studies have shown that Madagascar's protected area system has been designed primarily for biodiversity conservation rather than economic contribution through delivery of ecosystem services and has focused on protecting the most representative or pristine habitats for biodiversity. Indeed, the value of the ecosystem services of Madagascar's protected areas was barely considered before 1990 and data are only available for certain values. In this regard, it should be emphasized that the absence of data does not mean an absence of value. Expansion of the existing PA system to include more of the natural capital within Madagascar's 233 Key Biodiversity Areas (KBAs)^{13 14} would considerably increase sustainable economic benefits from protected areas as well as enhance biodiversity conservation and help protect more of Madagascar's critical natural capital assets. At the same time, protected area management objectives need to evolve towards delivering greater local economic benefit within a landscape approach.

It should be understood that the economic contribution of Madagascar's protected areas, based on globally documented ecosystem service values and assuming that Madagascar's protected areas are effectively conserved, will increase with economic development in landscapes around protected areas. International studies have shown that the economic value of ecosystems increases over time, due to a combination of increased benefit capture and resource rarity.¹⁵ Madagascar's protected areas are certainly growing in importance for conservation with time¹⁶.

¹¹ Dumas et al 2021

¹² Vezina et al 2020

¹³ CEPF 2014 identified 213 KBAs; the number has since increased to 233

¹⁴ KBA Data (keybiodiversityareas.org) – consulted 18.01.22

¹⁵ Costanza et al 2014

¹⁶ Waeber et al 2019

Finally, it should be emphasized that the above estimated values do not include a wide range of less tangible benefits, such as in human health (through clean water, well-being and disease control associated with forests and other natural ecosystems), research and education and international cultural benefits such as wildlife films or animations, access to international finance and Madagascar's prestige and image on the world stage, at least some of which could be measured given more time and data. Nor do we consider spiritual, *intrinsic* or *existence* values of biodiversity that can be very important to society.¹⁷

In all scenarios and estimates, from the least conservative to the most conservative, the gross economic benefits of protected areas are substantially greater than the costs of management, estimated at \$10/ha/year or about \$76 million for the PA network. The economic case for maintaining of Madagascar's protected areas if ever in doubt¹⁸ is strongly supported by the economic evidence.

Maintenance and improvement of the PA network should be contrasted with the alternative scenario of inaction, allowing the network to weaken or decline, which would cause a loss of annual benefits to the Malagasy people and deprive future generations of the many benefits and opportunities offered by the network, quite apart from the loss of an irreplaceable global natural heritage. Average rates of forest loss across Madagascar from 2015-2017 were 1.6% and accelerating, with significantly lower rates (about 0.31%) in protected areas. One study has estimated that the annual cost to Madagascar of the 'business as usual' scenario, would be 5.6% of GDP, or a loss of \$840 million annually,¹⁹ while a recent World Bank study has estimated that nature loss in Madagascar would cost as much as 20% of GDP annually by 2030 or \$3 billion/yr.²⁰ Maintaining and strengthening the protected areas network will help reduce these losses.

In the context of Madagascar, it is important to acknowledge that the gross benefits of protected areas are not yet efficiently captured or equitably distributed, and that in local situations protected areas may still have negative socio-economic impacts on disadvantaged groups for whom conversion of forest remains the more beneficial option in the short term. For protected areas to be viable they must be supported by local communities. Thus, mechanisms of benefit redistribution are fundamental to achieving the combined objectives of conservation and development²¹ and must be developed to ensure that a fairer share of the substantial benefits generated by protected areas is enjoyed by local communities in return for their support to conservation.

In the light of the findings, a series of recommendations are made on international action and response, management of the PA network, research and other technical actions that should be taken:

 Internationally, Madagascar should advocate increased financial contributions in support of its PA system in proportion to the global benefits it provides including leveraging increased private and blended finance through the high biodiversity returns it can offer. To justify the additional finance, Madagascar should reinforce the PA network, innovate and diversity finance mechanisms for PAs and prepare an explicit PA strategy for presentation at CBD COP15, supported by a National Biodiversity Finance Plan. Madagascar should renew efforts to capture benefits from bioprospection, raise the price of carbon used for its REDD+ programme and promote the uniqueness of its PAs for international ecotourism post-COVID.

¹⁷ The Dasgupta Review 2021

¹⁸ MEDD 2020 identifies the need to constitute the arguments for the defence of PAs

¹⁹ WWF 2020

²⁰ World Bank 2021b

²¹ Raharinirina 2009

- In relation to PA management, Madagascar should improve and extend the PA network to
 optimise biodiversity conservation and ecosystem services delivery, frame PA policy explicitly
 around biodiversity and ecosystem services, monitor the economic benefits of PAs and
 integrate ecosystem services into PA management plans. PA managers should explore ways to
 improve the distribution of economic benefits of PAs, optimise benefit capture, integrate PAs
 into local and regional development plans, promote the role of PAs in improving human health
 and drive ecological restoration within and around PAs.
- Research efforts should focus on filling information gaps on the ecosystem services and impacts of PAs, especially for agriculture and hydrological services, measuring the economic impacts of PA management strategies, evaluating the costs and benefits of marine protected areas and evaluating the economic benefits of biodiversity *per se*. An ecosystem services review of Madagascar's PAs should be conducted, along with a study on how to secure greater support for PA finance from the private sector. PAs should be systematically integrated into spatial development plans and a national spatially precise data base of PAs and their ecosystem services should be developed and regularly updated.

Above all we need sincere political commitment at all levels to maintain, strengthen and adapt Madagascar's PA network in order to sustain the flow of benefits, develop and capture the available economic opportunities for PAs, ensure a more equitable distribution of benefits and secure this priceless heritage for present and future generations. President Rajoelina's commitment expressed during COP26 to halt deforestation in Madagascar is an important first step.

INTRODUCTION

The global context

The world is currently undergoing four major crises which represent major obstacles to achieving sustainable development – overconsumption, biodiversity loss, climate change and currently the COVID pandemic. While the science on climate change has demonstrated extraordinary global warming during the Anthropocene²², the full extent and significance of the biodiversity crisis has proven difficult to grasp, resulting in insufficient effective action to address it to date²³. Yet more than half the world's GDP depends on healthy, functioning ecosystems.²⁴ The root cause of biodiversity loss is the growing demand for food, fuel, water and land, combined with well-documented inefficiencies and resource misallocation in global production and consumption systems.²⁵

While major efforts and investments have been made to reduce biodiversity loss, particularly over the past 40 years, biodiversity continues to decline at an alarming rate in most countries of the world. To meet this challenge, a global biodiversity action framework has been developed under the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) for adoption at the forthcoming CBD CoP15.²⁶

Associated with the biodiversity crisis is a substantial and widely recognised shortfall in the level of funding needed to reverse the current trend of biodiversity loss. The most authoritative estimate of the global biodiversity funding gap, which considered over 800 literature references, estimates that the global funding needed to reverse biodiversity loss is between \$598 and \$824 billion annually (Fig 1).²⁷ It has been estimated that merely <u>stabilising</u> biodiversity losses would cost \$23-32 billion per annum under current conditions²⁸. Another estimate suggests that the necessary adjustments to stabilise biodiversity *intactness* would require an average investment of 8% of global GDP, rising to 17% if delayed by 10 years²⁹. Finally, UNEP has estimated that *investments* in Nature Based Solutions (NbS) must triple and increase to about \$568 billion annually by 2050.³⁰



Fig 1 – Global biodiversity finance gap (Source: Deutz et al 2020, p. 64))

- ²⁴ World Economic Forum 2020
- ²⁵ OECD 2019
- ²⁶ CBD 2020

²² Osman et al 2021

²³ Bradshaw et al 2021

²⁷ Deutz et al 2020

²⁸ CBD 2020

²⁹ Dasgupta Review 2021

³⁰ UNEP 2021

Madagascar biodiversity

Madagascar is a highly biodiverse country. According to the most recent comprehensive account of its terrestrial biodiversity, Madagascar possesses about 12,000 species of plant of which 83% are unique to Madagascar, divided among five ecoregions. It possesses over 5800 invertebrates (86% endemic) and about [2000] endemic species of land-based vertebrates. While accounting for only 0.4% of the world's land area, Madagascar accounts for 5% of the world's diversity of flora and fauna³¹.

Madagascar is also considered a global hotspot because of the combination of very high biodiversity coupled with very high levels of threat³². Almost all of Madagascar's unique biodiversity is held within natural forests, especially the humid eastern and dry western and southern forests. Some wetlands also contain significant diversity and Madagascar's marine biodiversity is high compared to other countries of the Western Indian Ocean region³³. But it must be emphasized that Madagascar's forests are the most critical ecosystems to the survival of its biodiversity.

Madagascar is also a very poor country with a rapid population growth rate. Without strongly developed infrastructure and social capital, Madagascar's economy is heavily dependent on the direct exploitation of its natural capital to meet the nutritional needs and economic aspirations of its growing population. Modes of natural capital exploitation range from stable agriculture in human-transformed landscapes to the direct extraction of resources from, or conversion of, natural ecosystems, especially logging and clearance of primary forests for agriculture, causing irreversible loss of natural ecosystems and biodiversity.

Today is a critical time for the survival of Madagascar's nature and biodiversity³⁴. According to the most recent assessments, Madagascar lost 44% of its natural forest cover during 1953-2014 (including 37% lost over the period 1973-2014). In 2014, natural forests covered 8.9 Mha (15% of the national land area) including 4.4 Mha (50%) of moist forest, 2.6 Mha (29%) of dry forest, 1.7 Mha of spiny forest (19%) and 177,000 ha (2%) of mangroves. After 2005, the annual deforestation rate progressively increased to reach 99 000 ha/yr during 2010-2014 (corresponding to a rate of 1.1%/yr)³⁵.

In the period 2015-2017 the deforestation rate accelerated by a staggering 56% compared with 2010-2014. At the end of 2017 half of the remaining forest (49%) was located less than 100 m from the forest edge, making most surviving forest already accessible to agricultural conversion. Madagascar risks losing all of its forests and associated biodiversity within 50 years or by 2068 (Vieilledent et al 2018b). Since about 80% of Madagascar's biodiversity lies inside forests³⁶ and 60% of Madagascar's remaining forests lie inside protected areas, protected areas have an increasingly critical role to play in preventing the loss of forests and biodiversity.³⁷

A decade or more ago, the primary concern about Madagascar's deforestation was the loss of its unique biodiversity. Today, this is still a major concern, but additionally the rapid loss of Madagascar's forests has important consequences for global climate change. In effect, the high deforestation rate in Madagascar results in large emissions of carbon which contribute to climate change. In contrast, if well

- 35 Vieilledent et al 2018a
- ³⁶ Waeber t al 2019

³¹ Goodman & Benstead 2005

³² Myers et al 2000

³³ Cooke et al 2003

³⁴ Jones et al 2019

³⁷ Waeber et al 2019

conserved, Madagascar's forests could act as a carbon sink, but if deforestation and forest degradation continue Madagascar will rapidly become a significant net emitter of carbon.

Madagascar's protected area system

In line with most other countries, Madagascar's principal strategy to prevent the loss of its irreplaceable biodiversity and forests has been to establish a network of protected areas. Madagascar's protected area network has a long history which dates back almost 100 years to the creation of the first protected areas in 1927. The network has developed in several recognizable phases summarized as follows:

- <u>Pre-colonial period (1745-1896)</u> while no formal protected areas were created in this period, Madagascar's first king Andrianampoinimerina (1745-1810) declared the protection of forests as a public heritage. ³⁸ Such rules, followed later by the code of 305 Articles of Ranavalona II banning the cutting of forest for agriculture, testify to an early appreciation of the value of forests and protected areas.
- <u>Colonial period (1896-1960)</u> beginning in 1927, with the creation of 10 strict nature reserves totalling 362,579 hectares, complemented by the first national park, Montagne d'Ambre (18,200 ha) in 1958 and 16 special reserves during the 1950s, totalling 388,869 ha, complemented by a network of classified forests of about 2 million ha.
- <u>Post-colonial period (1960-1990)</u> Isalo national park (81540 ha) was established in 1962 (in the same year Cap Masoala RNI of 29,977 was degazetted for logging), followed from 1962 to 1986 by 8 new small special reserves (totalling 26,123ha) and in 1966 the expansion of the RNI network from 11 RNIs covering 392,570 ha to 12 RNIs covering 569,542 (a net increase of 176963 ha). In 1968, the first, very small, marine reserve was established at Nosy Tanikely (139ha)³⁹. In 1989, Madagascar's first biosphere reserve was established at Mananara-nord (24000 ha including a second small marine reserve at Nosy Atafana of about 1000 ha). At the end of this period coverage of PAs stood at 38 sites covering 1,034,782 ha or 1.76% of the national area, complemented by 158 classified forests and 77 reforestation and restoration areas covering an additional 2,460,196 ha⁴⁰.
- <u>National Environmental Action Plan (NEAP) period (1990-2003)</u> The NEAP period added 12 large new national parks linked to integrated conservation and development projects (ICDPs) and reclassified several strict nature reserves as national parks accessible for tourism, bringing protected area coverage to 50 sites, managed by Madagascar National Parks, covering 1.5 million ha or 3% of the land surface.
- <u>Durban Initiative (2003-2015)</u> following international consensus on the norm that protected areas should cover at least 10% of the land surface⁴¹, Madagascar increased its terrestrial protected area coverage to 123 terrestrial (and mixed terrestrial and marine) protected areas covering 6,165,653 ha (10% of the land surface)⁴² complemented by an additional 6,886,931 ha of priority sites for potential conservation, together totalling 24% of the national surface⁴³.

³⁸ Jones et al 2021

³⁹ Arrêté 4730 (Journal Officiel 2232, 30 November 1968) of the Ministry of Equipment and Communications

⁴⁰ Goodman et al 2018

⁴¹ 10% is now regarded as insufficient - recent evidence suggests 20-30% is needed e.g. Waldron et al 2020 and within reach (World Bank 2021b)

⁴² Goodman et al 2018

⁴³ Borrini-Feyerabend & Dudley 2005

 <u>Promise of Sydney (2016-2020)</u> – based on new international norms, Madagascar further increased terrestrial protected areas and increased marine protected areas (MPAs) by a factor of 5 times from 221,045 ha in 2016 to 1.38 million ha in 2020 (12% of the continental shelf).

In 1990, the national institution, Madagascar National Parks or MNP (then the *Association Nationale pour la Gestion des Aires Protégées*) was established to manage the expanding network, under the responsibility of the ministry responsible for environment and forests (today the Ministry for Environment and Sustainable Development or MEDD). Today, Madagascar's protected areas network stands at 123 protected areas (including 101 terrestrial and 22 marine) covering 7,712,364 ha, or about 11% of the land and shallow sea surface area (Fig 2).



Fig 2 – Madagascar's protected areas network in 2021 (Source: SAPM/ONE)

In 2004, a Madagascar biodiversity foundation (*Fondation des Aires Protégées et de la Biodiversité de Madagascar* or FAPBM) was established with an initial endowment of \$10 million to provide sustainable finance to Madagascar's protected areas network. The fund has since grown to \$88 million (FAPBM 2020) to finance the maintenance of protected areas. In accordance with the FAPBM's spending rule, the foundation has disbursed about \$2.5 to \$3.5 million annually towards the

⁴⁴ Données de SAPM de 2017

maintenance of Madagascar's protected areas totalling, or about \$0.50 per ha, representing about 5% of the average annual cost of \$6.06/ha (assuming a total annual SAPM cost of \$42,947,958) as was projected in 2015.^{45 46}

A significant but unquantified part of conservation investments has been dedicated to developing sustainable livelihoods and economic opportunities for local populations living locally within the landscapes in which the protected areas are located, capitalising on the higher rainfall, clean freshwater supplies, good soils, natural forest products, cultural benefits (spiritual, tourism, education), human well-being and infrastructure associated with protected areas.

Over the six years 2008-2013, Madagascar government spending on biodiversity (including natural resources management) was \$13.5-18 million, or about \$2.25-3.1 million annually⁴⁷. According to a more recent study for the period 2014-2018, government real expenditure on biodiversity ranged from about \$4-8 million/yr or about 0.25-0.5% of the annual government budget. Expenditure was well below budgetary provision (spending rate of only 12-20% of budget).⁴⁸ These government expenditures are low compared with some other high biodiversity countries such as Costa Rica, where annual government funding for biodiversity reaches \$250 million/year for a country of 51,000 km² (amounting to about \$50/ha/yr). Costa Rica's expenditure includes maintaining 160 protected areas, but also includes significant support for transforming the agricultural and other sectors to more sustainable practices with less impact on biodiversity.

From the early 1990s up to 2013, an estimated \$450-500 million of public international funds were invested in environmental action in Madagascar⁴⁹, or about \$20 million annually. The contribution of bilateral and private grant funding (which does not include public international funds) from 2005-2011 was estimated at \$220.57 m, or an average of \$36 million annually. Over the period 2000-2013, the Global Environment Facility (GEF) alone contributed \$30.666 million or about \$2.2 million annually⁵⁰. If expenditure to 2020 is included, including private funds, the total amount grows to an estimated \$900 million over 30 years (P Rajenarison pers comm) or an average of \$30 million annually, or 0.2% of 2019's GDP.

A review of expenditure on biodiversity conservation for the 5-year period 2014-2018 was recently undertaken by the UNDP/GEF BIOFIN project.⁵¹ The study considered funding from both international public, international private and national sources. Total international public funding in 2018 was \$35.65 million (2021 prices), including an average \$6.76 million/yr from GEF. To this can be added funding from NGOs and private foundations, amounting to \$16.1 million. When all sources are considered including government expenditure of about \$5-8 million/yr, the annual amount ranged from **\$51.8-59.9 million per annum** (2021 prices).

It has been observed that protected areas in Madagascar have not always succeeded in their twin objectives of conserving biodiversity and improving the economic development of local populations, precipitating a series of roundtables during 2020 coordinated by the MEDD to review experiences.⁵² Available evidence clearly shows that deforestation rates have been consistently lower in protected

⁵¹ BIOFIN 2021

⁴⁵ Agreco 2012

⁴⁶ In this study, we estimate the adequate management of protected areas at an average of \$10/ha/yr.

⁴⁷ CEPF 2014

⁴⁸ BIOFIN 2021

³⁶ World Bank 2013

⁵⁰ CEPF 2014

⁵² MEDD 2020

areas than in unprotected areas.^{53 54} However, declines in deforestation rates may take as much as a decade to stabilize⁵⁵ and require site-specific strategies which take time to develop.⁵⁶ Thus, deforestation nevertheless continues in many protected areas and the economic benefits from PAs to local populations have been limited⁵⁷. In some cases, economic impacts on local households may even be negative due to lost access to resources⁵⁸ and such impacts may persist in the long term⁵⁹. On the other hand, there is evidence of substantial positive economic impacts at popular sites and of a range of environmental benefits. There is also evidence that children's health and human well-being are better in communities living in landscapes with protected areas than in unprotected landscapes⁶⁰. Nonetheless, in the case of protected areas, as with economic sectors, the appropriate distribution of benefits will be fundamental to achieving the twin objectives of conservation and development.⁶¹

Purpose and Research questions

The main purpose of the present study was to conduct a review of the evidence for the economic contribution of Madagascar's protected areas network.

To this end, we aimed to answer the key following questions:

- What is the economic contribution of Madagascar's protected areas to the global, national and local economy?
- How do the economic benefits of Madagascar's protected areas compare with the costs of maintaining them?
- What other significant economic benefits of protected areas (global, national, local) should be recognised but which may not readily measurable?
- How are the economic benefits of Madagascar's protected areas distributed (internationally, nationally, regionally and locally)?
- What are the approximate levels of opportunity costs suffered by local communities as a result of the creation and maintenance of protected areas?
- How does the situation of Madagascar compare with other countries?
- Based on the findings, what key actions should be taken for the financing and coverage of Madagascar's PA network, and the capture and distribution of benefits?

METHODS

Methodological approach We began the study with two key **scoping and orientation** steps:

⁵³ Eklund et al 2016

⁵⁴ Waeber et al 2019

⁵⁵ Dumas et al 2021

⁵⁶ Rafanoharana et al 2021

⁵⁷ Sander & Zeller 2007; Rakotonarivo et al 2017

⁵⁸ Hockley et al 2018

⁵⁹ Poudyal et al 2018

⁶⁰ Rasolofoson et al 2018a & 2018b

⁶¹ Raharinirina 2009

- 1. Undertake a **general literature review** (including interviews, webinars and online research) of global trends and best practice in the economic valuation of biodiversity, ecosystem services and protected areas.
- 2. Identify the **data and information available from Madagascar** to inform an evaluation of the economic contributions, including costs and benefits, of Madagascar's protected areas globally, nationally and locally.

Based on the types of data and information identified (global, national, local), we adopted a six-tier evaluation approach comprising:

- 1. Initial scoping of the potential economic values of Madagascar's protected areas based on consideration of published ecosystem values to determine the appropriateness and feasibility of adopting a transferred value approach
- Estimate the global economic contributions of Madagascar's PAs to climate regulation, biodiversity conservation and other biodiversity-related benefits (ecotourism, access to genetic resources, scientific research and entertainment) (including the Madagascar government's own expenditure on biodiversity and PAs)
- 3. Estimate **the gross national economic contribution of terrestrial protected areas** to key economic sectors in Madagascar (including tourism, energy, agriculture, carbon storage and biodiversity conservation)
- 4. Estimate the **national economic contribution of marine protected areas** based on a combination of internationally published economic valuations of marine and coastal ecosystems, MPAs and the limited data available on MPAs in Madagascar
- 5. Estimate the **total national economic contributions of the protected areas network** by summating the national contributions of terrestrial and marine protected areas
- 6. Estimate the **local and <u>landscape-level economic contributions</u>** of protected areas based on available **case studies** of individual protected areas or landscapes

In addition we:

- Highlight the <u>less easily measurable but nevertheless important benefits</u> from Madagascar's protected areas which cannot readily be evaluated in monetary terms (human health & wellbeing, biodiversity conservation, research & education, entertainment through nature documentaries & films, spiritual and moral values)
- Conduct a review of the literature on the <u>opportunity costs of protected areas to local</u> <u>communities</u> as a basis for a high-level comparison of such costs with benefits
- Review the recent literature on the <u>costs of inaction</u> in relation to natural ecosystems and protected areas
- Review available data and publications on the <u>cost of maintaining terrestrial and marine</u> <u>protected areas</u> in order to generate a robust estimate of the average cost per hectare as a basis for a high-level comparison of management costs with economic benefits.

• <u>Review the experience of a small selection of other countries</u> to assist in understanding and interpreting the results from the present study and to highlight some of the options available to Madagascar.

Main data sources used for the evaluations

- Internationally published information from peer-reviewed sources on the social cost of carbon, economic losses resulting from the loss of biodiversity or protected areas, costs of biodiversity conservation, the costs of inaction, international tourists' willingness to pay for conservation, the value or coral reefs for tourism, the value and benefits of ecosystems and fisheries and on the opportunity costs of conservation for local communities.⁶²
- <u>Data on the surface area coverage of four major forest types</u> (humid eastern, dry western and southern dry forest and mangroves) were provided by the BNCCRED+ project (LOFM/BNCCREDD+, 2021)⁶³.
- <u>Shapefiles for Madagascar's protected area system</u> were obtained from the Directorate of Biodiversity and the Protected Areas System (DBSAPM) held and utilized by the Ministry for Environment and Sustainable Development (MEDD) (2017 version).
- <u>Data on hydro-electric power stations</u> were provided by the Office de Régulation de l'Electricité (ORE). Interviews with senior technical staff at JIRAMA and an earlier report commissioned by the World Bank⁶⁴ provided guidance on location of small hydro-units and a map used by Conservation International⁶⁵.
- <u>Data on land-use</u> including agricultural uses were obtained from a national land use map published by the National Environmental Office⁶⁶.
- <u>Data on protected area visitor numbers</u> were provided in excel format from Madagascar National Parks and are used with the kind permission of MNP⁶⁷. No centralized databases yet exist for visitor numbers to New Protected Areas (NAPs) within the SAPM system, few of which are on existing tourism circuits.
- <u>Data on tourism in Madagascar</u> were obtained from the Ministry of Tourism Transport and Meteorology (MTTM) official data and from a range of previous surveys and publictions⁶⁸.
- <u>Data on ecosystems within marine protected areas</u> were based upon a literature review of Madagascar's MPAs (including terrestrial PAs containing marine and intertidal ecosystems) and international datasets on marine and coastal ecosystems.

⁶² Notably from WWF 2020; Deutz et al 2020; CBD 2020; Mair et al 2021; Kramer et al 1995; Spalding et al 2017; Costanza et al 1997 & 2014; De Groot et al 2012; Golden et al 2011, 2012 & 2014; Barnes-Mauthé et al 2013; Brenier et al 2011; Naidoo et al 2019; Ouyang et al 2020; Herera et al 2017; Poudyal et al 2018; Rakotonarivo et al 2017; Rasolofoson et al 2018a & b; Desbureaux & Brimont 2015; Ferraro 2002; Hockley & Razafindralambo 2006; Hockley et al 2018; Shyamsundar & Kramer 1997; Zeng et al 2021.

⁶³ E-mail from BNCCREDD+ with data provided on 17 July 2021 (LOFM/BNCCREDD+, 2021))

⁶⁴ SHER Ingénieurs-Conseils s.a. & Mhylab 2014

⁶⁵ Neugarten et al 2015

⁶⁶ ONE 2015

⁶⁷ MNP 2020

⁶⁸ ONTM/PIC 2012; MTTM 2017-2020

• <u>Data used for the case studies</u> were taken primarily from socio-economic and market data collected by university researchers from the C3-EDM environmental economics department⁶⁹ or other sources referenced in the text.

Key variables in economic calculations

The economic calculations made use of data from different dates. We applied the following corrections:

- Standardizing all values to \$2021 USD All final US\$ values were corrected to standard \$2021 US dollars applying a GDP deflator to the original values for the year.
- Value of GDP For all calculations involving GDP, we used Madagascar's GDP for <u>2019</u> i.e. immediately pre-COVID, which was \$14,912,000,000⁷⁰.
- Exchange rate For converting MGA values to USD in the site case studies and reviews of biodiversity expenditure we used an average rate of \$1 = 3750 MGA.
- Discount rate in accordance with Madagascar Central Bank standard practice, where required, we adopted an annual discount rate of 10%.

Specific valuation methods

The study used a combination of economic valuation methods, including *value transfer* (adaptation of existing valuation information to new contexts where valuation data is absent or limited), *direct market pricing* (notably for provisioning services), *direct expenditure* (for biodiversity conservation and tourism) and *avoided cost methods* (for regulating ecosystem services). *Contingent valuation* (such as consumer willingness to pay) was used in relation to biodiversity conservation (where we considered international willingness to invest in Madagascar's biodiversity) and global tourism (where historic willingness-to-pay data were used to estimate the consumer benefits of international ecotourists visiting Madagascar's protected areas⁷¹).

Initial scoping of PA values based on internationally published ecosystem service values

A search was made of peer-reviewed literature on the economic values of ecosystem services from ecosystems present in Madagascar's protected areas, focusing on those using the most comprehensive data sets. We selected the two papers by Costanza et al (1997 & 2014) and an intervening paper by DeGroot et al (2012). Values were extracted for tropical humid forest, tropical forest (as the closest to dry forest), wetland, mangrove, coral reef and coastal marine ecosystems.

We compared these values using a transferred value study commissioned by WCS for the Makira-Masoala landscape in Madagascar in 2008, which used similar methods using selected international data sets.⁷²

Global economic contribution of Madagascar's protected areas

The *global* economic contribution of Madagascar's protected areas was estimated for five ecosystem services encompassing the three main categories of ES (regulatory (including supporting), provisioning and cultural):

<u>Climate regulation (regulatory)</u> – carbon storage by Madagascar's forests (humid, dry, spiny and mangroves) assuming a range of values for the social cost of carbon (SCC) based on large studies

⁶⁹ C3EDM 2020 a & b

⁷⁰ World Bank data

⁷¹ Kramer et al 1995

⁷² Masozera 2008

reporting a lower value of $$54^{73}$, a median value of \$171/tonne (for a study which included Madagascar)⁷⁴ and a maximum recent estimate of \$417/tCO2.⁷⁵

Key Assumption

The key assumption is that Madagascar will manage to conserve the forests within the existing network of protected areas.

Calculation

Global benefit in climate regulation = Annual emissions of CO2 avoided by the conservation of forests in Madagascar's PAs x the Social Cost of Carbon

Note: In case it is considered that more attention should be given to reforestation efforts, it is important to understand that natural forests are six times more effective at storing carbon than agroforestry projects, and 40 times more effective than tree plantations. This is due to the very high ancillary carbon content of natural forests, held within the very dense vegetation and underlying soil^{76.} Recent scientific research has confirmed that carbon storage, water provisioning, and especially soil erosion control and biodiversity benefits are all delivered better by native forests.⁷⁷

<u>Biodiversity conservation (provisioning)</u> – estimated as a range based on the most recent authoritative estimates of the cost of halting biodiversity loss⁷⁸ calculated as a percentage of that cost attributable to the protected areas of Madagascar based on its share of global biodiversity and the proportion of biodiversity finance needed on average for protected areas (20%).

Key assumptions:

The key assumption is that the global community would value the conservation of the biodiversity of Madagascar's protected areas to be at least the cost of preserving it and that such costs represent an international consensus on the world's willingness (if not confirmed ability) to pay for conservation of Madagascar's protected areas).⁷⁹

Specific assumptions included:

- that Madagascar harbours 3% of the world's biodiversity ⁸⁰that Madagascar represents 6% of the global species extinction risk⁸¹
- that Madagascar's PA network harbours 71% of Madagascar's KBAs (and therefore of its biodiversity, while protected areas would account for 20% of those costs (globally, PAs account for about 20% of actual and required biodiversity expenditure or an estimated \$149-192 billion annually globally⁸²).
- <u>Ecotourism (cultural)</u> the contribution of Madagascar's protected areas to the global ecotourism economy was estimated as a range by summating that part of expenditure on ecotourism visits to Madagascar made *outside* Madagascar's economy (as opposed to

⁷³ Wang et al 2019

⁷⁴ WWF 2020

⁷⁵ Ricke et al 2018

⁷⁶ Dasgupta 2021, Chapter 19

⁷⁷ Hua et al 2022

⁷⁸ Deutz et al 20202

⁷⁹ CBD 2020, Deutz et al 2020,

⁸⁰ 3% is conservative since some sources estimate that Madagascar harbours 5% of global species biodiversity

⁸¹ Mair 2019

⁸² Deutz et al 2020

expenditure captured within Madagascar), and the range of values reported in historic studies on tourists' willingness to pay over and above the direct cost of visits to protected areas (in effect representing the international ecotourists' consumer surplus)⁸³. To this we added reported ecotourism expenditure in marine protected areas (MPAs).

Key assumptions

The key assumption is that 68% of global total tourism expenditure for Madagascar (\$707 million) can be attributed to the protected areas network.

Further assumptions include:

- That consumer satisfaction of tourists visiting PAs would be similar or greater today than at the time of the study published in 1995 (park infrastructure and guiding have improved since that time).
- That coral reef-based tourism and whale shark watching in PAs are specific and recent and can be considered additional to the expenditure and satisfaction relating to terrestrial PAs.

Calculations

Economic contribution of Madagascar's PA network = % of global Madagascar tourism expenditure linked to PAs (68%) x global value of Madagascar tourism (\$707 million) + PA visitor satisfaction + tourism relating to MPAs.

 Biodiversity research (cultural) – the estimated contribution of Madagascar's protected areas to international biodiversity research was based on the average number of publications on Madagascar's biodiversity reported in a global data base on scientific publications⁸⁴, assuming that such studies relate to one or more protected areas and applying an estimated expenditure of \$10,000 per research publication.

Key assumptions

It was assumed that all published biodiversity research in Madagascar is related to one or more PAs. The estimated average cost of \$10,000 per publication assumed a \$2500 return flight for an international researcher, \$2500 for field missions in country and a nominal value of \$5000 for the time spent by all researchers involved in research and writing up.

Calculation

Global annual value of research of biodiversity in PAs = (Number of publications since 1990/30) x an average \$10,000 per publication.

Bioprospection and genetic resources (provisioning) – our estimate of the global benefit of bioprospection and the option value of genetic resources in Madagascar's protected areas is a range based on a global estimate made by the World Bank in 2010⁸⁵ (lower end) and an estimate commissioned by WCS in 2008 for the protected forests in the Makira-Masoala forest landscape (which together contain over 50% of Madagascar's species diversity)⁸⁶ (upper end) As corroboration, account was taken of the benefits derived from the production of anti-

⁸³ Kramer et al 1995

⁸⁴ Nature News 26 October 2021

⁸⁵ Ollivier & Giraud 2010

⁸⁶ Masozera 2008

cancer drugs from the Madagascar Rosy periwinkle, reported to be about \$100 million annually from a single species.

Key assumptions:

We assume that the estimations conducted by the World Bank in 2010 and WCS in 2008 are accurate. Given that a single species (rosy periwinkle) has generated \$100 million annually, a value of \$299 to \$809 million annually for all genetic resources in Madagascar's PAs appears credible.

National economic contribution of Madagascar's Protected Areas

Available data and publications were identified relating to the national economic contribution of protected areas to key economic sectors, including agriculture (water for irrigation), energy (hydropower), tourism (based on visitor numbers' data for 2019 and average tourist expenditures in published studies), carbon storage (adopting values used by the Madagascar REDD+ program) and biodiversity conservation (based on historic and recently documented international and government expenditures⁸⁷). In the light of the recognised health benefits of PAs in reducing diarrhoea in children,⁸⁸ a search was made for economic data on the public health effects of protected areas, such as comparing local expenditure on medicines for the treatment of intestinal illnesses within communities near to protected areas with those further away. However, available data was found insufficient to estimate the monetary value of the health benefits of PAs. Health benefits were therefore considered only in a qualitative manner.

A combination of direct economic and avoided-cost evaluations was used, combined with extrapolation to derive values for multiple protected areas of the same forest type (humid, dry forest, spiny forest, mangrove) and for all PAs across Madagascar. Direct economic valuation was used for agriculture, tourism, energy and carbon storage, complemented by data on avoided cost and contingent valuation (willingness to pay) in the cases of agriculture and energy. Where possible, we explored other valuation avenues in order to test or corroborate the principal values presented and whether they were likely to be conservative.

For sectors for which economic data are not available or which are not readily measurable using quantitative approaches, we provide a qualitative presentation of the benefits at the end of this section (e.g. for human health and well-being).

Specific methods and key assumptions by sector were as follows:

Agriculture

We explored the available evidence on the benefits of Madagascar's protected areas to agriculture through regulating services (such as reducing soil erosion or pollination) and provisioning services (such as the provision of water for irrigation). We found robust studies on the benefits of hydrological protection (the provision of clean water) and soil erosion control (including avoided costs of erosion and the willingness of farmers to pay for upland erosion control).

We found no studies applicable to Madagascar on the benefits of services such as pollination or on the distance over which protected areas exert beneficial effects on agriculture. As a consequence, we based our best estimates on an earlier World Bank publication for Madagascar⁸⁹ estimating the service values of a subset of 20 protected areas covering 1,102,949 ha, located upstream of at least 430,000

⁸⁷ BIOFIN 2021

⁸⁸ Rasolofoson et al 2018a and 2018b

⁸⁹ Carret & Loyer 2004

ha of irrigated fields and/or of 17 large towns consuming 8.4 million m3 of potable water, correcting for USD 2021 values.

Key assumptions: The key assumptions were those of Carret & Loyer 2004, namely:

- That each hectare of the protected area contributes equally to the services provided
- That all water provided to the irrigated area can be attributed to the protected area

Agricultural values were thus calculated by the formula:

Annual agricultural value = Irrigated area adjacent to PA in ha x rice production value/ha/yr

Energy (direct contribution & avoided costs methods)

The correlation between hydropower generation and PAs is explained by the role of forests in water regulation. This role can be direct – i.e. forests protect soils and promote infiltration to limit runoff. It can also be indirect – i.e. forest cover improves the water balance and physical properties of the soil.

The study used a georeferenced database maintained by ORE (*Office de Régulation de l'Electricité*) on hydro-electric resources in three categories: 1. <u>Existing</u> operating hydropower stations (totalling 160Mw); 2. Potential identified on-grid large-scale stations (total estimated potential 1500 Mw); 3. Areas suitable for off-grid micro hydro-electric schemes (total estimated potential 6000 Mw). For the purposes of the study <u>we considered the three existing installations (Andekaleka, Namorona, Ranomafana) and two planned dams (Sahofika, Volobe)</u> in catchments downstream of protected areas. Locations of the existing stations and their associated upstream watersheds were overlaid on the map of protected areas and instances of overlap identified.

According to the Volobe General Hydropower Company (CGHV), the entry into service of the Volobe hydroelectric power plant (120 MW) could be compromised due to the lack of water resources. The Ivondro River, which hosts the infrastructure, risks insufficient flow from its tributaries, the Onibe, Namandrahana and Ivoloina rivers, among others. The company recognizes and deplores the massive deforestation of the watershed, in addition to illegal mining.

For the Andekaleka hydroelectric power plant, Conservation International launched strong messages in 2017 on the urgency of restoring upstream forests and protecting watersheds around the Andekaleka dam. For JIRAMA, which manages this centre, the degradation of forests upstream of the hydroelectric dam has an influence on the level and cost of energy production. Forest degradation is cited as one of the main causes of power outages in the capital, especially in the dry season.

Economic assessment method of forest services for hydroelectric power generation

The method is to assess the cost of the degradation and the cost of replacement. The first represents JIRAMA's shortfalls due to production losses at the Andekaleka hydroelectric dam. The estimate of replacement costs provides an indication of the investments needed to partially address environmental degradation. In addition, JIRAMA has taken costly measures to meet the capital's electricity needs using thermal energy.

We corroborated the results obtained for Andekaleka with examples of two hydropower stations operated by the Italian conglomerate Tozzi Green for which certain limited data were available.⁹⁰

• Hydelec power station (Voloina commune, Maroantsetra) – fed by a sub-catchment of the Makira protected forest of 74,494 ha (capacity 2.5MW)

⁹⁰ Tozzi Green 2021

• Farahantsana power station (capacity 28 MW, for which an additional \$6,325,000 (€5.5 million) investment was required for the construction of a sediment removal facility for incoming water).

Andekaleka Dam: significant decline in hydropower generation capacity due to forest degradation

The Andekaleka Dam is a gravity-fed dam on the Vohitra River near Andekaleka in eastern Madagascar on the western side of the Ankeniheny-Zahamena Forest Corridor (CAZ), a 369,266 ha protected area created in 2015. The dam and power plant were originally installed in 1981 under funding by the World Bank at a cost of \$142.1 million with a total theoretical generating capacity of 112 MW (4 units of 28MW).

The Andekaleka hydroelectric dam provides electricity to Antananarivo, Moramanga and Andasibe. It is also linked to Toamasina's power grid providing energy access along an axis used for agro-industrial, mining and port activities. Overall, Andekaleka has contributed to a 30% increase in electricity access, including more than 60,000 new connections for households, the private sector and public services. Business competitiveness, industrialization, and the quality of life of urban and rural populations have all been enhanced by the project. In total, Andekaleka directly benefits more than 400,000 households and 2.5 million inhabitants, generating more than 1,000 direct jobs since its inception.

Over the past 20 years, JIRAMA has seen a significant decline in the Andekaleka dam's power generation capacity. Originally designed for over 100 MW, by 2011, annual production was estimated to have declined to 25 Mw (Portela et al 2012). Actual capacity has been reduced by 71 MW from 93 MW to just 22 MW or a loss of 78%, resulting in frequent outages.

One of the major causes of the decline in output is the degradation of forests upstream of the Andekaleka hydroelectric dam. Analysis of satellite images between 2005 and 2013 shows deforestation of 23,675 hectares in the watersheds upstream of the Andekaleka dam. Analysis of average water flows at the Vohitra Rogez station (near the Andekaleka dam) also showed a large annual decline from an average 76.4m3/s (1980 -1990) to 42.3 m3/s (1990 -2000). In addition, due to deforestation, plant debris clog the grids of the water drain valves to the plant, especially during the rainy season and cyclonic periods. Clearing of the water intake is done manually during shutdowns, adding to the risk of accidents for workers as well as reducing energy production and causing significant financial losses for JIRAMA.^{91 92}

The loss in capacity of 71 MW (93MW-22MW) results in a production loss of 19.170 million kWh/year, representing a shortfall of USD 2,057,900 per year. Assuming that 50% of this shortfall is the effect of deforestation of 23,675 hectares, **the value of hydrological protection is estimated at 43.5 USD/year for each hectare of forest.**

Key assumptions (production value method):

That all clean water feeding the hydroelectric dam could be attributed to the upstream protected areas.

Calculation: The economic contribution of the PA to power generation was thus estimated as:

PA Economic contribution to power generation (\$) = (Average annual production of station in kWh) x (On-grid Price of electricity per kWh in US\$

Key assumptions (avoided cost method):

⁹¹ General Directorate of Meteorology

⁹² Electricity Governance and Operations Improvement Project (PAGOSE), Environmental and Social Management Plan

- We assumed that only 50% of the lost production could be attributed to erosion from the deforested area upstream of the dam (and that 50% resulted from other factors such as management).
- We assumed that every hectare deforested contributed equally to the increased production cost, irrespective of its location in the upstream catchment.

Calculations: The contribution of one hectare of humid forest to the energy economic sector was thus estimated as:

Annual contribution of 1 hectare of forest = Increased annual production cost} / (area deforested since dam construction) x 50%

Tourism and ecotourism (direct contribution methods)

With an average growth of 10% per year from 2010 up until the start of the COVID pandemic, tourism had become one of the major activities of Madagascar's economy. Tourism is a 'buyer driven' market which responds rapidly to consumer preferences⁹³, such as the trend towards nature-based tourism. In 2013, the annual economic contribution of tourism was estimated at \$450-500 million⁹⁴. In 2019 it was one of the major sources of foreign exchange for the national economy, along with agricultural exports. Indeed, the statistics of the Ministry of Tourism put tourism revenues at⁹⁵ **US\$707 million in 2019**⁹⁶, **or about 5% of GDP** which is higher than that of other sectors such as energy (US\$302 million). Tourism has been at the heart of the national strategy for poverty reduction and biodiversity conservation and tourism development is a component of the Madagascar Emergence Initiative (IEM). While the tourism sector has been among the most severely hit by the COVID crisis, the uniqueness of Madagascar's nature-based tourism product should underpin recovery.

The ecotourism subsector is an important and growing segment of the tourism sector. Studies in the early 2000s indicated that 55% of all tourists came to Madagascar for ecotourism, of which protected areas provided the major attraction.⁹⁷ Based on a more recent survey in 2012⁹⁸, 68% of tourists come with an objective of visiting one or more protected areas. Fifteen protected areas (Table 2) received 2,917,939 or 99% of a total 2,951,871 park visits from 1992-2019. These top 15 sites are an important tourist attraction, thanks to their wealth of biodiversity and exceptional landscapes, but also to their accessibility, reputation and the development of associated infrastructure. With a total of 126 protected areas of all kinds of ecosystem and landscape, Madagascar's PA network offers considerable potential for ecotourism development in many regions of Madagascar.

Early studies of ecotourism in PAs

Early studies⁹⁹ on the creation of the Mantadia NP (26,787 ha) estimated tourism benefits based on *contingent* valuation (the willingness of tourists to pay) from \$1 million to 2.5 million per year (or \$37 to \$93/ha/year) based on a survey of visitors to the park in 1990. In the same study using direct contribution methods they estimated the annual tourism economic contribution of the small Special Reserve of Périnet (now Andasibe-Analamazaotra) of 865 ha at \$253,000/year (or \$292/usd/ha) underlining the significant economic contribution of small PAs with flagship species such as *Indri indri*.

⁹⁵ World Bank 2013

⁹³ Raharinirina 2009

⁹⁴ World Bank 2013

⁹⁶ MTTM 2020

⁹⁷ Carret & Loyer 2004

⁹⁸ FTHM Conseils 2012

⁹⁹ Kramer et al 1995

In the present study we used the most recent MNP park visitation data to estimate the contribution of protected areas to the tourism sector as a whole and to the ecotourism sub-sector.

Protected Area	Area ha*	Visits in 2019	Total visits 1992-2019
ISALO	81540	38642	624029
ANDASIBE-MANTADIA	16368	36193	591335
RANOMAFANA	40556	27338	424968
NOSY TANIKELY	341	51285	304956
MONT. D'AMBRE	30689	14844	275729
BEMARAHA	157574	21534	188090
ANKARANA	25354	9851	180159
ANKARAFANTSIKA	136673	4329	92961
MASOALA	223415	4188	55894
ANDRINGITRA	31477	2180	53194
ZOMBITSE-VOHIBASIA	35818	5456	36147
LOKOBE	848	7824	31571
MAROJEJY	55885	1200	22844
TSIMANAMPETS	201505	2171	21677
ANDOHAHELA	76140	396	14385
TOTAL	1113981	227431	2917939

Table 2 – The 15 Protected Areas of most importance for ecotourism (Source: MNP data)

* Surface areas quoted are for total surface area according to Goodman et al 2018

Key assumptions:

- The economic contribution of the protected areas network to the tourism sector as a whole corresponds to the percentage of tourists for whom visiting one or more protected areas is an objective of their stay (estimated at 68% of tourists in 2012)¹⁰⁰ multiplied by the total value of the tourism sector contribution to GDP.
- The specific contribution of protected areas to the ecotourism sector is the number of park visits multiplied by the average daily expenditure of a tourist for one day (the typical duration of a park visit).
- Based on available evidence, in-country tourist expenditure was assumed to be one third (33%) of total tourist expenditure.

Calculations:

The economic contribution to tourism of the protected areas network to the national economy as a whole was calculated as:

PA network contribution to tourism (\$) = % of visitors to Madagascar whose objective is to visit one or more protected area x the contribution of the tourism sector to GDP

<u>The specific economic contribution of the PA network for the ecotourism segment</u> – was calculated as:

¹⁰⁰ FTHM Conseils 2012

PA Economic contribution to ecotourism segment (\$/yr) = Number of visitors to top 15 PAs per year x Average daily in-country expenditure per tourist in US\$ x 33% (the average percentage of expenditure made in-country)

Carbon storage (direct valuation)

With the development of an international market for carbon credits, carbon storage has become a potentially economically important ecosystem service provided by PAs and is an integral part of the national REDD+ strategy. Recognising that forest carbon projects for individual protected areas may allow leakage (representing that part of deforestation which is merely displaced to another location rather than avoided), the Malagasy government has been moving towards 'jurisdictional' REDD+ schemes whereby emissions are managed at the level of forested landscapes, beginning with the Makira and Ankeniheny-Zahamena Corridor (CAZ) protected areas, rather than at the level of individual protected areas.^{101 102}

Key assumptions:

- That the price secured per tonne of carbon through Madagascar's REDD+ program will be sustained at \$5/tCO2eq
- The minimum national contribution of PAs to carbon credits will be provided by the Atiala-Antsinanana REDD+ scheme (covering 1,021,644 ha of forest within PAs)
- That all *forested* protected areas including mangroves could potentially contribute to revenue generation from avoided deforestation, representing a maximum attainable contribution.

Calculation: Using the SAPM data base on Protected Areas (2017 version with addition of new sites), the area and forest type (moist eastern, dry western, dry spiny, mangrove) were determined and an annual carbon storage value calculated using the formulas:

Minimum annual national contribution for carbon storage in US\$ = PA area in the Atiala-Antsinana landscape x tC/ha for humid forest x Carbon price in \$/t

Maximum annual national economic contribution for carbon storage in US\$ = PA Area ha x tC/ha for the relevant forest type x Carbon price in \$/t (summated for all forest types including mangrove)

Local economic contribution of protected areas

Interest of the local evaluation approach

A local approach to the economic valuation of protected areas is important to inform how costs and benefits of protected areas are distributed and what redistribution of costs and benefits may be needed to ensure that local communities do not bear an unfair share of the costs of conservation. Local economic evaluation is also useful as part of an integrated landscape approach which offers more opportunities for sustainable livelihood improvements, as is currently being undertaken by the PADAP project supported by the World Bank.¹⁰³

Specific sites evaluated

Literature research and enquiries through expert networks on past or existing studies identified a limited number of protected areas for which sufficient local data existed for a complete or partial evaluation of economic benefits from ecosystem services at the local or landscape level:

¹⁰¹ Jones et al in press

¹⁰² MEEF 2018

¹⁰³ World Bank 2017 – Annex 3

- Complexe de Mahavavy-Kinkony wetland & Ramsar site (CMK) for which data exist for the value of lacustrine (including fisheries) and forest products (charcoal)(provisioning services)¹⁰⁴
- Antrema Site Ecologique et Culturel (for which a fully detailed economic evaluation has been conducted of provisioning services (wood, fisheries and mangroves)¹⁰⁵
- Ankarafantsika National Park for which data exist on the benefit of soil-erosion control (regulating service)¹⁰⁶
- Ranomafana National Park for which data have been collected on soil erosion control (farmers' willingness to pay), hydropower generation and ecotourism¹⁰⁷
- Andasibe-Analamazaotra Special Reserve for which data on tourism visitation to the park, park fees and eco-shop sales allow an estimation of the specific economic contribution for ecotourism (cultural ecosystem services)^{108 109}
- *Makira Natural Park (southern parcel)* for which a contribution can be estimated based on the capacity of the Hydelec power station (2.5MW) which depends on clean water from the 74,494ha Makira forest sub-catchment to provide power to the town of Maroantsetra.

Site descriptions

Mahavavy-Kinkony Wetlands Complex

The Mahavavy-Kinkony Wetlands Complex (CMK) is a new protected area located in the northwestern part of Madagascar of about **302,400 ha,** including 77,900ha of dry dense forests, 18,200ha of mangroves, 17,500 ha of marine and coastal space, and 29,000ha of rivers and lakes of which 13,800 ha is represented by Lake Kinkony (Fig 3). The site is managed by the NGO Asity Madagascar, BirdLife International's partner for Madagascar.



Fig 3 – Map of the Mahavavy-Kinkony Wetlands complex (Source: <u>https://asity-madagascar.org/nos-sites/</u>)

¹⁰⁴ C3EDM 2018 unpublished data

¹⁰⁵ C3EDM 2018 unpublished data

¹⁰⁶ Rakotoratsimba et al 2020,

¹⁰⁷ MNP Annual Ecotourism Report 2019 ; Serpantié et al 2009

¹⁰⁸ MNP Annual Ecotourism Report 2019

¹⁰⁹ MNP Park Visitor data 1992-2019

The CMK plays an important role as a wetland in the northwestern part of Madagascar through several main ecosystems: forests, lakes and rivers and marine and coastal ecosystems (including mangroves).

The lake ecosystem consists mainly of Kinkony Lake. In addition, there are small seasonal and permanent lakes around Kinkony Lake which are variously connected to the main lake and local rivers.

The river ecosystem is dominated by the Mahavavy River, fed by tributaries from CMK watersheds. The river is connected to Lake Kinkony and small lakes in the vicinity. Other rivers and streams also originate in dry dense forests and flow directly into lakes or into estuaries.

The forest ecosystem is represented by the largest block of Tsiombikibo Classified Forest surrounded by fragments of degraded forest. Other smaller forest blocks are found around Kinkony Lake and in other parts of the site, especially on either side of the Mahavavy River. The forest plays a very important role in conserving soil at the watershed level and the physical-chemical balance of wetlands.

The Mahavavy Delta is the largest of the mangrove ecosystems north of the site and is located in the contact zone between fresh water of the Mahavavy River and salt water of marine origin. Another part of the mangrove lies to the west, along Marambitsy Bay, formed by contact between rivers from the Tsiombikibo Forest and the sea.

Antrema Bio-Cultural site

The Bio-cultural site of Antrema is located on the northwest coast of Madagascar between 15-42' – 15-50' S and 46-00' to 46-15' E (Fig 4). The site corresponds to the fokontany of Antrema of the rural commune of Katsepy, Mitsinjo District, in the Boeny Region. The site is located 12 km from Katsepy, bounded to the north and west by the Mozambique Channel and the Betsiboka estuary, to the east by the road leading to the Katsepy Lighthouse and to the south by the Mahavavy Delta. The protected area covers **20,620 ha**, including 1,000 ha of marine habitats, including mangroves, and 19,620 ha of terrestrial environment including continental wetlands.



CARTE D'OCCUPATION DES SOLS ANTREMA 2014

Fig 4 – Map of the Antrema Bio-cultural site (Source: Rakotoniaina et al. 2017)

Calculation of the economic value of ecosystem services at local or landscape level

To carry out the various calculations, we used primary data from research in 2018-2019 from IOGA (*Institut et Observatoire Géophysique d'Antananarivo*), DBEV (*Département Botanique et d'Ecologie Végétale*)) and C3EDM (*Centre d'Economie et d'Ethique pour l'Environnement et le Développement Madagascar*) as part of the COMPTABIO project of SEP2D (*Sud-Expert Plantes Développement Durable*). These data are composed of biophysical accounts of land use and water resources, as well as socio-economic data from field surveys.

For wooded areas, the value calculation is based on the use value of the forest and the ecosystem supply services of each ecosystem. Given the lack of data, only the direct use value could be assessed. For the forest, the economic benefits of forest conservation and management were assessed.

Within the CMK two sites are designated for the production of non-forest tree charcoal. The exploitation of non-forest trees for charcoal at these two sites is authorized by the protected area manager. Bemaratoly has a total area of 780ha producing 210m³/ha/yr, while Masiakakoho, with 1041 ha, produces 57.6 m³/ha/yr (on average 1 m³ of dry wood weighs 175-280kg).

Results are presented in the results section. Further details of the methodology are presented in the appendix.

Ankarafantsika National Park

Ankarafantsika National Park is one of Madagascar's largest dry forest protected areas located in the western part of the Boeny region (Fig 5). It has been at the heart of the news recently with acute problems of land clearing and fires linked to the illegal cultivation of maize and other activities.

Managed by Madagascar National Parks, this park covers an area of **136,513 hectares**.¹¹⁰ It contributes significantly to the representation of dry western forest biodiversity in Madagascar's network of parks and reserves and has recently been proposed as a World Heritage site. The park undoubtedly provides a number of important ecosystem services that contribute to the improvement and support of the lives of the local population. In this case study, we focused the ecosystem service of soil erosion protection provided by the western half of the park.¹¹¹



Fig 5 – Map of Ankarafantiska National Park showing its relationship to the Maravoay plain important for rice production (Source: LlandDev 2020).

¹¹⁰ MEEMF 2015

¹¹¹ http://www.parcs-madagascar.com/parcs/ankarafantsika.php

Despite the importance of erosion which is known to be particularly intense in the area, the extent of the forest allows regulation of the water supply of the watershed affecting one of Madagascar's largest rice granaries, the Marovoay plain (with more than 38,000ha of growing area) ¹¹². The western half of the Ankarafantsika park (which we approximated as 50% of the total park area) acts as a reservoir for water and for flow regulation, but also to protect upstream areas from erosion, thus ensuring supplies of clean water to the Maravoay plain.¹¹³

Erosion of the massif has negative impacts on rice production in the area by smothering potential rice fields and making them unsuitable for cultivation. The sedimentation results from adverse actions carried out by communities surrounding the national park, including setting fires to clear forest for agriculture or grazing and the unrelenting harvesting of wood fuel and timber.

A study carried out by the Laboratory for Applied Research (LRA) in forestry, development and environment (ESSA Agro) has shown that the loss of land encountered in the sub-watersheds leads to increased sedimentation of the Marovoay plain and thus a loss of rice production area¹¹⁴. We evaluated the erosion protection service provided by the western half of the Ankarafantsika National Park from the avoided loss that would be associated with better forest protection.

We considered two scenarios:

<u>Scenario 1:</u> a situation where Ankarafantsika National Park is better protected over a 30-year time horizon, with fully effective restriction on access to the National Park.

<u>Scenario 2</u>: a situation where access restrictions are not well respected over a 30-year period. In this scenario, no protective action is taken.

Results are presented in the results section. Further details of the methodology are presented in the Appendix.

Ranomafana National Park

Ranomafana National Park is classified as an IUCN Category II Protected Area (National Park) with an area of **40,556 ha** (Fig 6). It belongs to the Eastern Ecoregion and is composed of medium- and low-lying dense humid forest, marshland and bamboo forest. Since its establishment, Ranomafana National Park has had several positive effects not only on the local economy but also on the well-being of the surrounding populations.





Fig 6 – Map of the Ranomafana National Park and associated rice fields (Source: Serpentié et al 2009, p10).

¹¹² MEEMF 2015

¹¹³ Rakotoratsimba et al, 2020

114 LlanDev 2020

In the case of Ranomafana National Park, the available data allowed estimations to be made of the economic benefits from five ecosystem services:

- Ecotourism
- Hydropower
- Drinking water
- Carbon storage
- Watershed protection

Results are presented in the results section. Further details of the methods used are presented in the Appendix.

Andasibe-Mantadia National Park

Andasibe-Mantadia National Park is located in the Alaotra Mangoro Region, Moramanga District. With an area of 15,480 hectares, it is managed by Madagascar National Parks. The Analamazaotra reserve, at Andasibe and within the park, is Madagascar's prime ecotourism site, receiving over 36,000 visitors annually¹¹⁵ who come primarily to see and hear the indri (*Indri indri*), Madagascar's largest lemur. Available data allowed calculations of economic value for two ecosystem services:

- 1. Ecotourism
- 2. Carbon storage

¹¹⁵ MNP Park Visitor data 1992-2019

Results are presented in the results section. Further details of the methodology can be found in the appendix.

Makira Natural Park (southern parcel)

Makira Natural Park (371,000 ha) is located in the northeast of Madagascar, to the west of the Bay of Antongil, Makira connects in the north with the Masoala national park (210,000 ha) on the eastern side of the Bay, the whole creating a forested landscape of about 900,000 ha. The southern parcel of Makira (74,494 ha) provides a forest catchment for the commune of Voloina where the Hydelec power station is located. Knowing the capacity of the Hydelec plant (2.5MW), and assuming that it runs on average at 50% capacity and that 50% of the clean water it uses comes from the upstream Makira forest parcel, and a price of energy of \$0.75/kWh, we are able to estimate the forest value for energy production.

Value of parcel for energy = Value of energy generated in 1 year x 50% capacity x 50% of clean water from catchment

Marine protected Areas

Marine protected areas are relatively new in Madagascar and limited data are available on their economic values. A case study overview approach was taken combining an international literature review on MPA values and analysis of the limited available data for MPAs in Madagascar and generation of a first series of approximations of the economic contribution of Madagascar's MPAs based on fisheries and tourism (see case studies).

Key assumptions for MPAs:

- That the economic contribution of an MPA for fisheries is equal to the value of the fisheries yield from the site.
- That the economic contribution of an MPA for tourism is equal to the number of visits per year times the average tourist spend for one day at the relevant level (national and local)

Calculations:

We made three approximations of the economic contribution of MPAs:

- 1. The potential value using published values of the package of ecosystem services for marine ecosystems (transferred value);
- 2. the value based on numerous international studies of MPAs specifically;
- 3. the value based on actual data for fisheries and tourism in Madagascar MPAs.

For the purposes of the study we retained only value 3, since there was no clear evidence that internationally published values were applicable to the MPAs of Madagascar.

Results of the case study are presented in the results section. Details of valuation calculations can be found in the appendix.

Other benefits of protected areas

Within Madagascar, protected areas provide numerous socioeconomic benefits beyond those that can be readily valued in monetary terms. In particular, there is growing evidence that communities living

around protected areas enjoy better health, nutrition and well-being¹¹⁶ than communities living in deforested or degraded landscapes, mainly due to cleaner water, more productive agriculture and more diverse nutrition. In some cases, these benefits are reflected in lower rates of disease and improved child health.¹¹⁷

Madagascar's protected areas also help generate substantial economic activity in the areas of research, education and entertainment, such as through the production and broadcasting of documentary nature films and fictional films linked to Madagascar's wildlife (notably the *Madagascar* series of animations produced by Dreamworks).

Where possible, we have identified economic contributions associated with these benefits which are measurable in monetary terms and have included estimates in our principal value estimates. Where such estimates are possible but either give an incomplete picture of the benefit or are impossible to make based on available evidence or for other reasons, we review the wider evidence of the economic values of such benefits to allow a qualitative appreciation of their economic value.

Cost of managing protected areas

The actual and projected costs of the establishment and management of Madagascar's protected areas have been documented and estimated in several studies. In 2004, the recurrent costs of MNP for managing its network of 43 protected areas were estimated at \$3/ha¹¹⁸. In 2012 the costs of running the SAPM network were projected to reach \$42,947,958 annually by 2015, or about \$6.06/ha/yr¹¹⁹. The actual (2020) management costs of the MNP network of 43 PAs covering about 1.5 million ha are \$7 million annually (an average of \$5 per ha). Taking account of these and other studies, as well as analysis of FAPBM data¹²⁰, we estimate an average protected area management cost for Madagascar.

Opportunity costs of protected areas in Madagascar

The high opportunity cost of protected areas to local communities living in their periphery who are heavily dependent on natural resources for their livelihoods has often been identified as a barrier to effective biodiversity conservation¹²¹ and has been highlighted in multiple studies¹²², including in the first economic evaluation of Madagascar PAs, as being in the order of \$1.80 USD/ha/yr, rising to as much as \$5.85/ha/yr after 15 years.¹²³ In other studies, such costs have been estimated to be as much as \$300 to \$1400/yr per household close to protected areas¹²⁴ or about \$107/household/yr in the case of REDD+ projects¹²⁵ with a range between \$40-125/household/yr or 27-84% of household revenues¹²⁶. In the case of a proposed mangrove conservation project they were estimated at \$49.30/yr/inhabitant¹²⁷. We review the literature and examine the scope and scale of such opportunity costs and make recommendations on redistribution and other measures to compensate for such costs.

¹¹⁶ Rasolofoson et al 2017, 2018a & 2018b

¹¹⁷ Naidoo et al 2019

¹¹⁸ Carret & Loyer 2004

¹¹⁹ Agreco 2012

¹²⁰ FAPBM 2021

¹²¹ Balmford & Whitten 2003, Kremen et al 2000, Sander & Zeller 2007

¹²² Brimont 2014, Brimont & Bidaud 2014, Desbureaux & Brimont 2015, Ferraro 2002, Hockley et al 2018, Kramer et al 1997, Poudyal et al 2018, Rakotonarivo et al 2017, Shyamsundar & Kramer 1997

¹²³ Carret & Loyer 2004

¹²⁴ World Bank 2013

¹²⁵ Brimont 2014

¹²⁶ Cannon 2018

¹²⁷ Blue Ventures 2017

RESULTS

Literature review

General findings

Our review of the literature found that the approach and objectives of the present study are aligned with global trends and emerging best practice in valuing nature¹²⁸.

A key recent and globally authoritative publication is the Dasgupta Review on the economics of biodiversity¹²⁹. In line with key findings of the Dasgupta Review, it is appropriate to adopt a natural capital approach and to treat the protected areas of Madagascar and their biodiversity as a critical natural capital asset worthy of sound management.

According to the Dasgupta review, biodiversity *per se* should be considered as a *characteristic* of natural capital, which can influence the economic benefits it can generate. The Dasgupta review identifies the following *economic values* of biodiversity:

- 1. Human existence depends on maintenance of biodiversity
- 2. Biodiversity makes a significant contribution to human health
- 3. Biodiversity provides amenity/enjoyment value to local residents and tourists
- 4. Biodiversity provides a wide range of valuable goods and services
- 5. Biodiversity has an 'Existence Value' often keenly felt by people all over the globe
- 6. Nature also has an intrinsic value (including moral or spiritual worth)

The Dasgupta Review emphasizes that not all values of biodiversity are measurable in monetary terms, but that biodiversity is valuable nevertheless. Dasgupta also argues that it is fully justifiable to evaluate those values of biodiversity for which an economic benefit can be identified and estimated, while not neglecting non-quantifiable benefits such as the spiritual well-being enjoyed by local communities, park visitors or the existence value perceived by distant viewers of nature films made in Madagascar's protected areas.

The Dasgupta review also highlights that all conservation of biodiversity, such as a protected area, is a form of *investment* in the future since it aims to preserve and enhance natural capital for the benefit of future generations and is part of the *national inclusive wealth*.

Important principles from the natural capital economics literature

Our review of the literature highlighted a number of additional principles and insights of relevance to this paper. We highlight below a selection of the most important points to keep in mind, most of which are derived from the Dasgupta Review and from a review of the history of economics¹³⁰:

- Nature has real economic value, but money is merely a measure of value, not value itself
- Valuing a natural asset is not to monetise or commodify it, but to measure its *relative* value
- Measuring the relative values of nature helps us to manage it better
- It is acceptable to measure part of nature's value, while not forgetting the other values which are not financially measurable but have great social or cultural value
- It is very important to take account of future values of nature as well as present values
- Values of nature based purely on markets tend to ignore the values for *future generations*

¹²⁸ Dasgupta 2021, WEF 2020, Waldron et al 2019, TEEB 2010, WAVES 2016, Bradbury et al 2021

¹²⁹ Dasgupta 2021

¹³⁰ Kiashtainy 2017
- Valuing nature requires considering benefits at all levels local, national and international
- Economic values of nature are not precisely fixed and can be expressed as ranges
- Different natural assets including PAs provide different sets of benefits each PA is different
- The wealth of nations is built on natural and human capital, as well as on built capital
- Natural capital has particular importance for poverty reduction
- Before industrialisation, natural and human capital were a country's most valuable assets
- In the case of Madagascar, almost 50% of the nation's wealth is based on natural capital ¹³¹ (with natural renewable capital accounting for about 25-30% in 2018)¹³²
- The services of ecosystems from PAs are public goods and not private property
- The high value of multi-functional ecosystems is often ignored in favour of monofunctional systems, so placing an economic value on these systems is important
- Nations should build their economies on their comparative advantage, such as their unique nature if they have it
- Finally, it is usually worse economically to lose an irreplaceable natural asset than to forego the private gain from destroying it.¹³³

Landmark references

A full list of the 250+ literature references considered for this study is included in the bibliography. Where relevant they are cited in other parts of this paper. While all references cited are important in some way, we cite below in abbreviated form a selection of 'landmark' publications of the greatest significance for preparation of this review (full details of each citation can be found in the bibliography):

Bradbury et al 2021. The economic consequences of conserving or restoring sites for nature. Nature Sustainability.

Carret, J-C. & Loyer, D. 2004. Comment Financer Durablement les Aires Protégées à Madagascar ? Rapport de l'Analyse Économique. Paris, rance : AFD.

Costanza et al 1997. The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature. 387, 253-260.

Costanza et al 2014. Changes in the global value of ecosystem services. Global Environmental Change. 2014, May. 26: 152-158.

Dasgupta Review 2021. Independent Review on the Economics of Biodiversity. Final Report. London: HM Treasury, Government of the United Kingdom. February 2021.

De Groot et al 2012. Global estimates of the value of ecosystems and their services in monetary units. *Ecosystem Services* 1 2012 (50-61).

Deloitte Access Economics, 2013. At What Price? The Economic, Social and Icon Value of the Great Barrier Reef. Brisbane: Deloitte Access Economics.

Deutz et al, 2020. Financing Nature: Closing the Global Biodiversity Financing Gap. Paulson Institute, The Nature Conservancy, and the Cornell Atkinson Center for Sustainability.

Eklund et al., 2016. Contrasting spatial and temporal trends of protected area effectiveness in mitigating deforestation in Madagascar.

¹³¹ World Bank 2013; Ollivier & Giraud 2010

¹³² World Bank 2021b

¹³³ Bradbury et al 2021

Gibson et al. 2011. Primary forests are irreplaceable for sustaining tropical biodiversity. *Nature* 478: 378–381.

Herrera et al 2017. Upstream watershed condition predicts rural children's health across 35 developing countries. Nature Communications.

Jones et al. 2019. Last Chance for Madagascar's Biodiversity. Nature Sustainability.

Jones et al in press. Terrestrial conservation in Madagascar: past, present and future.

Kramer et al 1995. *Valuing Tropical Forests: Methodology and Case Study of Madagascar*. Washington, DC, USA: World Bank.

McKinnon et al 2015. Monitoring Natural Capital and Human Well-being in Madagascar. A national demonstration of indicators for sustainable development. Technical Report 2015. Conservation International.

Ministère de l'Environnement, Ecologie et des Forêts (MEEF) 2018. Stratégie Nationale REDD+ de Madagascar. Antana arivo : MEEF.

Naidoo et al. 2019. Evaluating the impacts of protected areas on human well-being across the developing world. Science Advances. 2019:5.

Neugarten et al 2016. Rapid assessment of ecosystem service co-benefits of biodiversity priority areas in Madagascar. PLOSOne 11(12).

Neugarten et al 2020. Trends in protected area representation of biodiversity and ecosystem services in five tropical countries. Ecosystem Services 42 (2020) 101078.

Ollivier T & Giraud PN 2010. Costs of Environmental Degradation and the Sustainability of Madagascar's Development Pathway. Antananarivo: World Bank.

Philipps, A (ed). 1998. Economic Values of Protected Areas. Guidelines for Protected Area Managers. World Commission on Protected Areas – Best Practice Protected Area Guidelines Series No. 2. Gland: IUCN.

Portela et al 2012. Assessing and Valuing Ecosystem Services in Ankeniheny-Zahamena Corridor (CAZ), Madagascar. A Demonstration Case Study for the WAVES Global Partnership. World Bank. 65 pages.

Raharinirina, **V**, **2009**. Valorisation économique de la biodiversité par les contrats de bioprospection et la filière huiles essentielles – la cas de Madagascar. PhD thesis.

Rakotonarivo et al 2017. Qualitative and quantitative evidence on the true local welfare costs of forest conservation in Madagascar: Are discrete choice experiments a valid ex ante tool?

Rasolofoson et al 2017. Impacts of community forest management on human economic well-being across Madagascar. Conservation Letters 10 (3), 346-353.

Shyamsundar & Kramer 1997. Biodiversity conservation – At what cost? A study of households in the vicinity of Madagascar's Mantadia National Park.

TEEB 2010. Integrating the ecological and economic dimensions in biodiversity and ecosystem service valuation. In: *The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity – Ecological and Economic Foundations*.

Vieilledent et al 2018a & b (addendum). Combining global tree cover loss with historical national forest cover maps to look at six decades of deforestation and forest fragmentation in Madagascar.

Waldron et al 2020. Protecting 30% of the planet for nature: costs, benefits and economic implications. Working paper analysing the economic implications in the draft post-2020 Global Biodiversity Framework.

Wendland et al 2010. Targeting and implementing payments for ecosystem services: Opportunities for bundling biodiversity conservation with carbon and water services in Madagascar.

World Bank 2013. Taking stock and moving forward. Madagascar Country Environmental Analysis. May 2013.

World Bank 2021b. The Economic Case for Nature. A global earth economy model to assess development policy pathways. Washington: World Bank.

Previous key research on Madagascar – a brief review

Early studies of the 1990s (**Kramer et al 1995**; Kramer et al 1997; Shyumsundar & Kramer 1997) on the economics of creating the Mantadia National Park first highlighted the very substantial benefits to visitors (tourists) compared with the relatively modest benefits to local populations in terms of flood protection, and the likely need for compensation payments to local communities closest to the park unable to benefit from the tourism economy.

The first evaluation of the economic costs and benefits of the entire protected areas network was made by **Carret & Loyer 2004** in which the authors estimated net benefits of the national PA network as it was in 2003 just before its expansion from 1.5 million to over 7 million ha following the Durban Initiative. The paper emphasises Madagascar's biodiversity as a global good whose value is manifested by international investments which have been made in conservation. The paper highlights the importance of protected areas for ecosystem services in hydrological protection (notably through sediment control, a regulating service) for agriculture and energy, for tourism and carbon storage while also noting that the opportunity costs of protected areas to local communities can be significant, amounting to \$1.8/ha/yr. Values reported for the selected ecosystem services considered (biodiversity conservation, ecotourism, hydrological protection) were estimated (in 2003 \$US) from **\$10/ha/yr rising to \$16.85 ha/yr**, which were only moderately above PA management costs (estimated at \$5/ha/yr at the time).

On the subject of bioprospection and products derived from biodiversity using a value-chain approach, **Raharinirina (2009)** made an important contribution to the evaluation and capture of the economic benefits of bioprospection and essential oils from forest plants and the effectiveness of benefit capture from these resources.

Of importance in confirming the effectiveness of protected areas, **Eklund et al (2016)** demonstrated that deforestation is reduced in protected areas in comparison to surrounding areas, while **Vieilledent et al (2018)** provide the most recent and comprehensive assessment of deforestation and fragmentation rates over the past 60 years.

Portela et al (2012) undertook an evaluation of the ecosystem services of the Ankeniheny-Zahamena Forest Corridor (CAZ) Protected Area as part of the **WAVES program** (Wealth Accounting for the Valuation of Ecosystem Services).¹³⁴ The study showed that the CAZ protected area provides valuable ecosystem services in carbon storage and sequestration (valued at \$306.4 to \$570.4 million in \$US2010 depending on carbon price) and water for energy (Andekaleka dam), mining, agriculture and tourism. The study highlighted the potential for carbon values to help finance protected areas.

¹³⁴ Portela et al 2012

Associated with WAVES is the UN System for Environmental Economic Accounting (UNSEEA) and particularly the methods for ecosystem accounting (EA) **(UN Statistical Commission, 2021).** The SEEA EA is based on five sets of accounts including ecosystem extent, ecosystem condition, ecosystem services (flow accounts, physical and monetary) and monetary ecosystem assets (stocks of ecosystem assets such as protected area networks).¹³⁵ SEEA EA takes a **spatial approach** to accounting as the benefits from ecosystems depend on their location, while the SEEA central framework looks at cross-cutting assets such as water or energy resources.

A key review was conducted by the **World Bank in 2013** which, building on Carret & Loyer (2004) provides an estimate of public investments to date (1990-2010) in conservation in Madagascar (\$400-500 million). The report states that natural capital represented 49% of the country's wealth. It also highlights tourism as important (\$500 million annually) and determines that tourism is primarily based on natural capital and protected areas. It does however highlight the high opportunity costs to local communities around protected areas (which can range from \$300-1400 per household).

Of particular significance for the present study has been the work of scientists associated with Conservation International (**McKinnon et al 2015, Neugarten 2015, Neugarten et al 2016, 2020**) which provided a first mapping of ecosystem services and natural capital in Madagascar (Fig 7). The 2020 paper (Neugarten et al 2020) demonstrates that Madagascar's protected areas were primarily conceived for biodiversity protection rather than ecosystem service provision but that with some adaptation and expansion to cover more of the designated 233 KBAs, could make greater contributions to ecosystem services and thus greater economic contributions as well as to biodiversity conservation. The40ubliccations come with very valuable spatial data sets on ecosystem services considered for the present study.



Fig 7 – A. Natural Capital (composite) (Source: Neugarten et al 2015 and B. KBAs and Protected Areas of Madagascar (Source: Neugarten et al 2016).

On the subject of the benefits of protected areas for human well-being, **Herera et al (2017)** and **Raolofoson et al (2018a&b)** have established evidence of benefits to human health, notably children's health, which are vitally important but for which it is difficult and questionable to assign monetary values.

On the cost side, **Rakotonarivo et al (2017)** have provided recent evidence of the opportunity costs of protected areas to local populations and the need to ensure that benefits from PAs are more fairly distributed, while **Ollivier & Giraud (2010)** estimate the high cost to future generations of losing protected areas.

Finally, with regard to expenditure on biodiversity conservation, the recent report of the UNDP-GEF **BIOFIN (2021)** project has been important in confirming the levels of finance for biodiversity conservation in Madagascar.

The WAVES programme in Madagascar

The Wealth Accounting and Valuation of Ecosystem Services (WAVES) global partnership operated a program in Madagascar from 2011 to 2016, for which a national steering committee was established. The program made active initial progress but suffered setbacks as a result of the political crisis of 2012-2013. WAVES Madagascar was relaunched in 2015 and ran until 2016. The main activities of WAVES in Madagascar were monitoring of macroeconomic indicators and development of natural capital accounts for water, forests, mines and tourism. WAVES also promoted the introduction of the new UN System of Environmental-Economic Accounting (SEEA). While not yet in place in Madagascar, some capacity development for SEEA has been achieved.

A key early study the comparison of natural capital values for mining, water and conservation in the CAZ corridor¹³⁶ highlighted the value of forest for water for power generation. A study was also undertaken on the potential for natural capital accounting in the fisheries sector which published a brief and draft report just before the crisis¹³⁷.

The WAVES final macroeconomic report of 2016 highlighted that the economy is strongly dependent on natural capital and that primary sectors (agriculture, fisheries, forestry) account for 25% of GDP. The local contribution of tourism from protected areas, focusing on park fees and ecoshop sales, was estimated at about \$28 million annually¹³⁸.

WAVES in 2016 estimated total national wealth at \$6500 per person, or about 20 times the GDP per person (then \$368 per capita per year) based on a national population of 24.4 million (INSTAT data 2016) or a total wealth of about \$160 billion. The proportion of wealth in natural capital, which in 2018 stood at about 25-30%¹³⁹, has steadily increased since 2005 as result of a decline in intangible (human) and produced capital, even though the value of natural capital has also declined due to loss of forests. Indeed, WAVES was able to show in 2014 that Madagascar is 'leaking' its natural capital, in part due to

¹³⁶ Portela et al 2012

¹³⁷ WAVES 2012 & 2013

¹³⁸ WAVES 2016

¹³⁹ World Bank 2021b

the exploitation of precious woods. The report highlights that human capital is very important for deriving sustainable benefits from natural capital, such as protected areas.

Orientations derived from the literature review

Based on the literature review, and exchanges with the scientific committee¹⁴⁰, our study adopted the following methodological orientations:

- Taking a Natural Capital approach to economic valuation of PAs
- Valuing ecosystem services using a spatial approach
- Estimating ecosystem service values per hectare as a basis for comparison¹⁴¹
- Not adopting transferred values for ecosystems as a basis for estimating the contributions of protected areas because of insufficient evidence for their applicability.
- As an alternative, using published economic data on climate regulation, biodiversity conservation, global tourism, scientific research and entertainment to estimate the global economic contribution of Madagascar's PAs
- Using real data collected in Madagascar to estimate the economic contributions at national scale to key development sectors for which data are available (energy, tourism, agriculture and carbon storage).
- Using specific case studies of PAs in landscapes in Madagascar for which data are available to measure the measurable economic benefits at local scale (direct benefits & avoided cost methods)
- Identifying and describing further significant benefits of protected areas and their biodiversity to emphasise that PAs provide many further benefits which are not readily measurable in monetary terms
- Reviewing and quantifying the evidence on the opportunity costs of protected areas to local populations
- Deriving an estimate for the average management cost per hectare for Madagascar's PAs as a basis for comparison with the economic benefits of protected areas
- Reviewing the experience of a selection of other countries
- Discussing the results, drawing conclusions and making recommendations

Initial scoping of potential PA values based on transferred value approach

The high-profile papers of Costanza and associates, the first of which was published in *Nature* in 1997¹⁴² documented the high economic value of the world's ecosystems and ecosystem services, amounting to many times global GDP and highlighting the massive contribution to global wealth made by natural ecosystems. Using data gathered from studies around the world in varying contexts they have shown that ecosystems can make very high economic contributions, especially where such ecosystems provide multiple services in the context of economically developed countries. Their research also shows that such ecosystems and their services are becoming more valuable as economies and the demand for services grows, and as the ecosystems and their services become in shorter supply, increasing their unit values and the willingness of users to pay. These trends also show that the degradation of ecosystems carries a particularly high opportunity cost for future generations.

In a first iteration of this paper, in line with an earlier example in Madagascar for the Makira-Masoala landscape conducted in 2008¹⁴³, we adopted a transferred value approach for the main terrestrial and

¹⁴⁰ See Acknowledgements section

¹⁴¹ As done in the first PA valuation study by Carret & Loyer 2004

¹⁴² Costanza et al 1997; DeGroot et al 2012; Costanza et al 2014

¹⁴³ Masozera 2008

coastal ecosystem types found in Madagascar (forests, rangelands, wetlands, mangroves, coral reefs etc.), taking values from the Costanza papers (Table 3) to generate a first set of estimates of the possible economic contribution of Madagascar's protected areas. However, it soon became apparent that most of the internationally reported values were much higher than the highest measurable economic values that could be demonstrated for Madagascar's ecosystems within the local, national or global economies. The disparity was especially great for the high value ecosystems such as wetlands, coral reefs and mangroves, where the differences were as much as two orders of magnitude.

Based on further consideration of the format, provenance and assumptions behind the data found in the Costanza papers, reinforced by the comments of our scientific committee, it became apparent that we lacked sufficient evidentiary basis to transfer the internationally published values to ecosystem services in the Madagascar context.

Nevertheless, the multi-service valuation approach adopted by Costanza and others has been very valuable in highlighting that ecosystem values can be very high in certain contexts, and that they become *more valuable with time* (principles that are fully applicable in the Madagascar context and which are demonstrated by the evidence presented). Thus, while the values are undoubtedly higher than those currently perceived or likely to be perceived in the foreseeable future, they testify to the potential for high values in the future.

In an alternative approach, we chose instead to present the measurable economic contributions of protected areas at three different economic *levels* – global, national and local – thus capturing some of the real differences that exist in the economic value of ecosystems and biodiversity according to development context (global vs. national; national vs. local) while offering a clear basis for the government of Madagascar to formulate its policies on protected areas in response to measurable costs and benefits at these three different levels.

Ecosystem	Value \$/ha/yr in 1995 (Int\$US of 2007)	Value \$/ha/yr in 2011 (Int\$US of 2007)
ALL		
Terrestrial (all combined)	1109	4901
Coastal marine (all combined)	5593	8944
TERRESTRIAL		
Forest (all types)	1338	3800
Tropical forest	2769	5382
Grass/rangelands	321	4166
Wetlands (inland)	20404	140174
Lakes / rivers	11727	12512
MARINE		
Shelf seas	2222	2222
Coral reefs	8384	352249
Mangroves	13786	193843
Seagrass beds	26226	28916

Table 3 – Global ES values by ecosystem as reported by Constanza et al (1997 and 2014) & DeGroot et al (2012)

As a record of the of the scoping exercise, we present the initial valuations based on the transferred value approach in Annex 1.

Global economic benefits of Madagascar's protected areas

The principal global economic contributions of Madagascar's protected areas network are climate regulation, biodiversity conservation and contributions associated with the international existence value of Madagascar's biodiversity, keenly felt around the globe¹⁴⁴, which drives ecotourism, scientific research, natural history films and media productions which celebrate Madagascar's biodiversity.

To the above global benefits can now be added the growing interest of international financial institutions in reducing their exposure to biodiversity-related risks, since investments in conservation in Madagascar offer especially high returns in biodiversity extinction risk reduction due to the very large number of threatened species in Madagascar's protected areas network. While Madagascar harbours about 3% of global biodiversity, it represents about 6% of global extinction risk, making it particularly attractive to investors wishing to maximise their contribution to reducing global extinction risk¹⁴⁵ Financial flows driven by this new need have yet to be measured but could become substantial quite rapidly.

Global climate regulation benefits

Based on the methodology described, we estimate the global value of Madagascar's protected areas network for climate regulation to be in the range **\$5,78 to \$6.32 billion/year**. This equates to a value of \$759-831/ha/yr across the entire protected areas network, with the major share from terrestrial forests (\$5.9 bn), especially humid forests, and a lesser contribution from mangroves (\$312 million/yr).

These estimates depend strongly on the value selected for the *social cost of carbon* (SCC), for which we adopted a range of values (minimum $$54/t^{146}$, median $$171/tCO2^{147}$, maximum $$417^{148}$).. Recent large studies estimate the social cost of carbon as high as \$417/tCO2 or as low as 54/tCO2 The social cost of carbon (SCC) is the <u>marginal cost</u> of the impacts caused by emitting one extra tonne of greenhouse gas (<u>carbon dioxide equivalent</u>) at any point in time, inclusive of 'non-market' impacts on the environment and human health. The latest studies calculate costs of more than $$3000/tCO_2$.¹⁴⁹

The estimate is also based on the key assumption that Madagascar will be successful in preventing deforestation in its protected areas. On average, deforestation rates are lower in protected areas than unprotected areas, but certain protected areas (notably the dry forests of Ankarafantsika and Menabe-Antimena) are failing. The global benefit, if claimed, must be backed up by effective conservation action.

Global biodiversity conservation benefits

Based on the methodology described, we estimate the global economic benefit of Madagascar's protected areas to biodiversity <u>conservation</u> at **\$572-660 million/yr**, based on the assumed willingness to pay of the international community towards the protected area component of biodiversity conservation in Madagascar as a 20% proportion of *actual* global biodiversity expenditure (which is \$124-143 bn/yr) and assuming Madagascar's biodiversity represents 3% of world biodiversity of which 71% is found within Madagascar's PAs. This may be considered conservative, since it considers only the actual global expenditure on biodiversity conservation (\$124-143 bn/yr) rather than the estimated global need for all biodiversity in protected areas (149-192 billion or 20% of the total need).

- ¹⁴⁵ Mair et al 2021
- ¹⁴⁶ Wang et al 2019
- ¹⁴⁷ WWF 2020
- ¹⁴⁸ Ricke et al 2018

¹⁴⁴ Dasgupta 2021

¹⁴⁹ Kikstra et al 2021

In addition, Madagascar's contribution to the maintenance of global genetic resources held within protected areas is estimated at **\$299-809 million** annually.

Taken together, the value of Madagascar's contribution to global biodiversity conservation, including genetic resources, is estimated at **\$872 million to \$1.47 billion annually**, or an average rate of **\$115-193/ha/yr** across the entire PA network. This may be considered conservative as it does not account for the particularly high value of biodiversity conservation in Madagascar in terms of **extinction risk reduction**.

As highlighted in a recent paper on spatially measuring rates of species' extinction¹⁵⁰, Madagascar as a whole has the potential to contribute 6.0% of the global species extinction risk reduction for birds, mammals and amphibians. This is the fourth highest country total, after Indonesia, Colombia and Mexico. It has been determined that the Key Biodiversity Areas of Madagascar contribute over 50% of the STAR¹⁵¹ total for the country¹⁵² and that 71% of KBAs are represented within the SAPM network¹⁵³. Thus, the contribution of Madagascar's protected areas to extinction risk reduction could be valued at as much as double the above values, or **\$1.74-2.94 billion annually**.

Global economic benefits linked to existence value of Madagascar's biodiversity

In addition to the benefits to global biodiversity conservation, and the maintenance of the diversity of genetic resources, Madagascar's PA network makes economic contributions to global ecotourism, scientific research and entertainment which derive from the high cultural and existence value that the global community places on Madagascar's unique biodiversity.

We estimate that the value of the global economic contribution of Madagascar's PA network to cultural values of biodiversity (from ecotourism, research, natural history films and media productions) as **\$623** million to **\$633** million annually, or an average rate of \$82 to \$83US/ha/yr. This may be considered conservative, as it includes only the 15 most visited PAs managed by MNP, natural history films only of the BBC and a single international media production based on Madagascar (*Madagascar* by Dreamworks). In particular, it ignores the value of Madagascar's biodiversity in PAs to millions of viewers of nature films on Madagascar around the world.

Ecotourism

We estimate the specific contribution of Madagascar's PA network to global ecotourism at **\$533-543 million/yr**, highlighting the high average value of the top 15 PAs for tourism (\$397-405/ha/yr). Most of the value comes from terrestrial PAs, with MPAs (including Nosy Tanikely) accounting for about \$10 million annually, or about 2.5% (based on limited available data for MPAs). The consumer surplus of global tourists is significant, estimated at \$16 million, based on an average satisfaction per PA visit of \$65 based on research published in 1995¹⁵⁴.

This estimate of global ecotourism benefit can be considered conservative as it does not include any new protected areas (NPAs), because marine protected areas (MPAs) are under-represented and because consumer satisfaction levels for visits to Madagascar's PAs are likely to have increased since 1995, with the improved quality of infrastructure and park guiding services.

¹⁵⁰ Mair et al 2021

¹⁵¹ Species Threat Abatement and Restoration indicator

¹⁵² Mair et al 2021

¹⁵³ Neugarten et al 2020

¹⁵⁴ Kramer et al 1995

Scientific research

We estimate that scientific research based on biodiversity in Madagascar's protected areas generates about **\$8.34 million annually**. This estimate is based on a search of a new international scientific data base which found 25,866 publications including the words 'Madagascar' and 'biodiversity' from 1990 up to November 2021, and assumes an average investment of \$10,000 for each published paper. It is likely to underestimate research value since it does not consider research grants awarded (which can run into hundreds of thousands of dollars), and because a typical published paper will require many months of skilled work, from field phase to eventual publication, often involving several national and international scientists, their travel expenses and equipment costs.

Natural history films

We estimate that the making of natural history films in Madagascar involves **international expenditures of \$412,500 annually**, assuming an average film production cost of \$250,000 and 1.65 films per year. This is conservative since it includes only films made by the BBC Natural History film Unit or groups associated with BBC productions which use the BBC Natural History Film Unit. It also only includes expenditures, and none of the *revenues* generated by the broadcasting and distribution of the films (which are difficult to quantify), or the *enjoyment* experienced by the many millions of people who watch nature films about Madagascar every year.

Media productions

We estimate that the making of media productions inspired by the biodiversity in Madagascar's PA network generates **at least \$88 million annually**, based on the single series of *Madagascar* animations made by Dreamworks. The *Madagascar* series of animations alone has generated \$2.26 billion in revenues over 15 years for a production cost of \$502 million (of which we assumed 71% could be related to Madagascar's PA network). While it might be argued that biodiversity accounts for a lesser percentage of the inspiration for the film, the estimate is likely to be conservative overall because of the many productions not considered which take inspiration from Madagascar's biodiversity.

Total global economic benefits provided by Madagascar PA network

Based on the values placed internationally on biodiversity conservation and climate regulation (carbon storage), together with economic benefits of Madagascar's protected areas to the global economy through cultural services, we estimate the global economic benefit generated by Madagascar's protected area network to lie in the range **\$3.67 billion to \$17.27 billion per year (median value \$7.74 billion)** (US\$483-2269/ha/yr across the PA network, with median value of \$1017/ha/yr). This represents the currently *measurable* global economic contribution of Madagascar's protected area network. This is based on several assumptions as explained in the method section including the key overall assumption that Madagascar's PA network is effectively conserved. It can otherwise be considered conservative in that it does not include the non-measurable benefits or all measurable benefits.

National economic contribution of Protected Areas to key development sectors

The national economic valuation of Madagascar's protected areas based on real data was first attempted by Carret & Loyer (2004) who considered exclusively values derived from studies within Madagascar and of the 41 protected areas existing at the time covering just 1.5 million hectares (3% of the land surface).

Here we take a similar approach but based on more comprehensive and recent data, taking account of the expansion of the PA system and of the ecosystem service values for energy and carbon storage for which data were not available to the 2004 study. We also consider inward finance for climate

mitigation and biodiversity conservation which are quantified for the first time. The evaluation of the *national* economic contribution of PAs to key sectors may be considered central to the present study, as providing the closest estimate we can to the measurable economic contribution of protected areas to Madagascar's economy in monetary terms from which Madagascar is already fully benefiting. This valuation approach should be considered conservative_because data were available only for a subset of the full range of ecosystem services provided by PAs (energy, tourism, agriculture and environment (carbon storage and biodiversity conservation). With the exception of carbon storage, it considers only a subset of Madagascar protected areas. Marine protected areas, which provide economic benefits from tourism and fisheries, are treated separately.

Results by sector

Environment (climate regulation and biodiversity conservation)

Before we consider specific development sectors (tourism, energy, agriculture, water and fisheries), it is important to appreciate that the Malagasy national economy already benefits from international investments in climate regulation and biodiversity conservation which bring money into the environmental sector of the Malagasy economy, providing many jobs and livelihoods.

Climate regulation

Carbon emissions cause environmental and social economic damages. Carbon storage and sequestration are thus global environmental benefits of Madagascar's protected areas and other forests. These are the benefits delivered by Madagascar to the world through the protection of forests. Part of this benefit is recaptured by Madagascar through the beneficial effect of global emissions on its own climate, and through the receipt of international finance through the REDD+ and other programmes.

The economic value of tropical forests for carbon storage is important because such forests have a strong capacity to accumulate carbon thus contributing to climate stabilization and avoidance of the very high costs of climate change. Internationally, these ecosystems have been valued at as much as \$5382/ha/yr,¹⁵⁵ of which a significant portion (\$2044/ha/yr) represents climate regulation, and of which carbon storage is an important part.¹⁵⁶ In Madagascar, WAVES studies have estimated the potential value of CAZ forests for carbon storage at \$15.88 million or \$2708 per hectare, assuming a carbon price of \$43/t, \$3.6 million (\$601/ha/yr) if taking the applicable EU rate of \$9.75/tC¹⁵⁷ (or just \$1.85 million assuming a carbon price of \$5/t).

Based on a conservative carbon price of \$5/t as used by the national REDD+ programme, we estimate the actual economic contribution of protected areas for carbon storage at **\$21.65 to 29.05 million per year** (or \$6.39 to 8.57/ha/yr for all *forest* PAs and mangrove areas). This is conservative because it considers only the carbon credit sales and the project budget for the Atiala-Antsinanana forested landscape REDD+ scheme. It does not include the additional potential benefits from other protected humid forests, or any of the dry forests or mangroves within PAs. Benefit capture in this area can certainly be increased.

Carbon pricing°

The value of carbon storage and sequestration depends strongly on the value assumed for the 'social cost of carbon' emitted. The recent global outlook study by WWF¹⁵⁸ has shown that the global benefit of a conservation scenario in which protected forests store and sequester carbon, has been estimated

¹⁵⁵ Costanza et al 2017

¹⁵⁶ de Groot et al 2012

¹⁵⁷ Portela et al 2012

¹⁵⁸ WWF 2020

to rise to 5.2% of global GDP by 2050 (based on the difference between business-as-usual scenario and a global conservation scenario. For their study, WWF assumed a social cost of carbon (SCC) of \$171 per tonne, being the mid value of a range published in 2008¹⁵⁹ which can be compared with lower and upper estimated values of \$54¹⁶⁰ and \$417/tCO2¹⁶¹ The US government currently adopts as value \$51/tCO2eq for SCC, projected to increase to \$85 by 2050 (Table 4).¹⁶² In 2017, the High-Level Commission on Carbon Prices estimated that the carbon price needed to be \$50-100/t by 2030 to meet the Paris Agreement target of keeping warming below 2°C,¹⁶³ while the UN Global Compact calls on companies to adopt a minimum price of \$100 per metric tonne.¹⁶⁴

To estimate the carbon storage value of PAs (and other protected ecosystems) which it seeks to recover through international finance, Madagascar uses the cost reduction method. Under its national REDD+ strategy, the country aims to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from the forest sector by 14% by 2030, through control of deforestation and forest degradation in PAs and increased national forest cover.

The quantities of carbon used in this study are taken from the national document "Forest Reference Emissions Level" (NERF), developed by the National Office of REDD+ Coordination submitted to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCC). NERF follows the rules and methods recommended by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC))¹⁶⁵. It is based on the earnings and loss approach, i.e. an estimate of the net balance of additions and absorptions from a carbon stock¹⁶⁶.

Organisation/Country	Year	Carbon price (\$/tCO2)	Remark	
United States	2021	51	US government carbon price under	
			Biden administration	
High Level Commission on	2017	50-100	Required carbon price by 2030 to	
Carbon Prices			achieve Paris Agreement <2°C rise	
European Union Emissions	2021	69	Prices increasing rapidly at time of	
Trading System			publication	
UN Global Compact	2022	100	UN call on companies to set as price	
Sweden	2021	137	Swedish carbon tax \$137 per ton ¹⁶⁷	
OECD Effective Carbon rates ¹⁶⁸	2021	125-147	Rate of \$147/t required by 2030	
Nature Climate Change ¹⁶⁹	2018	417 (range 177-805)	Country level social cost of carbon	

Table 4 – Values for the Social Cost of Carbon (SCC) (various sources)

The NERF developed from data from the historical reference period from 2005 to 2013 – the most recent and comprehensive data on carbon stock by ecoregion (wet forest, dry forest, spiny forest, mangrove) (Table 5).

¹⁶⁸ OECD 2021

¹⁵⁹ Tol 2008

¹⁶⁰ Wang et al 2019

¹⁶¹ Ricke et al 2018

¹⁶² Scientific American 2021a

¹⁶³ High Level Commission on Carbon Prices, 2017

¹⁶⁴ UN Global Compact 2022.

¹⁶⁵ Reference emission levels of Madagascar's forests for reducing emissions from deforestation, National Office of Coordination REDD, Ministry of Environment, Ecology, Sea and Forestry, June 2018

¹⁶⁶ IPCC, 2006 Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories (Volume 4, section 2.2).

¹⁶⁷ The Tax Foundation, 2021

¹⁶⁹ Ricke et al 2018

LAND USE CLASSIFICATION (NERF)	CARBON STOCKS [TCO2/HA]	CONFIDENCE LIMITS AT 90% [TCO2/HA]	CONFIDENCE LIMITS AT 90% [%]
Rain forest	567.13	71.53	12.61%
Dry forest	151.35	21.83	14.42%
Spiny forests	48.63	6.91	14.22%
Mangrove	290.09	63.31	21.82%
Non-forest in humid forest ecoregions	45.27	8.07	17.83%
Non-forest in dry forest ecoregions	6.73	1.54	22.81%
Non-forest in spiny forest ecoregions	6.73	1.54	22.81%
Non-forest in mangroves ecoregion	76.27	41.31	54.16%

Table 5 – Carbon stock by ecoregion (Source: NERF)

Assumptions

To assess the economic value of carbon that could be recovered by Madagascar, two conservative assumptions were adopted:

- Update forest loss using average deforestation rates: 0.4% for the humid forest ecoregion; 1.7% for the dry forest ecoregion; 1.4% for spiny forests¹⁷⁰. This is conservative, since the actual rates are likely to be higher than this.
- The carbon sale price used in this study is \$5/tCO2, which is the price negotiated with the World Bank under Atiala Atsinanana's Emissions Reduction Program. This is a highly conservative but prudent assumption because the forecast carbon price according to the various international studies ranges from a minimum of \$US20/tCO2 to \$US75/tCO2. To meet the challenge of climate change, i.e. limiting global warming to 2 degrees Celsius in 2050 compared to 1990, the International Monetary Fund has estimated a necessary price of \$US75/tCO2¹⁷¹

Economic value of carbon storage

The study shows that without protection, deforestation on PAs would result in the emission of 12.798 million tonnes of CO2 annually. The net present value of carbon dioxide emissions that could be avoided by proper PA management between 2015 and 2045 are estimated at approximately \$61.797 million out of 5.7 million hectares of terrestrial protected areas, or an average **of \$10.84/ha** (Table 6).

Table 6 – Estimated emissions reductions and revenues from Madagascar's PA network (various sources)

¹⁷⁰ National REDD Strategy, adopted by Decree No. 2018/500 of May 30, 2018

¹⁷¹ Gaspar et al 2019

Emissions & REL						
Stratum			Annual emissions		Revenu	Revenu
Stratum	Carbon stock changes	non-co2 emissions	[tCO2/year]	Surface SAPM	[USD/ha/year]	[USD/ha/year]
Déforestation Foret	6 365 060	452 552	6 719 631			
Humide (D _{FH})	6 263 069	400 002	0 / 10 021	4 605 358,52	33 593 105,69	7,29
Déforestation Forêt	E 110 922	220 ///1	E 249 274			
Séche (D _{FS})	5 119 655	220 441	5 546 274	2 938 675,08	26 741 370,45	9,10
Déforestation Forêt	641 780	27.72	670 162			
Épineuse (D _{FE})	641 789	5/ 5/ 5	079 102	121 357,34	1 358 324,96	11,19
Déforestation Mangoves	F0 117	0	F2 117			
(D _M)	52 117	0	52 117	995 311,18	104 234,09	0,10
	12 078 808	719 367	12 798 175	8 660 702,12	61 797 035,19	7,14

Values for carbon storage per unit area vary according to the ecoregion. The PAs of spiny forests generate the highest income of USD 11.19/ha/year due to current high prevailing rates of deforestation which are reduced in protected areas. But in terms of total economic contribution, it is the rain forests, whose remaining area is larger, which generate a global value of \$33.593 million per year for carbon storage.

Benefits of Protected Areas from carbon storage

Governments can invest in adapting to climate change, renewable energy and other technologies which reduce carbon emissions for energy efficiency.

As a reference, under the Atiala Atsinanana Emissions Reduction Programme, which covers a total forested landscape area of 6,235,720 hectares, the total budget over five years is US\$158.71 million (more than 600 billion Ariary). Carbon revenues will be prioritized for sustainable development and the continuation of the current program and projects in the 69 municipalities that support several key activities: (i) infrastructure investments in water management and rural engineering; (ii) investments in agriculture, agroforestry, forestry and improved livestock productivity; (iii) investments in the development of sustainable value chains; and (iv) investments in the management and restoration of PA edges.¹⁷²

Use of carbon storage benefits in the government's PADAP project

The PADAP project is designed to deliver a range of benefits to rural stakeholders within the project landscape covering 1,138,334 ha (Table 7).

Total landscape area (ha)	1,138,334
Number of communes benefiting	58
Number of communes provided with a lands title office	11
Number of households benefiting	69,200
Roads (km) added or improved	538.92
Hydrographic network added (km)	313.24
Agriculture	
Average rice yield (t/ha)	2.3
Livestock production (heads)	
Herders	15,500
Cattle	318,312
Sheep/goats	3,993
Irrigated area (ha) increase	43,626

Table 7 -	– Projected	impacts	of PADAP ¹⁷³
-----------	-------------	---------	-------------------------

 $^{^{172}}$ At the rate of 01.02.21 of \$1USD - 3950 MGA)

¹⁷³ World Bank 2017

In addition, the benefits of carbon storage can also be used to reduce poverty and household vulnerability. In the PADAP document¹⁷⁴, whose final beneficiaries are 15,500 herders and 69,200 farmers, these investments could help households earn an additional daily income of between US\$1.5 and US\$2.10 (or an annual benefit of about US\$28-39 million assuming 87,400 households and a 220-day working year). Given an average household size of 5 people and a poverty line of US\$1.92 per capita per day, the project's interventions thus reduce household vulnerability. ¹⁷⁵

The economic analysis is based on the aggregation of economic benefits from: (i) improving crop productivity; (ii) reducing siltation in irrigated perimeters, which could result in incremental net benefits of more than US\$435,000 over 20 years; and (iii) benefits related to the project's net carbon balance, which is valued at a social cost of carbon of US\$30/tCO2e and could result in a value to society of US\$10 million per year.

The economic analysis spanning 20 years which assumes a discount rate of 6 percent results in an Economic Net Present Value (ENPV) of incremental net benefits of US\$207 million and an EIRR (Economic Internal Rate of Return) of 26.6 percent. Sensitivity analysis demonstrates that the results are largely robust against changes to key variables. Changes in environmental benefits have the largest impact on the EIRR. However, for all changes, the project's EIRR is well above the deposit interest rate which was on average 11 percent between 2011 and 2014.

These economic benefits could be more than tripled if the country manages to sell the carbon credits it could sell within the PADAP landscape area.

Biodiversity conservation

Based on all the known sources of biodiversity funding flowing into Madagascar, from bioprospection, international public funding, NGOs and foundations and taxes raised from PAs about **\$52-60 million annually** is injected into the national economy for biodiversity conservation, creating direct and indirect jobs and effectively supporting an entire economic sector. (The upper figure of \$60 million takes account of GEF7 funding just coming on stream in 2021, and the annual budget of the PADAP landscape and biodiversity project in the northeast). This is equivalent to \$6.35 to 7.43/ha/yr across *all* protected areas.

National benefits from global biodiversity conservation

As an indication of global response to this situation, Madagascar has a biodiversity allocation from the Global Environment Facility (GEF) round 7 (GEF7) over 5 years of \$33.8 million USD after Indonesia at \$64.5 million and Colombia at \$39.1 million. Despite its higher rating on extinction risk reduction, Madagascar has been allocated less than Mexico at \$47.4 million and Brazil at \$53 million.

In addition to GEF, Madagascar benefits from World Bank funding (PADAP – a minimum of \$13 million, potentially as much as \$50 million, over 5 years) and other bilateral sources (estimated at \$16 million).¹⁷⁶

In the case of Madagascar, all GEF7 finance and biodiversity-landscape finance (such as PADAP) is related to landscapes in which there are protected areas. Thus, while the finance may not all go towards managing protected areas, it is all premised upon the presence of protected areas in those landscapes.

¹⁷⁴ World Bank 2017

¹⁷⁵ World Bank 2017

Tourism

Madagascar's protected areas and biodiversity represent a comparative economic advantage and an incomparable sales advantage for Madagascar. A study in 2012 found that 68% of tourists came with the objective to visit one or more protected areas during their trip.¹⁷⁷

Tourism in Madagascar is worth about \$707 million a year, or 5% of GNP (\$14.115 bn)¹⁷⁸. Given the small number of tourists visiting Madagascar, the fact that tourism represents no more than 5% of GDP is unsurprising. On the other hand, the percentage of tourists who visit protected areas, at 68% as noted above, is much higher than the global average. On this basis, the economic contribution of Madagascar's Protected Areas could be estimated to be (5% x 68%) = 3.4% of GDP, or **\$481 million/year (\$432/ha/yr for the top 15 parks, or \$67.9/ha/yr across all parks)**.

The tourism sector is the most data rich of the sectors we considered and offered multiple ways of estimating the economic contribution of protected areas. At the *global* level, we found good convergence between the different estimations which value the contribution of protected areas to tourism globally at about \$538-548 million annually (2021 USD) of which an estimated 1/3 finds its way into the national economy. When we examine specifically the benefits generated directly and locally in association with visits to the top 15 parks i.e. from <u>ecotourism</u> purely, we obtained an annual benefit of about \$41.91 million (2021 USD), reflecting the relatively low capture of tourism benefits by protected areas at the local level.

It has been estimated that an average tourist visit to Madagascar involves expenditure of 33% within the national economy.¹⁷⁹ Assuming 68% of 338,000 tourists (229,840) each spending 33% would suggest that the protected areas network is supporting about \$174 million of tourism revenues (or about \$156/ha/yr for the top 15 parks, or \$23/ha/yr across <u>all</u> 123 parks).

Economic contribution of protected areas to tourism sector overall

Based on the evidence that 68% of tourists include visiting one or more protected areas as part of their stay, and a total sector value of \$707 million or 5% of GDP), it can be argued that the PA network helps to underpin 68% of the tourism sector, representing and annual economic contribution of protected areas for tourism as **\$481 million per year** (equivalent to \$432/ha/yr on average for the top 15 parks, or \$69/ha/yr across all PAs). Given uncertainty as to how the annual sector value of \$707 million was calculated, we assumed that tourists would spend only 1/3 of their total expenditure in country, or about \$174 million, which represents a conservative upper estimate of the PA network's contribution.

Specific contribution to the ecotourism subsector

As a yet more conservative estimate of the national economic contribution of PAs to tourism, based on the number of tourist visits to the top 15 protected areas in 2019 (227,431 visits) and an average daily expenditure per tourist of \$165), we estimate the specific contribution of the top 15 protected areas to the ecotourism subsector as **\$42.68 million per year** (\$38.32/ha/yr on average for the top 15 parks, or \$5.61/ha/yr across all PAs).

Overall, we estimate the annual national economic contribution of protected areas to the tourism sector to be **\$42 to \$174 million/yr**, equivalent to \$38-156/ha/yr across the top 15 PAs, or \$6-23/ha/yr across all protected areas of the network. This is a conservative estimate, but it helps to demonstrate

¹⁷⁷ FTHM Conseils 2012

¹⁷⁸ World Bank data https://data.worldbank.org/country/MG

¹⁷⁹ FTHM Conseil 2012

that economic benefits from tourism alone approach or exceed the cost of managing the protected area network (which we have estimated to be \$10/ha/yr).

Employment benefits of tourism based on PAs

A recent study on world tourism estimates tourism to be worth USD 7.6 trillion per year globally or 10% of the world's GNP, of which \$600 billion (8%) is focused on Protected Areas¹⁸⁰ which attract an estimated 8 billion visitors globally¹⁸¹. Another study reported that in 2018 wildlife tourism generated \$120.1 million and 21.8 million jobs globally¹⁸².

Direct jobs from tourism based on PAs

In 2019, MNP employed 723 people. To this can be added 150 direct jobs generated (including local tourist guides) by the presence of National Parks. In addition, 42 external jobs are directly related to the implementation of the Parks budget, excluding staff costs including 38 for operations and 6 for investment. In total, direct jobs created by the Parks are estimated at 905. With the jobs generated by the household consumption of park staff (induced jobs), the direct benefits of the parks are estimated at 1000 jobs. Assuming an average annual employment contribution of 10 million Ariary, this corresponds to an annual economic contribution of 10 billion Ariary, or **about \$2.67 million annually** for the sub-network of 34 PAs managed by MNP. This does not include the jobs created by the more numerous *New Protected Areas* (NPAs) created as a result of the Durban Initiative.

Indirect jobs in PA tourism

Protected Areas help to create jobs in the tourism sector. Tourism is a strong job creator, with an average annual growth of 1900 jobs over the past 12 years¹⁸³ and the low level of training required at entry level for most positions (making tourism a strong sector for integration of young people without higher education). Handicrafts is an economic activity that depends largely on the tourism sector and being labour intensive, is among the sectors with one of the highest employment rates.

Conservatively assuming that every direct job in protected area management for the 34 PAs managed by MNP results in at least one indirect job in the tourism sector, there could be a further 1000 ecotourism jobs with an annual value of \$10 billion ariary or \$2.67 million.

Tax revenue contributions of tourism from PAs

Apart from the fact that tourism is the country's second largest source of foreign currency, it also yields substantial tax revenues. In 2018, the hotels and restaurants sub-sector collected USD 144 million in taxes on tourism products¹⁸⁴, of which US\$5.60 million was VAT. Applying the proportion of tourists which visit a national park (68%), we estimate that protected areas support the generation of \$144 million x 68% = **\$97,920,000 in taxes**.

Tourism investment stimulated by PAs

This economic impact is further increased if we add direct investment in the hotel restaurant sector (which stood at US\$250 million in 2019, the latest available figure) and in travel and tourism services companies (which was US\$1.4 million in 2019, the latest available figure). Investment in the accommodation and restaurant sectors is a major component of tourism investment, representing 91% of tourism commercial investments.¹⁸⁵ Again, applying the 68% figure, it can be estimated that

¹⁸⁰ Dasgupta 2021

¹⁸¹ World Bank 2021

¹⁸² WTTC 2019, from World Bank 2021

¹⁸³ MTTM 2020

¹⁸⁴ Source: National Accounting

¹⁸⁵ FTHM Conseil 2012

protected areas help to generate (\$250 million x 68%) in investments, or **\$170 million annually** in investments related to parks (Table 8).

Tourism economic benefit of PAs	Amount \$US	Amount \$US
Ecotourism expenditure (15 parks)		36,420,000
Employment (PA related)		
Direct jobs	2,670,000	
Indirect jobs	2,670,000	
All jobs		5,300,000
Tax revenues (PA related)		97,920,000
Investment (PA related)		170,000,000
Benefit of PAs to the tourism sector (\$/yr) (higher estimate)		309,640,000
Benefit \$/ha/yr (top 15 parks)		277.96
Benefit \$/ha/yr (whole network) \$/ha/yr		43.72

Table 8 – Economic contributions of the tourism sector

Adding these direct benefits, we reach a total of \$309.64 million, which supports our assessment that the estimate presented is conservative and that the contribution of PAs to tourism could be as much as double the estimate presented of \$42-174 million/yr.

Energy

Based on the identified PAs which provide clean water to the five *existing* hydropower stations, we estimate the total economic contribution of humid forest protected areas to the energy sector to be **\$20.75 million/yr**. The contribution would double to **\$41.24 million/yr** if the planned hydropower projects at Volobe and Sahofika are approved and become operational. This equates to a value per hectare of forest of \$43.50/ha/yr for existing projects (which depend on forested catchments of about 477,000 ha), which would decline to an average benefit of \$14.90/ha/yr if the Volobe and Sahofika projects go ahead (based on all humid forest PAs covering 2.34 million hectares).

This estimate may be considered conservative for several reasons, While the direct economic contribution of forested PAs to energy production may seem lower than the tourism sector contribution of PAs, it must be emphasised that energy is a stable sector which is critical to other economic sectors. Its indirect economic contribution may be much greater than the direct value of the electricity produced. The estimation also does not consider Madagascar's full potential for hydro-energy which could theoretically be as much as 7GW, or the future contribution of PAs to that potential. As the number of hydropower stations increases, the contribution of PAs to the energy sector will only increase.

Energy and economic development – a look at the wider evidence

The evidence shows that for Madagascar, as in most developing countries, investment in the energy sector has a direct impact¹⁸⁶ on living standards in general. Analysis of the energy consumption model (ECM) showed that there is a long-term equilibrium relationship between electricity, hydrocarbon use and GDP and that the short-term impact of energy availability is very significant (63%). This strong short-term upward momentum means that Madagascar's economy is very far from its growth potential (far from the full use of resources): a small boost in the energy supply leads to a sharp increase in production.

¹⁸⁶ MPRA Paper No. 82967, posted 28 Nov 2017, https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/82967/)

An increase in electricity production leads to a significant increase in the standard of living in the short and long term; conversely, a decrease in the supply of energy (load shedding, fuel shortage, price increases, etc.) leads to loss of income for economic agents and prevents an increase in production in the long term.¹⁸⁷

According to the national energy balance in 2017, gross electricity production was 1,970.5 GWh (1,970,500 MWh) in 2017. Electricity production is dominated by diesel thermal units (53%) and hydroelectricity (40%). On the other hand, the national hydraulic potential is estimated at 7,800 MW of which only 160 MW (2%) has been developed. Of the 7800 MW, 1935 MW are potential only while the remainder is likely to be exploited (ORE, 2007).

On the electricity demand side, Madagascar's national electricity coverage rate is about 15% in 2015. In rural areas, where 70% of the population lives, the electrification rate is now only 5%.

By comparing supply (existing and potential) with demand, increasing the electrification rate by exploiting this hydraulic potential contributes to the country's economic growth and social and economic development.

Our estimate of the benefits that PAs generate domestically by producing hydroelectricity is based on the following approach:

- Using GIS, build a location map of hydroelectric stations (geographic coordinates are provided by the Electricity Regulatory Office) and overlay them on the SAPM map to find out which stations are under the influence of which PAs. A list of hydroelectric stations (electric power, power generation) with the associated PAs (surface area, water volume) is obtained.
 - With the total power produced by the PAs, the economic benefit is estimated using the energy intensity of the Malagasy economy (the ratio of energy consumption per unit of economic output) which has increased from 6.3 MJ to 6.4 MJ per US dollar (2005 dollars to PPP) (World Bank, 2015).

Results :

- For the 10 existing stations, 52% of which are located in the downstream watersheds of PAs, total power 160.1MW is provided for the country, with a net benefit of 219.483 million USD per year and a tax revenue between \$13.827 million (6.3%) to \$25.021 million (11.4%)¹⁸⁸
- 98 potential power stations (i.e. not yet in service) of 0.4 MW to 300 MW (among the 138 potential stations), with a total capacity of 83,041 GWh, are located in watersheds downstream of PAs with an area of 7.64 million hectares. With an energy intensity of 6.3MJ/USD or 1.75kWh/\$), there is a potential net economic contribution to the country of \$14.235 billion per year.
- With an average investment of \$3000 per kW, the total investment amounts to \$12.6 billion over 30 years, or value of \$420 million per year.¹⁸⁹

Agriculture and potable water

While it is widely accepted that agriculture is the largest single driver of deforestation in Madagascar (as in most other countries), and it is generally assumed that the presence of protected areas can be

¹⁸⁷ MPRA Paper No. 82967, posted 28 Nov 2017, https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/82967/)

¹⁸⁸ https://www.oecd.org/fr/pays/madagascar/statistiques-recettes-publiques-afrique-madagascar.pdf.

¹⁸⁹ Sahofika, investment of \$825 million for 192 MW, Volobe investment of \$400 million for 120 MW, Andekaleka initial investment of \$142 million for 110 MW.

beneficial for agriculture through multiple ecosystem services (water supply, soil stabilisation, local climate regulation, pollination etc.), there is a remarkable lack of studies in Madagascar or elsewhere of the benefits of protected areas to agriculture.

For benefits to agriculture at the national scale we made use of the earlier study of Carret & Loyer (2004) based on Madagascar's PA network as it existed in 2003 (covering just 1,102,949 ha or 3% of Madagascar's land surface) and which evaluated the benefits of hydrological protection for rice irrigation at 115,000 MGA/hectare. Based on that study, we estimate the economic contribution of protected areas to agriculture to be a minimum of **\$22.56 million/yr** (or an equivalent of \$22/ha/yr based on PAs covering 1,102,949 ha).

This estimate may be considered conservative because it only considers PAs in existence in 2003 and it considers only the benefit of hydrological protection for rice production.¹⁹⁰ The benefits of other ecosystem services and for other crops are not considered due to lack of available evidence.

Reference to Carret & Loyer 2004 did allow us to consider one additional ecosystem service, which is the provision of potable water to urban communities. Based on an average price per cubic meter of water of 5000 ariary (5 ariary/litre) according to UNICEF¹⁹¹ (= \$0.0012/litre), we estimated the contribution of protected areas in drinking water to be a minimum of **\$10 million annually** (equivalent to \$9.14/ha/yr for the network as it was in 2003).

In sum the combined values for irrigation and drinking water provision by the protected areas network reach about **\$32.7 million annually** (or the equivalent of \$29.59/ha/yr based on the PA network as it was in 2003). This may be considered an underestimate since it considers only the network as it was in 2003 and considers only irrigation and drinking water.

Agriculture supported by PAs – a look at the wider evidence

Forest PAs attract rains, store them like a sponge and then feed the aquifers and streams downstream of the PA. Analysis of spatial data from the 1996 Ecological and Forest Inventory (IEFN) and statistics from the Water and Electricity Distribution Society (JIRAMA) show particularly obvious hydrological relationships for 20 protected areas out of 41 PAs which are located upstream of 430,000 hectares of irrigated field systems (as well as 17 cities consuming 8.4 million m3 of drinking water annually).¹⁹²

The country's total renewable water resource is 286,550 hm3/year (one hm3 = 1 million m3).¹⁹³ Water withdrawals by the agricultural sector were dominant with 14,188 million m3 (2012) from surface water, or about 4% of the total renewable resource.

Another ecosystem service of PAs for agriculture is erosion protection by promoting infiltration to limit runoff. In Madagascar, soils are fragile because of their low organic matter content. Yet in 2014 soils and pasture nevertheless constituted an estimated 45% of Madagascar's natural capital.¹⁹⁴ The process of soil degradation results in a loss of arable land, a decrease in yields on cropland and siltation of dams. The benefit of a protected area can be estimated through the value lost as in decreased productivity that would occur in the absence of the protected area.

¹⁹⁰ The underestimate will be further compounded by the fact that 2003 was atypical in that, when correcting for the GDP inflator, \$US1 in Madagascar in 2003 actually had lower purchasing power than \$US1 in 2021.

¹⁹¹ UNICEF 2020

¹⁹² Unpublished IEFN 2020 data (LOFM/BNCCREDD+, 2021) were only made available in the final phases of the study but could not be used for this analysis

¹⁹³ WAVES 2016

¹⁹⁴ WAVES 2016

The effect of forest on the actual runoff has been recognized since the 1960s through experiments conducted at Analamazaotra (Perinet), which that water runoff from *savoka* slopes was 3x that of natural forest slopes. Runoff contributes to rice crop losses. The annual benefits of flood reduction by the creation of the Mantadia NP (in 1993 dollars) were estimated in 1995 at \$51,691/year or about 2/ha/year, with a 20-year benefit of \$547,176 or $20/ha^{195}$.

Agriculture, as the main economic activity of rural households, has a very strong potential for value distribution. In fact, 80% of the added value directly benefits the most vulnerable households and its role as the main employer, equivalent to more than 3.178 million full-time jobs.

These observations demonstrate that the performance of PA management significantly contributes to the performance of the agricultural sector and makes a significant difference in terms of poverty and food security. By providing support services to agriculture, PAs have a predominant role to play in poverty reduction strategies.¹⁹⁶

Total economic contribution across multiple sectors

Based on the above findings, the calculated economic contribution across the seven identified key sectors or sub-sectors (agriculture, water, energy, tourism, research/culture and environment) is **\$212-328 million/yr** (excluding marine protected areas), broken down in Table 9:

Sector	Economic contribution by PAs (\$/yr)	Ha of PA contributing	Benefits/ha/yr (USD)
Agriculture	22,566,630	1,102,149	22.00
Water (potable)	10,079,3360	1,102,149	9.14
Energy	20,746,762 - 41,239,256	476,937-2,341,412	14.50-43.50
Tourism	42,682,564 - 173,602,436	1,113,981	38.32-155.84
Scientific research	2,781,290	7,612,346	0.34
Culture (NH films)	117,715	6,233,317	0.02
Environment:			
Carbon storage	21,645,200 - 29,045,200	3,389,324	6.39-8.57
Biodiversity conservation	51,816,368 - 59,976,368	7,612,346	6.35-7.43
Total contribution (exc. MPAs)	215,102,431- 329,312,897	6,233,317	34.51-52.83

Table 9 – Summary of national economic contributions of terrestrial PAs to key sectors (based on data
collected for this study)

This estimation may be regarded as conservative because values for agriculture and water consider only a subset (about 18%) of PAs¹⁹⁷, because the rate used for carbon storage was just \$5/t/CO2eq, and because it considers only a limited range of ecosystem services.

Local Economic Contributions (Case Studies)

In addition to the global and national economic sector assessments, we have used case studies of several protected areas to assess the specific economic contributions of PAs **at the local and landscape level**. Evaluations at the local and/or landscape level represent the economic contributions that are captured at the local and/or landscape level and which can be measured in monetary terms. The

¹⁹⁵ Kramer et al, 1995 and 1997

¹⁹⁶ FAO 2014

¹⁹⁷ They are also based on a study in 2003 (Carret & Loyer 2004) when the purchasing power of \$US1 was unusually less than \$US1 in 2021, the reference year for this study

different studies consider a range of ecosystem service values, including provisioning (timber, charcoal production, non-timber forest products (NTFP), clean water for local hydropower stations, irrigation and drinking, regulating (hydrological protection) and cultural (tourism).

Complex Mahavavy Kinkony

The value of the Mahavavy-Kinkony Wetlands complex (CMK), calculated from the services assessed, is summarized in Table 10 (\$2021 values):

Component	Value in \$/yr (\$2021)	\$/ha (PA area 302,400 ha)	Resource area providing ES (ha)	Value in \$/ha) (resource area)
Charcoal plantation 1 (Bemaratoly)	2,866,424 - 4,586,278	9.48 - 15.17	780	3675 – 5880
Charcoal plantation 2 (Masiakakoho)	973,373 – 1,566,996	3.47 5.27	1041	1008 - 1531
Dry forest (honey, wild boar, rapphia, satrana)	1,076,106	3.66	92,831	11.91
Lakes & reservoirs	5,471,854	96.15	56,910	18.09
Mangroves	13,141,999	43.46	24,845	528.90
Total	23,635,653 – 25,900,468	78.16 - 85.65	176,410	133.98 - 146.82

Table 10 – Ecosystem s	ervice values of the Mahavav	v-Kinkonv	wetlands complex	(\$2021 values)
		,	, meenanas eemplex	(yeur taiaco)

Based on the direct use values of provisioning services, the Mahavavy-Kinkony Complex made an overall annual economic contribution of **\$23,635,653** – **25,900,468**, or \$78.16-85.65/ha (based on its entire area of 302,400 ha) in 2018 (values adjusted to \$2021). The charcoal plantations were extremely productive (\$1008-5880/ha/yr) and represent the most valuable form of land use within the PA. Mangroves generated the most revenues overall, at \$13,141,999 but were less productive than plantations, at \$528.90/ha/yr. Dry forest was the least productive, at \$11.91/ha/yr, but still yielded a substantial benefit of \$1,076,106. The low revenues from dry forest are largely due to restrictions on use, as it is much more important for biodiversity conservation than mangroves are. Ecotourism at CMK, which has potential (notably for rare wetland birds and lemurs in the dry forest), was not considered, nor was the value of lake water and groundwater resources (because of the lack of available data). The absence of data for certain values does not mean an absence of value, and the results amply demonstrate that wetland protected areas can be highly valuable in the Madagascar context.

Detailed calculations are presented in the Appendix (with values expressed in the original \$2018 dollars).

Antrema Biocultural Site

The economic contribution of The Antrema bio-cultural site, calculated from the services evaluated, is summarized in Table 11.

Component	Value in \$/yr (\$2021)	\$/ha/yr	Resource area (ha)	Value \$/ha/yr (by resource)
Forest	13,649.21	0.66	4776	2.86
Lakes &	64,284	3.12	159	404.30
reservoirs				
Mangroves	204,383.48	9.91	1493	136.89

Table 11 – Ecosystem service values of Antrema Biocultural site (20,620 ha)

Total	282,316.69	13.69	6,428	43.92

Based on the direct use value of some provisioning services, the value of ecosystem services from the Antrema Bio-Cultural Site was estimated at **\$282,316.69/yr**, or an average of \$13.69/ha in 2018, (based on services provided by 6,428 ha (about 30% of the PA) which generated \$43.92/ha/yr on average). In this case, while mangroves generated the most value overall (\$204,338.48 annually), lakes and reservoirs which support productive fisheries, were the most valuable ecosystem by area, with an annual value of \$404.30/ha/yr and dry forest the least valuable (at \$2.86/ha/yr). The low value of forests is in large part due to the strict controls on forest use because of its high importance for biodiversity. As for CMK, ecotourism, still in its infancy, was not considered, nor was the value of lake water and groundwater for agriculture and other uses, due to lack of available data. As ecotourism develops, the value of the forests will increase. The value of water could also be considerable, since the site has underground water reserves estimated at 4,688,768,386 m³ at depths of up to 20m¹⁹⁸.

Further details of the methodology and calculations are presented in the appendix.

Ankarafantsika National Park

In the case of Ankarafantsika, the study focused exclusively on the value of a single ecosystem service – soil stabilization – providing protection of the Marovoay rice-producing plain from sedimentation. The value was based on the opportunity cost of sedimentation making land unsuitable for rice cultivation caused by deforestation at the park edge.

The study found that sedimentation due to degradation of the park results in an annual loss of cultivable area of about 2%, the cost of which in lost rice production is estimated at 35-40 billion ariary over 11 years or, a loss of 91,000 - 105,000 over 11 years, for the or about 2/ha/yr.

This study considers only a small part of the value of the services provided by Ankarafantsika national park. In particular, it does not consider ecotourism which is highly important at Ankarafantsika, with 4,329 visitors in 2019 (range 1440 to 8095). Assuming a daily ecotourist expenditure of \$55, Ankarafantsika could generate as much as \$2 million annually, or about \$15/ha/yr.¹⁹⁹

Besides erosion protection, other biophysical services include carbon sequestration and water regulation. In terms of erosion protection, only the effect on rice farming is taken into account. Furthermore, the study document states that only 14.85% of the affected soil losses are deposited in the Marovoay Plain, while 87.5% are dumped into the Betsiboka River and reach the sea, contributing to sedimentation impacts in the marine environment. To this end, the value of the benefit of the erosion protection service calculated can be considered as underestimated.

Ranomafana National Park

Ranomafana (40,556 ha) in the eastern forest ecoregion is an exceptional park in many respects. Its creation in 1991 resulted from a program of scientific research which documented an exceptional diversity of lemur species including one new to science, the golden bamboo lemur. Ranomafana is also exceptional in the range of ecosystem services provided, including tourism, good quality drinking water, clean water for hydropower, carbon sequestration and hydrological protection. Taken together these add up to a considerable total annual contribution by the park of **\$13.7-22.3 million/yr** to the local and regional economy (equivalent to of \$338-550/ha/yr) in ecosystem services, depending in the precise calculation method used (Table 12).

Table 12 – Ranomafana National Park – the value of ecosystem services

¹⁹⁸ Rambeloarisoa 2017

¹⁹⁹ MNP unpublished data

Economic benefits of Park	Local/Landscape benefit in \$ (\$2021)	Value \$/ha/yr
Ecotourism (1 st method) (direct park receipts)	444,229	10.95
Ecotourism (2 nd method) (\$75 local tourist spend per capita ²⁰⁰	2,221,144	54.77
Hydroelectricity (1 st method) (regional)	13,252,777	305
Hydroelectricity (2 nd method) (regional)	20,065,125	462
Drinking water (willingness to pay) (local)	n/a	0.40
Hydrological protection (willingness to pay) (local)	7312.28	0.18
Total local/regional service values (range)	13,704,309 – 22,293,581	338 – 550

The hydro-electricity value is the highest, at \$305-462/ha/yr, depending on the method used, which accrues to the regional level since Ranomafana power station powers the regional capital of Fianarantsoa). By contrast, the values for drinking water (\$0.40/ha/yr) and hydrological protection (\$0.18/ha/yr) appear very low. However, the latter were based on *contingent evaluation* and are thus based on the willingness of very poor farmers to pay for clean water (which is in abundance at the site) and hydrological protection (for which they were willing to pay \$5/ha of rice paddy/yr), a considerable sum for a small-scale farmer.

The benefit from tourism is based on an average local expenditure per tourist to Ranomafana in 2009 of \$75²⁰¹ which is about half the total daily expenditure per tourist visiting Madagascar of \$165. Ranomafana is a very popular park with 27,338 visitors in 2019. Assuming a daily spend of \$75. And correcting for \$2021 dollars, gives a total economic contribution of Ranomafana for tourism of **\$2.221 million/yr** and a value per hectare of \$55/ha/yr. This makes tourism a strong local economic contributor which directly supports local jobs. A recent study has shown that Ranomafana has been effective in reducing deforestation rates steadily over a period of 10 years, with even some evidence of forest regrowth, which is attributed to local community compliance in recognition of the economic benefits generated by the park.²⁰²

Analamazaotra / Mantadia

The Analamazaotra National Park (874 ha) is Madagascar's prime ecotourism site, readily accessible from Antananarivo, to which visitors flock to see and hear Madagascar's largest lemur, the indri or babakoto (*Indri indri*) with its 'hauntingly beautiful', musical cries²⁰³. Visitor numbers reached 36,193 visitors in 2019²⁰⁴. The small size and high pressures on the site, coupled with objectives of biodiversity conservation and providing ecosystem services for local agriculture²⁰⁵ helped drive the establishment in 1989 of the adjacent Manatadia National Park (originally 10,000 ha, extended in 2002 to 15594 ha).

²⁰⁰ Serpantié et al 2009

²⁰¹ Serpantié et al 2009

²⁰² Dumas et al 2021

²⁰³ Scientific American 2021

²⁰⁴ MNP 2021

²⁰⁵ Kramer et al 1995

If one considers only the special reserve of Analamazaotra (874 ha) where most visitors go to see and hear the indri, assuming 36,193 visitors spending on average $\frac{165}{3} = \frac{55}{5}$ on the day of their visit²⁰⁶, this equates to a total local economic benefit from tourism of $\frac{2,030,215}{yr}$ in 2019 dollars ($\frac{2,199,33}{yr}$

4 in 2021 dollars), or \$2517/ha/yr. Spreading the benefit over both sites (Analamazaotra and Mantadia) (874+15494 = 16368 ha), we obtain a tourism economic contribution of \$134.37/ha/yr for the combined park (Table 13).

Ecosystem service valued	Local/landscape benefit \$/yr	\$/ha/yr
Ecotourism (direct expenditure) (park fees & purchases) (\$205,955 of 2019 to \$2021)	228,576	13.96
Ecotourism (indirect based on average daily tourist spends of \$55 (30% of total daily coursed of \$100)	2,199,332	134.37

Table 13 – Andasibe-Mantadia – Local/landscape economic value of tourism

Makira Natural Park (hydro-energy study)

A further example of a protected area contributing to water quality suitable for the production of hydroelectricity for the local economy is the southern parcel of Makira Natural Park in northeast Madagascar which comprises a forest catchment of 74,494 hectares. The catchment feeds the Hydelec dam at Voloina commune which has a capacity of 2.5MW and which supplies energy to the town of Maroantsetra (about 30,000 inhabitants) as illustrated in Fig 8. The operator, Tozzi Green, has observed in recent years that deforestation in the upstream catchment has increased flash flooding causing the transport of sediments and large trees and rocks towards the dam, causing several complete shutdowns.²⁰⁷ Using a market price calculation, assuming the plant runs on average at 50% capacity at an energy price of \$0.70-0.80/kWh) and that 50% of water quality is due to the forest, gives a value for the forest PA catchment of \$4.107 million/year or \$55.12/ha/yr (which is comparable to the value estimated for the CAZ forests supplying water to Andekaleka of \$43.50/ha/yr (calculated by an avoided costs method).

²⁰⁶ FTHM Conseils 2012

²⁰⁷ Tozzi Green 2021 and unpublished data



Fig 8 – Representation of a dam above a coastal zone (comparable the Hydelec dam in the Voloina commune, downstream of Makira Natural Park and feeding into the Bay of Antongil, NE Madagascar)

Combined value of case study sites

Based on the 7 case study sites considered, which cover 590,951 hectares (or 9% of the terrestrial PA network), we arrive at a total annual economic contribution in \$2021 in the range of **\$42 million to \$55 million/yr**, or the equivalent of \$67 to \$87/ha/yr. Thus, even based on locally captured economic benefit, this places the economic contribution of the studied protected areas at almost 7-9 times the average management cost of \$10/ha/yr.

Discussion of the case studies

While the highest values were reported for sites supporting hydroelectricity or tourism, the data also show that sites without significant tourism or hydropower, in particular wetlands, can provide significant economic value (case of CMK at \$134-147/ha/yr).

It is noteworthy that the total estimated contribution of the 7 selected protected areas at the level of the local economy, at a rate of \$67-87/ha/yr, is slightly higher, but of similar order of magnitude to the average rate based on the national economic assessment (\$54-\$69/ha/yr). This should not be interpreted as showing that the local economic contributions of PAs are greater than the national economic contribution, for the following reasons:

- Estimates of the national economic contribution of PAs are conservative for the reasons indicated
- The terrestrial sites considered were all either wetlands or humid forests which are relatively valuable ecosystems and not representative of the terrestrial PA network as a

whole; indeed, rhe case studies show that rates for dry forests (which occur at CMK, Antrema and Akarafantsika) are considerably lower than for wetlands or humid forests.

Some dry forests, however, are very important for tourism, because of their unique biodiversity. Although not part of the case study, we have estimated that, based on 4329 tourist visits in 2019, Ankarafantsika generates about \$700,000 annually from tourism (or \$5/ha/yr), complementing its value for agriculture.

Marine protected areas (MPAs) – a specific case study

Madagascar's marine ecosystems and biodiversity are currently protected under a range of MPA regimes that emerged comparatively recently, long after the terrestrial protected areas²⁰⁸. In response to the 2014 Promise of Sydney, international norms for marine conservation²⁰⁹ and in line with Madagascar's blue economy policy²¹⁰, Madagascar has rapidly developed a marine protected areas network now amounting to a total of 22 sites considered to be primarily MPAs (plus several primarily terrestrial sites including protected marine habitats) covering 1.38 million hectares of littoral and marine habitats or 11.8% of the continental shelf (Fig 9)²¹¹. With the proposed addition of large a new MPA in the deep south (*Atimo Vatae*) covering 700,000 ha²¹², and a proposed corridor of >300,000 ha linking Ankarea and Ankivonjy MPAs in the northwest²¹³, MPA coverage will increase to over 2.4 million ha. The MPAs are complemented by LMMAs (locally managed marine areas) with varying surface areas and governance structures, and a growing series of regional fisheries management plans (*Plans d'Aménagement des Pêches*) which are programmed to cover the entire coast.

Marine protected areas provide a range of valuable ecosystem services including supporting productive and resilient fisheries through maintaining intact ecosystems, regulating climate through carbon storage by mangroves, providing a supporting environment for marine ecotourism, coastal tourism and recreation, marine biodiversity and regulating services such as sediment stabilisation (mangroves and seagrass beds) and coastal defence (by coral reefs), providing resilience to climate-change related risks such as coral bleaching, storm surge, coastal erosion and flooding. MPAs have a particular advantage in providing ecosystem services which help alleviate poverty.²¹⁴

²⁰⁸ Ratsimbazafy et al 2019

²⁰⁹ Frequent reference is made to international norms as this is a leitmotif of the current presidency

²¹⁰ MRHP 2015

²¹¹ Cooke et al in press

²¹² Resolve/WCS 2020.

²¹³ Ziegler et al 2021

²¹⁴ Siason et al 2008



Fig 9 – Map of Madagascar's Marine Protected Areas

Value of marine ecosystems

As we have seen above in this paper, the ecosystem service values of marine ecosystems published in the landmark studies of Costanza et al and De Groot et al²¹⁵ indicate very high values for coastal marine

²¹⁵ Costanza et al 1997 & 2014, De Groot et al 2012

ecosystems ranging from \$5933 to \$8944/ha/yr, which would give an estimated annual economic contribution of Madagascar's MPA network (which covers 1.38 million ha) of \$7–12 billion. However, as also mentioned, such high values reflect the summation of all potential ecosystem services from well-managed MPAs, often in a highly developed economic context, many of which may not be fully achievable in Madagascar, and so represent aspirational or theoretical values rather than actual values.

Some attempts have been made to value whole tropical marine ecosystems. For example, annual use value of the Guinea Current Large Marine Ecosystem (GCLME) covering an area of 255 million ha, was provisionally estimated at \$17.2 billion or \$67.60 per ha/yr, taking account of open water ecosystems for fisheries (valued at \$53.70/ha/yr covering 253 million ha) and intertidal ecosystems (much more valuable at \$1470.20/ha/yr but covering a much smaller area of 1.83 million ha).²¹⁶. The value of ecosystem services in the Western Indian Ocean as a whole (based on 15,000 km of coastline and 8.1 million km² of EEZ) has been estimated at about \$20.8 billion/yr across 10 countries (an average of \$2 billion per WIO country)²¹⁷, primarily from tourism (69%), carbon sequestration (14%) and fisheries (9%).²¹⁸ Closer to home, the value of the Northern Mozambique Channel (NMC), covering 450,000 km², was valued by the ASCLME/SWIOFISH program at \$12.5 billion annually, or about \$278/ha/yr, perhaps reflecting the higher proportion of high value coastal ecosystems such as coral reefs in the NMC as well as valuable coastal and offshore fisheries.²¹⁹ Using the same values per ha as for the NMC, and given an EEZ covering 1.14 million km², the marine and intertidal ecosystems of Madagascar's EEZ might be worth about \$31.7 billion annually. MPAs account for just 1.2% of the EEZ, which would suggest a value for MPAs of about \$378 million annually. According to official statistics for 2011, the total value of Madagascar's fisheries (of which more than 90% are marine) was just \$146 million, which likely represents a small part of the total fisheries value²²⁰

Value of MPAs - international evidence

Globally, ecosystem services from MPAs covering a total 27,761,227 km² have recently been valued at \$900 billion over 2015-2020 (\$180 billion annually), or an average of \$65/ha/yr, and with a ratio of benefits to costs ratio of 20:1²²¹. The world's largest coral reef MPA, Australia's Great Barrier Reef, with an area of 3,440,400 km², has been valued at \$6.4 billion annually, or a somewhat lower average of \$18.6/ha/yr. ²²² Applying the global average value of \$65/ha/yr for Madagascar's MPAs would value Madagascar's MPA network of 1.38 million ha at about \$90 million/yr. Applying the lower Great Barrier Reef value of \$18.6/ha/yr, would value Madagascar's existing MPA network at just \$26 million/yr. As we see below, these estimates appear low in relation to documented fisheries and tourism values. In particular, when carbon storage values of MPAs are considered, values increase significantly. An evaluation of 5 MPAs in West Africa gave €260/ha/yr (\$292/ha/yr) and of the Banc d'Arguin National Park (PNBA) in Mauritania, which has extensive sea grass beds which act as a carbon sink, up to €400/ha/yr (\$450/ha/yr), of which more than 40% was from carbon sequestration by seagrass beds²²³.

²¹⁶ Interwies, 2011

²¹⁷ With 1.14 million km² of EEZ and 5000km of coastline, Madagascar could marshall 15-30% of this value

²¹⁸ Obura et al 2017, covering the waters of the SWIO (Comoros, France (WIO possessions), Kenya, Madagascar, Mauritius, Mozambique, Seychelles, Somalia, South Africa and Tanzania)

²¹⁹ ASCLME/SWIOFISH 2012.

²²⁰ WAVES 2012 and 2013

²²¹ Brander et al 2015

²²² Deloitte 2014

²²³ Trégarot et al 2018

Fisheries benefits of MPAs - international evidence

Benefits of MPAs to fisheries overall are proportional to area, but the fisheries benefits of MPAs are proportionately greater when the MPAs cover a higher percentage of marine ecosystem area, with a break-even point at about 8.5%²²⁴ (since Madagascar's MPAs today cover 11.8% of its continental shelf seas, the fisheries benefits of Madagascar's MPAs should be proportionately greater today than they were prior to implementation of the Promise of Sydney). It has also been estimated that increasing global MPA coverage by 5% could increase global fisheries yields by 20% and it has been suggested that food production, and thus economic benefit, can be a central driver for MPA design.²²⁵ WWF's global outlook assessment estimated that a future global conservation scenario with MPAs in place would treble fisheries yields globally. The same report, however, suggests that for Madagascar specifically, sustainable use options for marine resources may offer greater positive impact on GDP than strict conservation scenarios.²²⁶ This lends support to current strategies for MPA management in Madagascar which focus more on sustainable use than on strict preservation.

International guidelines on MPAs

International experience has identified five key guidelines for MPAs to be most effective for fisheries – they should be legally fully protected, well enforced, more than 10 years old, more than 100km² in area (10,000 ha) and in isolated locations if they are to deliver the greatest fisheries benefit. Most of Madagascar's MPAs created since 2000 potentially satisfy some of these criteria, while most early MPAs were designed as marine nature reserves for tourism and preservation and were too small to be of significant support to sustainable fisheries (e.g. Nosy Tanikely (originally 139ha, now 341 ha), Nosy Atafana (1124 ha) and the three marine reserves of Masoala NP (totalling 10,000 ha), although there is some evidence that Nosy Atafana has had positive impacts on adjacent fisheries.²²⁷

A *combination* of MPAs and fisheries regulations can be effective for productive sustainable fisheries²²⁸ suggesting that complementing Madagascar's MPAs by establishing LMMAs, regional fisheries management plans (*Plans d'Aménagement des Pêches* or 'PAPs') and better fisheries regulations would further increase the economic contribution of MPAs. Several of Madagascar's MPAs encompass LMMAs or are within regional fisheries management plans (PAPs), including the MPAs of Nosy Atafana and Masoala in the northeast, the MPAs of the southwest (Velondriake, Soriake, Ranobe Bay, Tsinjoriake) and Ankarea MPA in the far northwest (part of the Bay of Ambaro PAP).

Benefits of specific ecosystems within Madagascar's MPAs

Today the main focus of marine protected areas in Madagascar is on the conservation of mangroves coral reefs and seagrass beds, conserving marine megafauna such as nesting sea turtles, marine mammals, whale sharks and dugong, for supporting sustainable fisheries and, in some cases, tourism.

Mangroves

The direct economic benefits of mangroves are provisioning services for food (such as mud crab, shrimp and fish), chalk and wood and appear fairly uniform around the world, with ecosystem service values first globally estimated in 1997 at around \$1839/ha/yr²²⁹. Assuming such a high value, the 73,072 ha of mangroves inside MPAs could in theory provide ecosystem services worth as much as \$154.68 million/yr (in 1997 US dollars). Available evidence, however, suggests that values are

²²⁵ Cabral et al 2020

²²⁴ Rising & Heal 2014

²²⁶ WWF 2020

²²⁷ Grandcourt 1999; Oréade-Brêche 2010

²²⁸ Pew 2019

²²⁹ Costanza et al 1997

substantially lower than this. A study of mangroves in the northwest of Madagascar²³⁰ shows that fisheries ecosystem services can be valuable (mud crabs 554/t/yr, fish 717t/yr and shrimp 98t/yr, from a 5800ha mangrove area) worth a total of \$135/ha/yr in 2017 US dollars²³¹. Applied to all mangroves in MPAs, such fishery yields would represent a value of \$9.865 million annually in 2017 US dollars **(\$10.354 million/yr in 2021 dollars)**.

Mangroves also provide valuable regulatory ecosystem services. Madagascar's mangroves have been identified as beneficial for carbon storage²³² and a substantial blue carbon project has been under development in northwest Madagascar for several years.²³³ The international Ocean Wealth Explorer Mangrove Restoration app²³⁴ estimates that Madagascar's mangroves could enhance commercial fish catch by as much as 7.505 billion individual fishes, and invertebrate catch by as much as 13.739 billion individuals, of which about 34% would derive from mangroves in MPAs (which cover 73,072ha of a total 213,000 ha of mangroves along Madagascar's coasts)²³⁵. The same website estimates mangrove restorable area of Madagascar's mangroves at just 8,039 ha, so the main benefit in Madagascar's case will come from conserving rather than restoring mangroves. (While over 100,000 ha of mangroves have been lost since the 1960s²³⁶, opportunities for restoration are limited by the irreversible changes in hydrology caused by some uses of mangrove, such as conversion to rice paddies or salt making).

Coral reefs

The main economic benefits of coral reefs are fisheries, tourism and coastal defence. The tourism benefits of coral reefs are highly variable and depend on their proximity to touristic areas.²³⁷

Globally, the fisheries benefits of coral reefs have been estimated at an average of $220/ha/yr^{238}$. Madagascar has an estimated 3934km² of coral reefs²³⁹ which therefore have a potential annual value of $220 \times 393400 ha = 86.55$ million for fisheries. With 107,131 ha of reefs (about 30%) currently within the MPA network, coral reefs within MPAs, with effective management, could contribute an annual value of 23.78 million to fisheries. Madagascar's reefs have been confirmed to support important stocks of food fish (ranging from 100 to 2450 kg/ha) and significant yields for local fishermen (2 to 10 kg of fish per trip or per hour per fisher).²⁴⁰ Research in the southwest has shown that fish biomass can be increased with protective management²⁴¹ and experience in the northeast (in Antongil Bay) has also shown that fish biomass is greater in locally managed marine areas (LMMAs).²⁴²

A study in 2013 of fisheries production from the Velondriake MPA to the north of Toliara indicated a total annual value of \$6 million (based on 5524 t of captures with an average value of \$1000 per ton) across a marine and intertidal area of 63,985 ha or about **\$94/ha/yr** (in 2013 US dollars)^{243.} The fisheries are concentrated over coral reefs, and the coral reefs of Velondriake occupy about 15% of the

²³⁰ Blue Ventures 2017

²³¹ Blue Ventures 2017

²³² Zeng et al 2021

²³³ Blue Ventures 2017

²³⁴ <u>https://maps.oceanwealth.org/ (Mapping Ocean Wealth Explorer | Mapping Ocean Ecosystem Services)</u>

²³⁵ Jones et al 2016

²³⁶ Cooke et al 2021

²³⁷ Brander et al 2015

²³⁸ Costanza et al 1997

²³⁹ Cooke et al in press

²⁴⁰ Jadot et al 2015

²⁴¹ Gilchrist et al 2020

²⁴² Komeno & Randriamanantsoa 2013

²⁴³ Barnes-Mauthé et al 2013

MPA (or 3,449ha of reefs, with seagrass beds occupying 1779ha)²⁴⁴²⁴⁵, indicating that the reefs themselves could be providing an annual value of about \$625/ha/yr (in 2013 \$US) or more. An earlier study of the fisheries of the more intensively fished Bay of Toliara published in 2011 estimated fisheries production at 14.2t/km² over an area of 19,014 ha²⁴⁶. Catch values and coral reef areas were not provided, but applying the values reported for Velondriake would give about **\$154/ha/yr** for all fishing habitats combined for the Toliara bay fishery (in 2013 \$US).

Seagrass beds

Seagrass beds provide important ecosystem services as fish nursery, sediment trapping, absorbing wave energy, carbon sequestration and conservation of biodiversity. Seagrass meadows are very efficient at storing carbon and can store 10 times more organic carbon per unit of area than terrestrial forests. Data on seagrass beds in Madagascar's MPAs are limited, but seagrass beds have been studied for some MPAs, notably Nosy Hara (area not measured), Barren Islands (590ha), Kirindy Mitea (about 2200ha) and Sahamalaza/Iles Radama (6465ha) and thus cover at least about 10,000 ha.²⁴⁷ Adopting a value of \$28,916/ha/yr suggested by De Groot et al (2012), would suggest that the seagrasses within Madagascar's MPAs could contribute more than \$289 million annually. Taking the value for carbon storage as used for the Banc d'Arguin MPA in Mauritania (about \$160/ha/yr) would suggest a value of more than \$1.6 million annually. It is clear that the economic contribution of seagrass beds in MPAs merits further research.

Marine megafauna

With the creation of large MPAs and the development of protected seascapes, such as the Bay of Antongil, MPAs are becoming increasingly important for the protection of coastal megafauna with large ranges such as dugong, dolphins, sea turtles and sawfish, but even for highly migratory species such as whales²⁴⁸ ²⁴⁹ and whale sharks²⁵⁰.

Marine megafauna are important for marine ecotourism, and whale watching for the humpback whale already generates large tourism revenues for Madagascar and local economies (notably for Ile Ste Marie, Maroantsetra, Toliara and Nosy Be). A recent study on whale shark tourism in Nosy Be, which began in 2011, has shown that whale shark watching generates about \$1.5 million annually.²⁵¹ About 33% of the whale shark watching in Nosy Be takes place in the Ankarea MPA, which therefore contributes about **\$500,000 annually from whale shark watching (or about \$1.08-1.23/ha/yr)**.

Earlier MPA value studies for fisheries in East Madagascar

In contrast to these recent valuations of reef fisheries on the southwest coast, two earlier studies on the fisheries benefits of MPAs on the east coast of Madagascar are remarkable for the very low values estimated. A study on Nosy Atafana²⁵² reported that the MPA of 1124ha yielded 14.5 tonnes of fish and octopus annually, with the finfish component valued at 12.6 million MGA (\$3600 or about \$3.2/ha assuming 1124 ha). An earlier study of Nosy Atafana by Grandcourt (1999) indicated that fishery yields

²⁴⁴ Government of Madagascar 6th CBD report 2019

²⁴⁵ Roy et al 2009

²⁴⁶ Brenier et al 2011

²⁴⁷ Cooke et al in press

²⁴⁸ Rosenbaum & Chou in press; Cerchio et al in press (a) & (b); Davis et al in press

²⁵¹ Ziegler et al 2021

²⁵² Oréade-Brêche 2010

both inside and outside the MPA had been increased by conservation action, but the reported finfish yields were still very small (3.3 tonnes in 1999). The low fisheries values may in part be due to the very low productivity of coral reefs on the east coast, where fish biomass is generally about 20% of the biomass of northern and western reefs²⁵³, but also due to the low levels of fishing effort and access restrictions to the park. We chose not to use these seemingly unrepresentative low values in our calculations, but it should be emphasized that east coast MPAs are likely have substantially lower values than west coast MPAs for fisheries purposes.

Value of coral reefs for tourism

A study in 2017 valued tourism on coral reefs at \$36 billion globally, based on a combination of 'reef adjacent' values (sandy beaches, sheltered water, food, attractive views) and 'on reef' values (e.g. snorkelling & diving) (Fig 10)²⁵⁴. By overlaying Madagascar's MPAs onto the spatial data set, we were able to estimate that Madagascar's coral reefs lying inside MPAs have a global tourism value of about \$8.25 million per year in 2017 dollars, or a value to the national economy of about **\$2.89 million annually** assuming that one third of tourist spending is incurred in Madagascar. Given the high contribution of the Nosy Tanikely MPA alone of **\$2.42 million/yr** (infra), we **estimate the minimum value of coral reefs in Madagascar's MPAs for tourism to be about \$5.3 million/yr** (or about \$49.50/ha/yr for coral reefs in MPAs).





Nosy Tanikely MPA - an exceptionally valuable site

Nosy Tanikely MPA, adjacent to Madagascar's principal coastal tourism island, Nosy Be, was the first marine reserve to be created in Madagascar (in 1968)²⁵⁵. The high ecological and economic value of

²⁵³ Cooke et al in press

²⁵⁴ Spalding et al 2017

²⁵⁵ Arrêté 4730 (Journal Officiel 2232, 30 November 1968) of the Ministry of Equipment and Communications

Nosy Tanikely has been previously reported on.²⁵⁶ Now under management of MNP, the site of 341²⁵⁷ ha, including 93ha of coral reefs received 51,285 visitors in 2019 (of which 37,472 were international tourists²⁵⁸, each paying the admission fee of 10,000 Ariary (\$3) and typically spending the cost of a day's excursion to visit the island and one night's accommodation on Nosy Be. Taking the average daily tourist expenditure of \$165 in 2012²⁵⁹, dividing by 3 (\$65) and adding the entry fee of \$3 (=\$68) (without considering additional nights that could be reasonably attributed to the visit) it can be estimated that Nosy Tanikely alone generates as much as **\$2.417 million/yr** for the national and local economies (the equivalent of about \$7088/ha/yr).

Value of coastal areas for recreation

Prior to the global coral reefs study, a regional study in the Northern Mozambique Channel evaluated recreational values in the coastal areas around Madagascar, valuing coastal recreation across the country at \$217.1 million with rates ranging from \$46.2/ha/yr (Toamasina) to \$433.1/ha/yr (Antsiranana). Given that Madagascar's MPAs cover 11.8% of coastal seas²⁶⁰, would value Madagascar's MPAs at \$25.6 million for recreation (\$18.55/ha/yr). Since coastal recreation tends to be concentrated in MPAs, the estimate may be regarded as conservative.

Total estimated economic contribution of Madagascar's MPAs

Based on the above review of the evidence, we were able to generate three different approximations for the annual economic contribution of Madagascar's marine protected areas:

Global contribution of MPAs

As for terrestrial PAs, the global benefit is the gross global benefit *less* the benefit capture at national level. Based the potential for carbon storage, we estimate that the mangroves in Madagascar's MPAs provide a regulating service to the global economy worth about **\$312 million annually** in 2021 US dollars. This figure should be considered conservative, since it does not include coral reefs, seagrass beds or other marine ecosystems which also store carbon and does not include the support services of MPAs such as fish breeding grounds.

For global benefits to marine biodiversity conservation we found no evidence on which to base a specific economic estimate for the contribution of Madagascar's MPAs, which are therefore subsumed within the estimates for all PAs, terrestrial and marine.

For cultural services of MPAs, we include the benefit to global tourism of Madagascar's MPAs which we estimate at **\$1.2 million/yr**, from coral reefs and marine megafauna in MPAs, excluding Nosy Tanikely (which is included in the Top 15 PAs for tourism). This includes 8000 tourists who undertook whale shark watching in Nosy Be in 2019, about 33% of which occurs in the Ankarea MPA, representing a global annual benefit from MPAs of \$542,000 for whale shark watching alone and \$577,000 from coral reefs in MPAs.²⁶¹

National and local economic contribution of MPAs

Taking data available within Madagascar on the *actual* values of fisheries and tourism in MPAs, we built an estimate based on an assumed average value for fisheries of \$125/ha/yr (approximate median value of \$94 and 154/ha/yr) giving \$172.38 million for all MPAs for fisheries) plus \$5.5-5.6 million as

²⁵⁶ Webster 2008

 ²⁵⁷ 341 ha is the official area (and used for our calculations) although a circle of radius 1km would normally be 314 ha
 ²⁵⁸ MNP Unpublished visitor data 1992-2019

²⁵⁹ World Bank/PIC 2012

²⁶⁰ Cooke et al in press

²⁶¹ Ziegler et al 2021

the value of MPAs and reefs in MPAs for tourism (including Nosy Tanikely and whale shark watching in Nosy Be MPAs) and \$1.26 million for the blue carbon value of mangroves, giving \$185-188 million per year for MPAs, converted to **\$195-199 million/yr** (or \$142-144/ha/yr) in 2021 US dollars.

We should emphasize that this is likely to be a substantial under-estimate since it includes only the provisioning (fisheries) and cultural (tourism) ecosystem services of MPAs and does not include the *regulating* or *support* services of MPAs which can be very valuable (coastal defence, climate change resilience, fish breeding grounds etc.).

Costs of managing MPAs

Research has shown that adequacy of funding for MPAs is a robust predictor of successful outcomes²⁶². Global funding need for MPAs covering 20-30% of the world's ocean surface (72.38-108.57 million km²) has been estimated at \$5-19 billion annually²⁶³ or about US\$ 0.46-2.62/ha/yr (which would include very large MPAs with low average management costs per hectare). A study commissioned by WCS in 2017 estimated the annual management cost of Madagascar's MPAs at the time to be \$1.46-2.88 million/yr (or \$4.54-8.72/ha/yr)²⁶⁴. More recent data from WCS, place the actual management costs of the Ankarea and Soriake MPAs at \$4.9 and \$22/ha/yr respectively, the cost depending on the level of management reinforcement, MPA area and category and the level of community participation.²⁶⁵ In conclusion, the current costs of managing MPAs appear variable but of a similar order of magnitude to those of terrestrial PAs. For the purposes of our global estimate of PA management costs we have assumed \$10/ha/yr for all PAs, marine or terrestrial. The trend, however, will likely be towards lower management costs per hectare for MPAs due to their increasing size and less strict management systems which emphasise sustainable use and greater community control.

Opportunity costs of MPAs

Few studies have been conducted of the opportunity costs of MPAs in Madagascar. A study for a possible blue carbon project estimated the opportunity cost of a project involving mangrove conservation at \$1.3 million for a 5,800ha area of mangrove supporting livelihoods of 26,363 persons, equating to \$214/ha/yr (greater than the total fisheries value of \$134/ha/yr) or \$49.30 per person/yr, highlighting that the opportunity costs of MPAs, and mangrove protection in particular, can be very significant.²⁶⁶

Costs of inaction for MPAs

Studies have found that Madagascar's fisheries are likely to suffer especially strongly from loss of biodiversity and climate change, with losses amounting to as much as 2.8% of GDP if measures are not taken to prevent marine biodiversity loss or mitigate climate effects.²⁶⁷ Maintaining and strengthening Madagascar's MPAs would help reduce these losses.

Other economic contributions and benefits of PAs

In the preceding sections we have focused on the measurable benefits of protected areas to the global, national and local economies, for which we have evidence for assigning monetary values. In some cases, the economic benefits are clearly important, but available data are insufficient to estimate a monetary value. For others, it is difficult or morally questionable to assign monetary values. In this

²⁶² Gill et al 2017

²⁶³ Balmford et al 2004

²⁶⁴ lyer 2017

²⁶⁵ WCS, unpublished data

²⁶⁶ Blue Ventures 2017

section we review the evidence for benefits which are challenging to value in monetary terms, from the more tangible to the least tangible.

- Human health benefits of protected areas (local and global)
- Benefits of restoration actions around protected areas
- Research and education, within and outside Madagascar
- Biodiversity conservation and meeting international commitments
- International reputation and access to finance
- Nature documentary and entertainment films linked to Madagascar's biodiversity
- Spiritual, intrinsic and moral values

Human health benefits of protected areas

Health and well-being benefits

The human health impacts of ecosystem alteration began to receive significant scientific attention at the start of this millennium. Negative health impacts have been associated particularly with large dams, deforestation, habitat encroachment, loss of biodiversity, loss of coastal barrier systems (such as mangroves), fertiliser use and loss of tree cover to filter polluted air. ²⁶⁸ Nature and protected areas can also be important for well-being. There is evidence that detachment from nature causes a reduction in well-being, while contact with nature can reduce stress and even improve self-esteem.²⁶⁹

There is now a substantial body of evidence that healthy nature means healthy people^{270 271} and that protected areas, including the protected areas of Madagascar, make a significant contribution to improved human well-being and health, especially among children. A recent study across 34 developing countries including Madagascar showed that households near protected areas have higher wealth (by 17%), lower poverty (by 16%) and healthier children, with higher height-for-age scores (by 10%) and less stunting (by 13%).²⁷² For nature-dependent communities, deriving well-being from nature is not merely passive – evidence from two protected areas in Madagascar suggests that it requires the exercise of human capability in relation to forest values.²⁷³ Consistent with this observation, greater well-being has been claimed for communities in Madagascar who are actively involved in forest conservation management ²⁷⁴.

Protected areas benefit child health especially through the provision of clean water. An earlier analysis of data from the same 34 countries showed that children living downstream of protected watersheds showed lower incidence of diarrhoea which is the second leading cause of death in young children. ²⁷⁵ ^{276 277}

The nearby presence of forest is also beneficial for nutritional reasons. A study of 27 countries including Madagascar showed that children near protected forests had healthier diets. ^{278 279} A study from 2020

- ²⁷¹ FAO 2020
- ²⁷² Naidoo et al 2019
- ²⁷³ Fritz-Vietta 2016.
 ²⁷⁴ Rasolofoson et al 2017

²⁶⁸ Myers et al 2011

²⁶⁹ Dasgupta 2021

²⁷⁰ Dasgupta 2021

²⁷⁵ Ferreira et al 2021

²⁷⁶ Herrera et al 2017

²⁷⁷ Pattanayak & Wendland 2007

²⁷⁸ Golden et al 2011

²⁷⁹ Rasolofoson 2018a & b
reports a lower incidence of stunting by as much as 7% in children living within 8km of protected areas and proposes forest conservation as a nutrition-sensitive intervention in low- or middle-income countries such as Madagascar²⁸⁰. A specific study on Masoala National Park showed that forest meat was an important source of micronutrients for children and similarly proposed nutritional interventions as a support to conservation.²⁸¹

Protected Areas and disease control

The health benefits of protected areas go beyond matters of clean water and nutrition. Maintaining protected areas also exerts a positive influence in reducing many different animal vector-borne diseases. For example, protected areas reduce deforestation which reduces malaria and respiratory infections.²⁸² In Madagascar, maintaining protected areas may help to protect against outbreaks of plague, malaria, dengue fever and a range of other diseases in humans.^{283 284}

Outbreaks of plague are associated with episodes of intensive deforestation, which enables black rats to invade newly deforested areas and to transfer the plague bacterium from forest animals to human populations close to the forest edge ²⁸⁵. In the period 2010-2015, when there was a major rise in deforestation rates, Madagascar reported more plague cases than any other country on earth.²⁸⁶ A plague outbreak in 2016 in Befotaka, a remote location in southeast Madagascar, was associated with human activities, including deforestation^{287.} One of the reasons that Madagascar remains one of the few countries in which outbreaks of plague still occur is the persistence of swidden (slash and burn) agriculture causing deforestation.²⁸⁸ It has been suggested that transmission of plague could be minimised by reducing deforestation rates to reduce contact between humans and rodents carrying the plague.²⁸⁹

Malaria outbreaks have also been associated with deforestation in Madagascar. Clearance of forest creates suitable habitat for mosquitoes and therefore encourages diseases carried by mosquitoes.²⁹⁰ The effect is not limited to malaria, and potentially includes dengue fever, rift valley fever and chikungunya, all of which increase as a result of deforestation.²⁹¹

The disease control benefits are not limited to humans. Newcastle disease, an RDV virus which causes high mortality in chickens,²⁹² is ravaging poultry populations on the Masoala peninsular in the northeast, where a high rate of chicken mortality (79%) has been associated with areas where deforestation is proceeding, with negative effects on the nutritional status of local communities.²⁹³

Finally, protected areas globally help reduce the risk of pandemics such as COVID 19. Since antiquity, the domestication of animals and reduction of natural spaces and wild fauna, including deforestation, have been at the origin of diseases caused by parasites, bacteria and the most dangerous viruses.²⁹⁴

²⁸⁰ Rasolofoson et al 2020

²⁸¹ Borgerson et al 2020

²⁸² Whitmee et al 2015

²⁸³ Tortosa in press

²⁸⁴ Morand & Lajaunie 2021

²⁸⁵ Andrianaivoarimanana et al 2013

²⁸⁶ Cohen 2019

²⁸⁷ WHO 2017

²⁸⁸ USAID 2019

 ²⁸⁹ Alderson et al 2020
²⁹⁰ Arisco et al 2019 & 2020

²⁹¹ Tortosa in press

²⁹² Rasambainarivo & Zohdy 2021

²⁹³ Borgerson et al 2020

²⁹⁴ Corral-Broto & Rakotomavo 2020

Human encroachment into wild areas such as bush meat hunting increases risks of disease transfer, and there is compelling evidence that HIV, Ebola and Zika viruses all resulted from such transfers.^{295 296}

A recent paper published by IUCN²⁹⁷ has confirmed that protected areas play an important role in reducing the risk of pandemics and recommends that protected area networks should be expanded and reinforced on public health grounds alone. Protected and conserved areas help avoiding land-use change and thus potentially have a role in reducing the exposure to new emerging infectious diseases of animal origin. This is in line with the principle 'healthy nature for healthy people'.

Forest protected areas are especially important. A large percentage of human emerging infection diseases (EIDs) come from humid forests. Such diseases escape when deforestation or hunting of wild animals brings them into contact with humans. Protected areas, where deforestation and hunting are prevented, can thus help reduce the risk of pandemics, which have enormously costly consequences.

Research has shown that Malagasy animal species include a high diversity of viruses and other potentially zoonotic pathogens that could escape to humans as a result of high levels of ecological disturbance ²⁹⁸ The threat is heightened by the fact that about 90% of Malagasy species rely on forests and natural ecosystems.²⁹⁹ Potentially dangerous pathogens include *Leptospira* bacteria (found in endemic and introduced Malagasy mammals, causing Weil's disease)³⁰⁰, and numerous viruses, including coronaviruses which are known from endemic Malagasy bat species (both insectivorous bats and the larger fruit bats) and other mammal species³⁰¹, and arboviruses found in insects.³⁰² Beta coronaviruses, which include Covid-19 and other zoonotic diseases that have been transferred to humans (SARS, MERS, etc.), have been found in Malagasy fruit bats.³⁰³

In conclusion, the health and nutritional benefits of PAs are difficult to capture in monetary terms but are economically important, particularly for vulnerable communities living near PAs which lack access to health care, markets or technology to maintain good health and nutritional status. Protected areas also have an economic importance for the health of the nation as a whole, helping to control diseases and reduce the risk of zoonotic transfer of new diseases to humans.

Benefits from restoration in and around protected areas

As part of the national reforestation effort, the MEDD has specifically required protected area managers to conduct restoration in and around the protected areas they manage. Restoration around protected areas represents a powerful strategy since the areas restored and monitored and managed by the park manager present and therefore have greater chances of success. They also create local short-term employment and help park managers to build community relations.

According to data available from 2010 to 2019, Madagascar National Parks undertook 9452 ha of restoration, creating 1026 jobs for a total cost of \$190,000. For the period 2018-20202 the area under restoration rose to 12601 ha, although the number of jobs created and the cost of restoration has yet to be calculated.³⁰⁴ **As a rough rule of thumb, restoration around PAs will create one job for every 10**

²⁹⁵ Myers et al 2011

²⁹⁶ World Economic Forum global risks report 2020

²⁹⁷ IUCN 2021

²⁹⁸ Tortosa in Goodman in press

²⁹⁹ Goodman & Benstead 2005

³⁰⁰ Dietrich et al 2021

³⁰¹ Hoarao et al 2021

³⁰² Héraud et al 2021

³⁰³ Razanajatovo et al 2015

³⁰⁴ MNP, unpublished data

hectares restored. A review of the areas with potential for restoration would allow an estimate of the total number of jobs that could be created by a systematic restoration of the PA network. Recommendations are made at the end of this report.

Biodiversity conservation values - the wider evidence

We have presented above an estimated value of the global benefit of the conservation of the biodiversity in Madagascar's PAs which is based on an assumed willingness to pay of the community of nations. This highlights the major challenge in placing a monetary value of biodiversity conservation. Here we provide a wider review of the evidence.

Biodiversity *per se*, defined as the diversity of ecosystems, species and genes, is a difficult aspect of natural capital to value, and has been described as a *characteristic* of natural capital which affects its value.³⁰⁵ There is evidence that more diverse ecosystems containing more species provide more valuable ecosystem services, and that genetic diversity can make ecosystems and species more resilient and therefore more valuable. Human society places a very high value on biodiversity, as demonstrated by the global effort to conserve ecosystems and species of Madagascar and other highly biodiverse countries, and the high costs which countries are willing to contemplate spending to ensure its conservation. This contemplated cost formed the basis for our estimate of global economic contribution of Madagascar's protected areas (*supra*).³⁰⁶

Biodiversity *per se* can have measurable economic value as a source of bioactive compounds useful in medicine or other purposes. In an evaluation of Madagascar's natural capital in 2010, the World Bank³⁰⁷ placed a very high capital value of \$197 per Malagasy citizen on the bioprospecting values of Madagascar's forests, or about \$3.94 billion. Assuming a discount rate of 10%, this would represent an annual value of almost \$400 million³⁰⁸, most (about 71%) of which is held within Madagascar's protected areas network. Given the limited benefit capture from bioprospection to date, this figure has subsequently been criticized as an overestimate³⁰⁹. However, Madagascar's biodiversity and its uses do represent an 'inestimable stock of knowledge and possibilities for medical research and biotechnology' and a 'world inheritance' for interested communities.³¹⁰ The *risk* associated with *losing* species that may contain valuable bioactive compounds thus remains very great.³¹¹

Madagascar's status as a biodiversity hotspot has stimulated large international investments which have been estimated at almost \$1 billion over the last 30 years. Madagascar is considered to be one of the highest recipients of biodiversity-related aid.³¹² While some of these investments are spent outside Madagascar, biodiversity conservation has undeniably become a significant economic sector in Madagascar, creating thousands of jobs in conservation and tourism, as well as in education and research through studentships and research projects, mostly associated with protected areas. The benefit to Madagascar of maintaining its biodiversity commitments was recently illustrated by Madagascar's integration into the BIODEV 2030 program of AFD, IUCN, Expertise France and WWF, which chose Madagascar among 16 countries to pilot participatory approaches which integrate biodiversity conservation into economic activities working with local stakeholders.³¹³

- ³⁰⁷ Ollivier & Giraud 2010
- ³⁰⁸ World Bank 2013
- ³⁰⁹ Jones et al 2021
- ³¹⁰ Raharinirina 2009

³¹² Jones et al 2021

³⁰⁵ Dasgupta 2021

³⁰⁶ Deutz et al 2021

³¹¹ Myers et al 2011

³¹³ https://www.biodev2030.org/biodev2030/

Madagascar's commitment to the Convention on Biological Diversity (Rio, 1992) and its longstanding adhesion to nature conventions generally (e.g. Africa Convention 1968, Ramsar 1971, CITES 1973, Bonn 1979, Nairobi 1985) has undoubtedly encouraged international investments in biodiversity conservation in Madagascar; thus, compliance with these treaties carries an economic value as well as a reputational benefit within the community of nations. Assuming conservation investments of \$1 billion over 30 years from 1990 to 2020, biodiversity conservation in Madagascar has generated benefits on average of **\$33.3 million annually** (about 0.23% of GDP in 2019) (or about \$35.7 million annually in 2021 dollars).

International reputation and access to international trade and finance

Large scale loss of nature can damage a country's international reputation and result in reduced access to international trade and finance. Following the upsurge of deforestation in Brazil, negotiations of the EU's Mercosur trade deal (with Argentina, Brazil, Paraguay and Uruguay) have been stalled, with the potential loss to Brazil of trade worth \$122 billion annually.³¹⁴ Whereas Madagascar has attracted investment in the past based on its reputation for nature, recent rises in deforestation and illegal logging (which more than doubled following the 2009 political crisis and are not being dealt with effectively by the government) endanger Madagascar's international reputation and could affect its ability to secure international investment. In 2010, the Antsinanana humid forest World Heritage site was placed on the danger list by UNESCO where it still remained in 2018 despite Madagascar's request to have the site removed from the danger list³¹⁵. Following Madagascar's commitment to halting deforestation at COP26, continued uncontrolled deforestation of Menabe and Ankarafantsika are likely to weaken Madagascar's credibility at COP15 of the CBD in China in 2022 and beyond.

Bioprospection values – the wider evidence

Bioprospection, or the identification of bioactive compounds within plants and animals useful as pharmaceutical compounds, is of potential economic importance. Twenty-five percent of drugs used in modern medicine are derived from rainforest plants while 70% of cancer drugs are natural or synthetic products inspired by nature. In the past 70 years, approximately 75% of approved anti-tumour pharmaceuticals have been non-synthetic, with 49% being wholly natural products or directly derived therefrom. So far, only 15% of an estimated 300,000 plant species in the world have been evaluated to determine their pharmacological potential. Yet, according to some estimates, we are already losing one potential major drug every two years as a result of species extinction³¹⁶.

Madagascar has been an important country for bioprospection since the 1950s which has resulted in several patents taken out by the Malagasy Institute of Applied Research (IMRA)³¹⁷. A well-known example of medicinal plant is the Madagascar periwinkle *Cataranthus roseus* which contains compounds used in the treatment of childhood leukaemia, and which has been estimated to generate \$100 million annually in recent times, although with no benefit to Madagascar³¹⁸. Bioprospection has been identified as a priority in the national biodiversity strategy³¹⁹ but capturing benefits from bioprospection is challenging, and neither laws nor mechanisms for benefit capture are in place.

Only two bioprospection contracts have been negotiated, both of a limited 5-year duration, for the protected areas of Zahamena (1999) and Ranomfana (2005). The major benefit reported for these contracts has been scientific cooperation, with other benefits being very limited and with no

³¹⁴ WEF 2021

³¹⁵ https://whc.unesco.org/en/soc/3816/

³¹⁶ WEF 2021

³¹⁷ Raharinirina 2009

³¹⁸ Boisvert 2003

³¹⁹ Ministère de l'Environnement 2005

distribution to local communities³²⁰. Each agreement included a capital investment (Zahamena \$200,000 over 5 years, Ranomafana \$260,000 over 5 years). Spreading the capital investments over the period since signature gives an annual benefit of about \$17,000, although this underestimates the gross expenditures for which data are not available. We have specifically included these contracts in our estimate of national benefits from biodiversity in protected areas (see above). However, it is clear that these bioprospection agreements offer relatively modest benefits from PAs (less than \$1/ha/yr).

Reducing risks of extinction

Because of Madagascar's great importance for biodiversity, investments in conservation can yield significant dividends in reducing the risk of extinction of species. IUCN, together with other institutions, has recently developed the STAR (Species Threat Abatement and Restoration) indicator which is designed to provide a measurable outcome from biodiversity extinction investments³²¹. Such an indicator will attract investors to countries offering the highest returns on investments in terms of species extinction. Through a functional PA network, Madagascar would be well placed to benefit from such investments, which represents a substantial opportunity value for the country, assuming that it is able to effectively conserve its protected areas.

Documentary films on nature

The production of documentary films on nature is another significant economic activity generated by Madagascar's protected areas, most of which provides enjoyment for television viewers worldwide, but some of which generates value within Madagascar's economy.

The largest single producer of films about Madagascar's natural history is the BBC in the UK, mainly through its well-reputed Natural History Film Unit which is frequently contracted by other organisations. Using UK-based film industry consultants, we conducted a search of databases of natural history films made by the BBC and other entities, identifying 58 films made since 1961, including 34 films made by the BBC or BBC-associated entities and 24 films made by various other producers.³²² While just four films were made between 1960 and 1979, 54 films have been made since 1980 (40 years), or an average of 1.35 films annually.

Film making involves significant expenditure in country. One of the BBC documentaries included a 3part series on tropical islands, one of which was filmed in Madagascar over a period of 18 months in 2018-2019, at a cost of about \$300,000 (£250,000). The film crews spent over 100 days shooting at 9 protected areas and 47% of the budget was spent in country or about \$150,000, considered by the BBC personnel consulted to be higher than average for wildlife films, the more typical rate being 25%. ³²³ Given a film team size of 5 persons (not counting ancillary workers – fixer, drivers, porters and transport costs), each spending 100 days in country, film crew expenditure appears to be \$55/day which is closely similar to tourism daily expenditure (also estimated at one third of \$165 or \$55/day).³²⁴

In addition to films identified through BBC channels, we identified 8 major films made by NHK, the Japanese television company, which were also high budget productions, making a total of 66 known films since 1980 (1.65 films annually). If one assumes a conservative production cost of \$250,000 per film (in today's US\$), this represents an investment of about \$16.5 million over 40 years, or \$412,500 annually of which an estimated 25% or \$103,125 will have been spent in-country. Overall, we estimate

³²⁰ Raharinirina 2009

³²¹ Mair et al 2021

³²² BBC and other sources, unpublished data

³²³ BBC, unpublished data and production personnel, pers. comms

³²⁴ World Bank/PIC 2012

that natural history films made in Madagascar's protected areas generate at least \$412,500 of investment in the global economy and \$103,125 in the national economy every year.

Apart from in country-expenditure, direct benefits in Madagascar from film making appear to be limited. Indeed, data from other countries also appear to confirm that direct revenues from film-making such as fees, are insignificant³²⁵. Benefits to the global economy, however, are significant. The widespread international broadcasting of the more successful films on national and international TV networks generates significant economic value for the global economy.

Films made in protected areas also generate economic benefits and human well-being globally. Natural history/nature documentary films for television play constantly around the world providing inspiring images of nature and wildlife to millions of television viewers.³²⁶ Such benefits help to promote Madagascar's brand for its unique nature and, while difficult to measure in monetary terms, undoubtedly help to drive Madagascar's nature-based tourism industry and add value to Madagascar's protected area network.

Feature films and animations on Madagascar's nature

Finally, Madagascar's biodiversity has inspired several fictional feature films and animations, most notable of which is the *Madagascar* series of animations produced by Dreamworks. The *Madagascar* franchise films of Dreamworks have generated \$2.26 billion in revenues over 15 years, or an average of about \$150m annually and have been highly profitable, with a production cost of only \$502 million.³²⁷ While such films may contribute little to the economy of Madagascar, such films certainly reinforce Madagascar's unique image and popularity (and thus increase tourism).

Spiritual, intrinsic and moral values of protected areas

Nature and protected areas can be an important source of spiritual fulfilment or religious values which can be considered as benefits to society. In fact, most societies find sacredness in nature or natural sites, such as groves or forests. Societies also see intrinsic worth in nature, and even that nature has moral standing or personality.³²⁸

The importance of spiritual values of key biodiversity areas and protected areas in Madagascar was confirmed by a national workshop in 2014 which identified protected areas as important for cultural and spiritual identity.³²⁹ Such values are manifested in the many sacred forests and local taboos that have resulted in the conservation of nature, such as the protected areas of the Analavelona sacred forest and Zombitse-Vohibasia national park, both sites which have remained protected for many years as a result of their sacred status for local populations of the Bara culture.³³⁰ While it is difficult or inappropriate to place a monetary value on such benefits, they have indirect economic consequences in human well-being.

The special case of spiritual values

It should be emphasized that *spiritual* values for some, including several traditional communities in Madagascar, are of greater importance than any monetary value. Similar to spiritual values are *existence* values, whereby the international and national public derive enjoyment from Madagascar's nature and protected areas, merely from the *knowledge of their existence*. It is the existence values

³²⁵ World Bank 2021

³²⁶ Fernandez-Bellon & Kane 2019

³²⁷ https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Madagascar_(franchise): consulted 14.01.21

³²⁸ Dasgupta 2021

³²⁹ Neugarten et al 2020

³³⁰ Goodman et al 2018

that drive much of the international interest and investment in Madagascar, and its international brand and reputation. In contrast, if Madagascar were to allow its unique nature to be lost, such existence values might turn to sorrow or anger and Madagascar's image and reputation could turn into one of destruction or tragedy and be tarnished indefinitely.

Costs of protected area management

Opportunity costs of protected areas in Madagascar

Conservation interventions originally tended to assume that conservation will inevitably contribute to poverty alleviation at the local scale³³¹. However, there is a considerable body of evidence showing that the interests of conservation and local communities do not always align and that conservation can bring significant local costs as well as benefits.³³² Indeed, some of the costs of conservation are born by Madagascar's poorest people³³³ and opportunity costs have been estimated to be as much as \$100³³⁴ or even \$300-1400 per household.³³⁵ Restrictions of access to forest foods can also have significant negative nutritional impacts,³³⁶ leading to suggestions that forest conservation for local populations.³³⁷

Options for compensating opportunity costs

Many governments recognize the importance of benefit-sharing mechanisms to garner local support for protected areas, but even established mechanisms may fail to deliver benefits for reasons including, but not limited to (i) excessive bureaucratic processes, (ii) poorly designed mechanisms in which benefits do not off-set costs of conservation, are low, or are captured by elites, or (iii) lack of agreement on means of disbursement and recipients.³³⁸ It is also important to note that benefits of living around protected areas accrue collectively, while costs are borne by individual households.³³⁹

The present study has shown that the economic benefits of protected areas are substantially greater when measured at the global economic scale, than at the national and local scales. This reflects the high value placed by the international community on climate regulation and biodiversity conservation, and the global nature of tourism, whereby about 60% of tourist expenditures, such as airline tickets and agency payments, are captured outside the national economy.

On the other hand, the study shows that the economic contributions generated at the national and local scales can be of similar magnitude. However, from other studies there is also abundant evidence that the economic benefits of protected areas are not equitably distributed at the local level. Numerous attempts have been made to address this gap but with limited success.³⁴⁰

One mechanism which has been deployed is the sharing of park admission fees with local communities for the complementation of development projects, or DEAP (*droit d'entrée aux aires protégées*). DEAPs generated as much as \$900,000/yr on average from 2003 and 2013, with a peak in 2008 of \$1.5 million, of which 50% were designated for local community projects.³⁴¹ While DEAPs could be considered a

³³¹ Freudenberger 2010

³³² Jones et al 2021

³³³ Poudyal et al 2018

³³⁴ Brimont 2014

³³⁵ World Bank 2013; Ferraro 2002; Hockley & Razafindralambo 2006; Shyamsundar & Kramer 1996 & 1997

³³⁶ Borgerson 2020

³³⁷ Rasolofoson 2020

³³⁸ Spenceley et al 2019 referred to in World Bank 2021

³³⁹ Munanura et al 2016 referred to in World Bank 2021

³⁴⁰ Jones et al 2021

³⁴¹ World Bank 2013

progressive measure at the time, such a system deprives MNP of revenues critical for the management of protected areas. DEAPs also depend on tourist visitors which have dropped to low levels during political crises and to zero since COVID, while community opportunity costs remain the same. The sharing of DEAP revenues is therefore not a stable or sustainable option for compensating opportunity costs.

The highest protected area values we have identified in the present study at the national level of economic sectors include energy (\$14.5-43.50/ha/yr), tourism (\$38-156/ha/yr), agriculture (\$22/ha/yr³⁴²) and carbon storage (6.5-8.6/ha/yr) (with higher values recorded locally for energy and tourism in some cases). These can be compared for their suitability in compensating for local opportunity costs.

Carbon storage benefits offer long-term potential for the generation of substantial revenues and have the great advantage of applying to forested sites in all regions. While considerable investment will be needed in redistribution mechanisms to enable benefit transfer to forest edge communities helping to protect the forests, there is little need for investment in physical infrastructure to capture benefits, as would be required for energy, agriculture or tourism. However, international carbon markets are volatile and no effective mechanism is yet in place in Madagascar under REDD+ to ensure the sharing of such benefits with local communities in return for forest conservation³⁴³.

An advantage of *agricultural benefits* is that they have application and socioeconomic relevance around most protected areas, but their value is difficult to calculate or attribute, given the multiple services (water, soil erosion, pollination etc.), types of land use and actors involved. Plus, in the case of water for irrigation, significant physical investments in water extraction, containment and canalisation may be needed. The willingness of low-income small-scale farmers to pay for water provision or soil erosion control is limited³⁴⁴, while agribusiness is insufficiently developed in most regions to serve as a significant source of payments for ecosystem services.

Energy and tourism might therefore seem to offer a better prospect for redistributing benefits to communities at the local level in return for their support to forest conservation. However, while hydroelectric energy producers could theoretically pay land users upstream compensation for maintaining forest cover to reduce energy production costs, the approach has encountered difficulty due to the unwillingness of the state-owned energy company, JIRAMA, to make the necessary payments.³⁴⁵ There are some indications that private energy producers would be willing to consider supporting forest conservation in upstream catchments, so this avenue should not be abandoned³⁴⁶

In normal circumstances, *tourism* might appear a better source of value to compensate opportunity costs, in part because it reflects more accurately the purpose of protected area creation (global biodiversity conservation in response to an international existence value for Madagascar's biodiversity)³⁴⁸, and the proven willingness of relatively wealthy tourists deriving enjoyment from biodiversity to make contributions to the local community in return for conservation³⁴⁹. However,

 ³⁴² Considered an underestimate because of the anomalously low purchasing power of the USD in Madagascar in 2003
³⁴³ Brimont et al 2015; Poudyal et al 2018

³⁴⁴ World Bank 2017 (PADAP document)

³⁴⁵ Jones et al 2021

³⁴⁶ NEHO 2019

³⁴⁷ Tozzi Green 2021

³⁴⁸ Neugarten et al 2020

³⁴⁹ Kramer et al 1995

tourism in Madagascar is vulnerable to political and security events and the COVID pandemic has caused a total suspension of all tourism. There is also an apprehension that the risk of further pandemics or greenhouse gas emission limits on international air travel may hinder or prevent full tourism recovery. In any event, other research has shown that compensation mechanisms need to be formalized if community support of protected areas is to be maintained.³⁵⁰

In conclusion, the capture and distribution of benefits from protected areas must evolve in the context of national and jurisdictional landscape approaches in which ecosystem-service delivery of protected areas and the distribution of benefits from those services is optimized in response to the national and local context.

Direct cost of maintaining protected areas

The first estimate of protected area management costs was made by Carret & Loyer (2004) for their assessment of the costs and benefits of the protected area network, who calculated an actual cost of \$3/ha/yr for the 41 parks managed by MNP. A later study commissioned by the World Bank, following the Durban initiative, projected that costs for maintaining the then SAPM network of 122 protected areas (then covering 7,081,526 ha, including new protected areas), would rise to \$42,947,958 or \$6.06/ha/yr by 2015.³⁵¹ Data from the FAPBM which record the budgeted management costs reported by PA managers in 2020 yield an average figure of \$16.32/ha/yr)³⁵². Given that the FAPBM figures include investment costs for certain sites as well as recurrent costs and include several small PAs with relatively high management costs per ha, the true recurrent cost is likely to lie somewhere between \$6 and \$16.32. For the purposes of this paper, we have assumed an average annual cost of \$10/ha/yr or \$76 million/yr for the entire network.

A review of PA management expenditure undertaken for the MEDD in 2020 estimated the distribution of costs between conservation and restoration (22%), sustainable development (32%), improved governance and participation (11%), climate change mitigation (8%) and PA administration (27%).³⁵³ It is important to note that the \$10/ha/yr for recurrent costs does not include investment costs, such as in green or grey infrastructure, or transactional investments needed to establish benefit sharing mechanisms (such as REDD+ or payment for ecosystem services schemes). Part of the investment needed to reverse the current trend of biodiversity loss, which has been estimated at 8% of GDP per country³⁵⁴, will need to be directed to investments to reinforce existing protected areas and their surrounding landscapes. Another recent estimate of the cost of halting biodiversity loss is highly optimistic, suggesting than an additional annual investment of just 0.1% of GDP (which would be about \$15 million in Madagascar's case) may be sufficient.³⁵⁵ However, this is a global average, and probably not representative for high biodiversity developing countries like Madagascar, where the cost of stabilising biodiversity losses would certainly be higher.

According to at least one report, protected area management costs are primarily correlated with PA size, IUCN PA category and tourism development, but not correlated with level of threat or ecosystem type.³⁵⁶ Analysis of data from FAPBM suggests that the correlation with PA size is not linear. Protected areas become markedly more costly to manage per hectare for sites smaller than about 30000 ha. Conversely, costs per hectare change little for sites more than 100,000 ha. Between these limits, costs

- ³⁵¹ Agreco 2012
- ³⁵² FAPBM 2021
- ³⁵³ MEDD 2020
- 354 Dasgupta 2021
- ³⁵⁵ UN 2021

³⁵⁰ World Bank 2021

³⁵⁶ Agreco 2012

per hectare appear highly variable (Fig 11). The experience of FAPBM also indicates that costs can be affected by level of threat, as evidenced by numerous special intervention funds (FIS) issued to help project area managers address unanticipated threats such as fires, charcoal making, logging, illegal mining or maize farming incursions.



Fig 11 – Management cost per hectare according to protected area size in ha (Source: FAPBM unpublished data) (a logarithmic scale is used on the y-axis to facilitate appreciation of the relationship)

Costs of inaction and degradation

Globally between 1997 and 2011 the world lost an estimated \$4-20 trillion per year in ecosystem services owing to land-cover change and \$6-11 trillion per year from land degradation³⁵⁷. A study by WWF in 2020 estimated that the annual loss from not conserving biodiversity would amount to \$US9.87 trillion globally by 2050, or an average annual loss of \$330 billion over 30 years).

Countries will also suffer economic losses if they do not meet internationally agreed biodiversity conservation targets. In 2008 the Biodiversity Convention commissioned a first estimate of the annual cost of not meeting biodiversity targets which were estimated to be 7% of GDP.³⁵⁸ Translated to the Madagascar context this would mean a loss of \$778 million/yr in 2021 USD, very similar to the more recent WWF study³⁵⁹ that estimated the loss of not meeting the biodiversity targets to be 5.56% of GDP (or about \$840 million annually). The study was reviewed and reinforced by MIT.³⁶⁰

The costs of inaction to Madagascar are considered to be especially high. In its global report on biodiversity risks for six developing countries using data from 2010, WWF estimated that the cost of biodiversity loss to Madagascar would be 4.2% of GDP annually in a 'Business-as-Usual' scenario (or about \$400 million annually in 2010 US dollars). Madagascar was assessed as suffering the greatest

³⁵⁹ WWF 2020

³⁵⁷ Costanza et al 2014

³⁵⁸ Braat et al 2008

³⁶⁰ https://web.mit.edu/12.000/www/m2015/2015/inaction.html

cost in all scenarios, but also had the most to gain from addressing biodiversity loss effectively, such as by maintaining and strengthening its protected areas.³⁶¹

A more recent study by the World Bank, based on data from 2018, estimates that nature loss in Madagascar in a business-as-usual scenario will result in a 19.9% annual loss in GDP by 2030 (or about \$3 billion/yr based on GDP for 2019).³⁶² In particular, nature loss would reduce the production of ecosystem-dependent sectors by 23%, reduce crop production by 33% and reverse GDP growth entirely, making it the most severely affected of all countries studied. The declines in ecosystem-dependent sectors would have knock-on effects on other sectors, causing losses of 55% in manufacturing and 19% in service sectors.³⁶³

It is sometimes suggested that while the loss of nature may cause losses, the economic benefits of alternative scenarios such as converting remaining forests to agriculture or logging, would be greater. However, the scientific literature has demonstrated that the benefits of conserving nature are almost always greater than the benefits of converting it to other uses.³⁶⁴ In large part this is because conversion of natural ecosystems is generally irreversible, such that all benefits of an intact ecosystem are lost when it is converted to a non-natural use.

Experience of other countries

During the course of the work, we conducted literature research into the experience of other countries. Such experience helps to understand the potential economic contribution of protected areas in the Madagascar context, and how greater value could be generated from Madagascar's protected area system.

It is important to appreciate that many other countries share similar challenges to Madagascar and have undertaken or facilitated economic valuations of their ecosystems, forests and protected areas, in some cases highlighting the large economic contributions of protected areas. Much useful information about other countries was found in the Dasgupta review³⁶⁵ and the extensive range of publications which we have considered. Other information was found on official websites or in publications, including peer reviewed publications. We present here a small selection of case studies from four countries - Costa Rica, Rwanda, Uganda and China.³⁶⁶

Costa Rica (2014 \$)

Cost Rica is a biodiversity 'hyper-hotspot' with 4' of the world's species on just 51,000 km² of land surface (Madagascar has 5% but on 595,000 km²). Costa Rica has 160 protected areas (compared to Madagascar's 126) covering 13%. Forest cover remains very high at 52%. Economically, Costa Rica is a relatively rich country (with a GDP of \$61 billion generated by 5 million inhabitants, or \$11,700 per capita). Since 1990, Costa Rica has effectively combined protected areas, innovative payments for ecosystem services, and strict enforcement to achieve conservation targets related to biodiversity protection, hydrological services, and carbon sequestration, among others.³⁶⁷ In 2014, annual expenditure on biodiversity was \$250 million (equivalent to \$50/ha/year or 0.4% of GDP) which can be compared with Madagascar's current expenditure of about \$52-60 million/yr (about 0.4% GNP). Costa

³⁶¹ WWF 2020

³⁶² World Bank 2021b.

³⁶³ World Bank 2021

³⁶⁴ Bradbury et al 2021.

³⁶⁵ Dasgupta 2021

³⁶⁶ **Note:** a case study from a fifth country, Australia, on the Great Barrier Reef marine park, has been included above in the section on marine protected areas.

³⁶⁷ Whitmee et al 2015

Rica has reported positive impacts to local communities around the entry gates of protected areas³⁶⁸ but the economic impacts of protected areas *per se* have not been systematically valued.

Rwanda (2019)

Rwanda is one of Africa's smallest countries (26,338 km²) with the highest population density in Africa. Rwanda has 3 national parks including the Volcanoes Park which is famous for its mountain gorillas. The gorilla parks have been estimated to generate \$200 million annually in foreign exchange.³⁶⁹ In 2019 Rwanda derived a direct income of \$19.2 million/year from gorilla tourism alone (through awarding 15,000 permits per year). In Rwanda tourists spend anything between \$1000 and \$12,000 per person per visit to the country depending on their income level and choice of products. Apart from the gorillas, about 50,000 visitors visit the Akagera 'Park 'or the 'big 5' large mammals. Overall, Rwanda generates on average \$1250/ha/year from all its three parks from tourism.

Rwanda has also undertaken economic evaluation of its green growth strategy includes investment in reforestation around protected. Despite successful economic growth and poverty reduction (from 59 to 38%), Rwanda suffered large declines in the value of key ecosystem services (erosion mitigation, climate change mitigation and water provisioning services) in the period 1990-2015. To address this, Rwanda embarked on a green growth strategy with a focus on forestry and agriculture sectors. The economic outcomes of different land-use scenarios were evaluated, including the plantation of forests (mainly around its national parks), promotion of fuel-efficient stoves, increased irrigation, fertiliser use and combinations of these. The report showed that expanded forest cover (in Rwanda's case around national parks) has the potential to mitigate impacts of increased water consumption as well as enhancing erosion mitigation and nutrient uptake, important for green growth.³⁷⁰

Uganda (2004)

Uganda has historically taken a strong economic interest in its diverse forests. In 2003, Uganda conducted an economic evaluation of its forests and their ecosystem services, whose value at the time was estimated at \$317 million per year or 5.2% of GDP (which for 2002 was about \$6 billion). The total area of forests was 4.9 million hectares, corresponding to a value of about **\$65/ha/year** (Table 14) in 2003 dollars. The authors consider the value to be an **underestimation** due to underreporting of livelihood benefits and underestimation of watershed values.

The relatively high value of erosion protection (45%) and the relatively low value for biodiversity option values are particularly noteworthy. The high value of erosion prevention was derived from the important benefits of forests in providing water for agriculture, and conversely the high negative impacts of deforestation on agriculture as a result of soil loss and sedimentation. The low value of the biodiversity option value arose from the limited evidence for the economic benefits of medicinal plants or bioprospection. Uganda's tourism economy is little developed, and values for nature-based tourism in forests or protected areas were therefore not considered in the study.³⁷¹

Hydrological protection	27%
Carbon storage	25%
Biodiversity (option value, e.g. plants)	3%

Table 14 – Uganda's forests	- relative ecosystem service	values (Source: Bush et al 2004)
-----------------------------	------------------------------	----------------------------------

³⁶⁸ Robelino & Villalobos 2015

³⁶⁹ Maekawa et al 2003

³⁷⁰ Bannerjee et al 2019

³⁷¹ Bush et al 2004

Soil conservation (erosion prevention)	45%
TOTAL	100%

China (2020)

Following a series of natural disasters in the 1990s culminating in flooding of the Yangste due to deforestation, killing 3600 people and flooding 5 million ha costing \$36 bn, China introduced the 'ecological civilisation' into its constitution and invested in Payment for Ecosystem Service (PES) schemes. By 2012, working mainly through rural households, the country had invested \$66 bn (at current exchange rates) in reducing soil erosion, reforestation of 30 million hectares and reducing flood risk, sequestering carbon, and reducing soil erosion and flood risk. For a country of 9.6 million km², this represents an investment of \$68.75/ha (for the entire investment period of >10 years). (Madagascar's investment over a similar period was \$450-500 million or \$7.5 - \$8.3/ha).³⁷²

As part of this process, China developed an environmental accounting process known as 'Gross Ecosystem Product' (GEP) allowing it to measure the economic benefits of environmental restoration and conservation. To pilot the GEP process, China used one of its largest (but also one of its poorest and least populated and rural) provinces Qinghai (at 720,000km², a slightly greater area than Madagascar but with a population of only about 6 million).

From 2000 to 2010, ecosystem assessments were undertaken throughout Qinghai which measured the state of health of ecosystems and the provision of ecosystem services from those ecosystems. Using satellite images, soil & hydrological measurement and thousands of field surveys, the province was able to measure an overall improvement in ecosystem service provision over the 10-year period, from between 5% and 40% depending on the ecosystem service (although it should be noted that in the same period, the availability of habitat for biodiversity declined by just under 5%, highlighting the need to include measures such as protected areas to maintain habitats important for biodiversity).³⁷³

The Qinghai province then used economic valuation methods such as avoided cost, direct cost, tourism expenditure and market pricing to measure the change in monetary value of ecosystem services over an extended period of 2000-2015. Ecosystem services considered included provisioning services (agriculture, livestock, fisheries, forestry, nursery production), regulating services (soil retention, sandstorm prevention, flood mitigation, air & water purification and carbon storage) and cultural services (ecotourism). Through these techniques it was demonstrated that the restoration and conservation measures implemented had resulted more than a doubling (127%) in ecosystem service values in Qinghai province between 2000 and 2015, and that Qinghai's GDP of \$4.2 billion for 2015.³⁷⁴ Water ecosystem services accounted for about 60% of all services, highlighting the high value of water services (which protected areas are especially good for as we have seen for Madagascar).

DISCUSSION

The evidence assembled confirms the valuable economic contributions of Madagascar's protected area network to the global, national and local economies.

³⁷² World Bank 2013

³⁷³ Ouyang et al 2016

³⁷⁴ Ouyang et al 2020

The evidence suggests that global economic contribution of Madagascar's PA network greatly exceeds (by as much as 25-50 times) the benefits that are captured at the national level. The evidence for the value of global benefits is mostly indirect and depends on extrapolation from high level international studies on the global impacts of climate change and biodiversity loss, or assumptions about international willingness to pay for climate action and biodiversity conservation. COP26 did not result in any clear recognition of the value of protected areas or of the scale of commitment towards their financing. The global quantum of willingness to pay for protected areas and their perceived value should become clearer as the Global Biodiversity Framework (GBF) is developed and adopted at CBD COP15. What is clear, however, is that the benefits of protected areas go way beyond the level of financing provided by governments and NGOs and that new sources of finance are needed.

At national level, certain economic contributions are more precisely measurable, particularly for tourism, energy and for the international finance that Madagascar receives for biodiversity and forest conservation. However, economic data on the direct benefits of ecosystem services from PAs for the national economy, especially for agriculture and fisheries, are limited and allow only a partial estimation of the benefits. While there is evidence for significant health and well-being benefits of protected areas, economic data are lacking to allow their evaluation in monetary terms. Thus, the values estimated for terrestrial PAs should be regarded as conservative. For marine protected areas, available data are limited to baseline fisheries assessments, global tourism data and visitor data for a single MPA (Tanikely) and the evaluation of benefits can be considered only as a first approximation. Even so, when this incomplete set of national economic contributions is summated, the national benefits substantially outweigh the costs of managing the protected area network by a factor of several times, supporting the prima facie case that maintaining the protected areas network provides a substantial net national economic benefit for Madagascar.

Drilling down further to the local level, through the case studies, we find that the local economic contributions from protected areas can be substantial, approaching or sometimes even exceeding those measurable based on available data at national level (when measured in \$US/ha/yr). Local PA values are also diverse and show a very high variance. In particular, the measurable benefits of PAs perceived by local farmers for agriculture, soil erosion control, water supply or non-timber forests products tend to be small compared to sector-level benefits (such as from tourism or hydro-electric energy) and to be of a similar order of magnitude to, or even less than, the *opportunity costs* experienced by local communities whose access to natural resources in the PA is restricted or excluded. This confirms the findings of many previous studies that the costs and benefits of PAs must be redistributed to ensure the full support of local communities to conservation. Even so, the gross economic benefits of PAs at the local level can be substantially greater than the management costs, indicating that with effective redistribution, there is a strong economic case at the local level for maintaining protected areas.

We were able to assemble a robust set of data on the costs of managing protected areas. Long assumed to be about \$3/ha/yr, from studies by the World Bank in 2003 (based on the network as it was before the Durban Initiative), a substantial study commissioned by the World Bank in 2012, which took account of the full range of PA costs, doubled the estimate to over \$6/ha/yr. Complemented by studies on MPAs and data on real management costs experienced by MNP and FAPBM (which range from \$6 to \$16/ha/yr), we have estimated the average PA management cost at \$10/ha/yr for all PAs (terrestrial and marine). While the management costs are considerably higher than had often been assumed, the ratio of economic benefit to management cost of protected areas remains robust at all levels – global (96-118:1), national (3.0-4.7:1 for terrestrial only, rising to 5.8-7.5 when MPAs are included) and local (an impressive 8.7-11.3:1).

The evidence points to the existence of a range of important socio-economic benefits of PAs which are not readily measurable in monetary terms but which are substantial. Of particular importance are the health benefits, with strong scientific evidence for reduced child mortality, better child health and reduced stunting in children living around protected areas, based on work by Malagasy and international scientists. There is also a growing body of evidence linking deforestation to outbreaks of plague and malaria and dengue fever in humans, and of livestock diseases. Continued ecological disturbance of protected areas will add to these risks. Also of great importance is Madagascar's international reputation as a country which harbours extraordinary nature. The experience of Brazil shows that national environmental reputation can be rapidly damaged by anti-environmental leadership and result in the loss of access to international finance for development and trade. Madagascar's reputation for nature conservation is strongly reinforced by natural history films which are broadcast around the world. While such films undoubtedly encourage ecotourism, the effect is difficult to quantify economically.

Even though it may appear somewhat trivial, animations such as the *Madagascar* series by Dreamworks, in part based on the biodiversity found in PAs, help to build Madagascar's reputation for unique nature in the minds of millions of young people around the world. Finally, numerous protected areas contain sacred sites of local importance for spiritual values, upon which one should never place a monetary value but which contribute to local well-being. Similarly, the Malagasy urban middle class increasingly gains benefits in well-being from Madagascar's protected areas, likely to become a growing trend.

In undertaking this study, we have amassed evidence on the distribution of economic benefits from Madagascar's protected areas. The report confirms, as has so often been maintained by Malagasy decision makers and other stakeholders, that the world enjoys substantially greater benefits from Madagascar's protected areas than Madagascar itself. While the incremental transformation and summation of economic value is the feature of any value chain, the evidence suggests a remarkable disparity of as much as 25-50 fold between the value of Madagascar's forests and biodiversity to the world and the benefits captured within Madagascar's economy. Capture of benefits from maintaining forest cover, in particular through REDD+, is minimal compared with the global benefit provided.

While conservation NGOs were originally conceived for the purpose of mobilising the civilian willingness of rich countries to pay for global conservation, as a complement to support provided by governments and international agencies, experience shows that NGOs and their supporters can only account for a small percentage of the resources needed for the conservation of PAs. This highlights not only the critical importance of increased support from the international community but also the engagement of the private sector in protected area finance.

At the national and local levels the disparities are less marked. Indeed, well positioned and well managed protected areas, such as Ranomafana, can generate substantial benefits to the local economy, but it can take decades for benefit capture and redistribution mechanisms to develop sufficiently to incentivise local communities to conserve the forest. Where protected areas are directly engaged in ecosystem service provision, such as wetlands where natural productivities are high, large local economic benefits can be provided, highlighting that ecosystem service provision can be a vital and valuable economic role for PAs to play where it is compatible with biodiversity conservation.

While the evidence for the positive gross economic contributions of protected areas may appear almost overwhelming, the evidence also shows that on the local scale, opportunity costs to local communities may be high or even severe, amounting in some cases to the entire household monetary income in the case of terrestrial PAs or, in the case of protected mangroves in MPAs, more than the total value of mangrove fisheries upon which the community depends. All this points to the critical need for a management focus on ecosystem service delivery (where compatible with biodiversity conservation) and much greater emphasis on effective benefit redistribution.

Finally, based on a limited review of experience from other countries (Costa Rica, Rwanda, Uganda and China) the evidence demonstrates that Madagascar compares quite favourably in the economic contribution of its protected areas, but that it compares unfavourably with other countries in the level of expenditure on biodiversity conservation and protected areas. Rwanda's experience suggests that Madagascar could do more to generate revenues from tourism from its PAs, while Costa Rica's suggests that other economic benefits from PAs may be sufficient without tourism revenues to justify supporting an extensive PAs network. Uganda's experience highlights the very high value of erosion protection for agriculture, suggesting more should be done to demonstrate the biophysical linkages between PAs and agriculture in Madagascar. China's experience highlights the great advantage of taking an ecosystem services approach, suggesting that Madagascar's PAs need to develop ecosystem service provision and monitoring, especially of hydrological services, as a key management function.

CONCLUSION

Madagascar's protected areas network makes substantial economic contributions globally, nationally and locally, through the provision of a range of ecosystem services. At the global level, the benefit to the global community appears many times greater than the economic benefits Madagascar is currently able to capture through international conservation finance, NGOs, private investment or through the 'ecosystem dividend' from the services that PAs provide in support of the national economy. Nationally, it is evident that PAs already make significant economic contributions which exceed management costs by a factor of several times but these contributions vary greatly between PAs. Such contributions could be increased with better PA management, benefit capture and reinforcing management orientation towards ecosystem service maintenance and delivery in addition to biodiversity conservation. Locally, the case studies have shown that local economic benefits from PAs are highly variable, but that where PAs are well positioned, or contain productive ecosystems, or are popular for tourism, the benefits can easily outweigh the costs of management by many times. With appropriate redistribution of benefits, working in partnership with other actors in the local landscape, such PAs should be self-sustaining. In conclusion, Madagascar should adopt a 3-level PA policy focusing on 1) better advocacy to secure additional finance at the international level, 2) optimisation of the PA network for ecosystem service support to the economy at national level and 3) context specific management strategies at the level of each PA and surrounding landscape to optimise ecosystem service delivery and benefit distribution to secure the support of local communities for biodiversity conservation.

RECOMMENDATIONS

International action and response

The study has generated recommendations requiring international action or response by Madagascar:

• In global forums Madagascar must advocate for an increased international contribution to its protected areas system which is proportionate to the global benefits that Madagascar's PA network delivers.

- In particular, Madagascar needs to leverage increasing amounts of international private and blended finance through the high returns that Madagascar can offer in extinction risk reduction using the new STAR indicator.
- To justify the requests for increased international support, the Government must demonstrate its commitment by reinforcing the management and extent of its PA network, giving priority to conserving forests and halting deforestation.
- Madagascar also needs to promote innovative financing mechanisms and diversify funding sources for its protected areas to increase the resilience of its PA network and encourage investments in the network.
- Madagascar should actively prepare a reinforced updated strategy for its protected areas system for presentation at the next conference of the parties of the Biodiversity Convention (CBP COP15) together with an associated National Biodiversity Finance Plan (NBFP).
- Madagascar needs to make renewed efforts to develop realistic policies and mechanisms for the effective capture of benefits from bioprospection, especially in its protected areas.
- The price of carbon per ton of \$5/tCO2eq used for the purposes of the REDD+ programme is insufficient and must be increased very substantially if REDD+ is to make a significant contribution to forest conservation in Madagascar.
- Following the global COVID19 crisis, Madagascar must respond by more strongly promoting its unique ecotourism product internationally while also adopting policies and strategies to encourage national and residential nature-based tourism based on its protected areas.

Management of the PA network

The study has generated numerous recommendations relating to the objectives and strategies for the management of the PA network and individual protected areas:

At the national level, Madagascar should maintain, improve and extend its protected areas network in order to maximize biodiversity conservation and the delivery of ecosystem services by PAs in ways that support the national economy. In addition:

- Protected Area Management policy should be explicitly framed around biodiversity conservation <u>and</u> the provision of ecosystem services including the development of value chains providing economic benefit to affected communities
- The network and its constituent protected areas should be progressively optimised and expanded to deliver greater benefits through ecosystem services while ensuring the conservation of Madagascar's unique and threatened biodiversity.
- The delivery and monitoring of ecosystem services with appropriate economic indicators should become an integral component of the management of all protected areas, including New Protected Areas. Local communities and households must be encouraged to participate actively in ecosystem service delivery.
- Based on the data gathered, there should be an annual or periodic review of the economic contributions of Madagascar's protected areas as well as lessons learned to ensure progressive optimisation of benefit generation and capture by the PA network.
- Ecosystem Service identification, optimisation and benefit distribution should be integrated into the standard management plan (PAG) and safeguard plan (PSSE) templates for PAs and as a complement to the annual evaluation tool (METT)
- Protected area managers in collaboration with national and local authorities must proactively explore ways in which the economic benefits of PAs are more equitably distributed between

national and local levels with a view to eliminating, reducing or compensating for the opportunity costs of PAs at the level of local households.

- Mechanisms adapted to the local context should be developed for each protected area to optimise the capture of benefits by the protected area and the redistribution of those benefits to incentivise local community support for the protected area.
- Protected areas should be fully integrated into national, regional and communal sustainable development plans within a landscape approach while ensuring the establishment and maintenance of effective mechanisms for the equitable distribution of benefits from PAs.
- Protected area management plans must encourage the promotion of improved human health and nutrition (especially for children) and health monitoring in communities and households around the protected area.
- Restoration programmes around protected areas must be actively promoted as a means of creating local employment while at the same time helping to increase the climate regulation and biodiversity conservation impacts of PAs.

Research

The study has identified numerous ways in which scientific research could contribute to the improved generation and distribution of benefits from Madagascar's PAs:

- A coordinated research effort is required to fill important information gaps on the ecosystem services and economic contributions of protected areas by development sector (especially for agriculture, hydrological services and other key sectors for which data are lacking).
- A coordinated research effort is needed to determine the impacts of management and finance on the benefits generated by PAs and on the dynamic distributional analysis of the costs and benefits of protected area management.
- A specific research programme is needed to evaluate the costs and benefits of marine protected areas (MPAs), including the constituent ecosystems of MPAs (coral reefs, mangroves, seagrass meadows) and key services (fisheries, tourism, carbon storage).
- Research should be encouraged on the evaluation of the direct and indirect economic benefits of biodiversity *per se*, and the means for capturing greater benefits from this unique resource conserved within Madagascar's PAs (e.g. through research, entertainment and other less tangible uses).

Other technical actions

In addition to the main recommendations above, the study has identified various technical actions that would further contribute to reinforcing and extending Madagascar's PA networks and the benefits it delivers:

- Undertake a technical review of Madagascar's PA network in relation to ecosystem services and identify optimal adjustments to maximise ecosystem service delivery.
- Include consideration of protected areas in the template for Communal Development Plans (PCD), Regional Development plans (PRD) and SRATs.
- Undertake a study of the contribution of PAs to research in Madagascar and the value of investments in research both inside and outside Madagascar.
- Develop a more spatially precise data base for the PA network including ecosystems and ecosystem services which should be regularly updated.
- Madagascar should develop capacity and strategy for engaging and securing the support of international businesses deriving value from Madagascar's biodiversity and PAs.

• Studies are needed to determine how the Madagascar private sector could become more effectively engaged in protected area support and finance.

The above recommendations complement and resonate strongly with those identified by the series of MEDD workshops on PAs In 2020.³⁷⁵

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank KfW for the funding for this study, made available through AHT-Conseil gmbh under its general budget for technical assistance to MNP. We are grateful to Dr Mamy Rakotoarijaona, Director General of MNP and Mr. Liva Raharijaona, Executive Director of FAPBM, for commissioning and for supporting the study in various ways along its implementation. We thank also Mr Rinah Razafindrabe, Director of BPSAPM at the Ministry for Environment and Sustainable Development (MEDD) for endorsing and supporting the study's objectives, and to his assistant Seheno Manantsoa who helpfully provided information on status of the SAPM network and evaluation tools. Zo Andriambalohery (director of sustainable finance at the MEDD) also provided useful background context and suggestions for the work. Numerous experts kindly gave freely of advice in the early stages of the study, notably Kerry ten Kate, Ian Dickie, David Meyers, Tracey Cummings, James Vause, Aristide Andrianarimisa, Chris Golden, Lucienne Wilmé, Ranaivo Rasolofoson, Julia Jones, Frank Hawkins, Joanna Durbin, Richard Lewis, Gabriel Sarasin, Nanie Ratsifandrihamanana, Jean Chrysostome Rakotoary, Julie Ranivo, Hervé Barois, Patricia Rajearison, Owen Griffiths, Charlie Gardner, Alisdair Harris, Jean-Claude Vinson, Benjamin & Fred Pascal, Lisa Gaylord, Jon Evans, Patricia Wright, Soava Rakotoarisoa, Mark Spalding, Winfried Wiedermeyer, Frida Razafinaivo, Lantosoa Patricia Ramarojaona, Ken Behrens and Ken Karas. Rachel Neugarten provided invaluable assistance with regard to earlier natural capital studies and her research on the ecosystem services of Madagascar's protected areas. Lucy Emerton gave valuable constructive advice and comments when the work was at a more advanced stage and Steve Goodman provided helpful guidance to the literature on the disease control benefits of protected areas. We particularly thank the members of the ad hoc scientific committee for their comments on several drafts, guidance on methodology – Aristide Andrianarimisa, Bruno Ramamonjisoa, Neil Hockley, Ranaivo Rasolofoson, Frank Hawkins, Rinah Razafindrabe and Erik Reed (see more details below). We thank the institutions who have shared unpublished data used for the study, notably MNP, JIRAMA, FAPBM, the University of Antananarivo (C3-EDM unit, IOGA-DBEV), Blue Ventures, BBC (UK), Tozzi Green, the BNCCR (national REDD+ program), WCS and the World Bank. Chantal Razanajovy of MNP responded helpfully to our data needs, as did Serge Ratsirahonana of FAPBM. At Blue Ventures, Christie Galitsky, Patrick Rafidimanantsoa, Abigail Leadbetter and Katie Stone provided data useful on the economic values of marine protected areas, while Leah Glass provided data on the economic values of mangroves. In relation to the BBC, Jeremy Bristow, Laurence Brean, Kathryn Jeffs and Ange Rakotoarisoa all helpfully provided information on natural history documentaries made in Madagascar. At Tozzi Green, Alessandro Berti, Tolotra Ramanarivo and Marco Vanotti helped with information on the effects of deforestation on hydropower generation. At the BNCCR (national REDD+ coordination office), Lovakanto Ravelomanana kindly authorised use of IEFN 2020 data which were used combination with SAPM 2017 shapefiles by Carole Andrianirina and Jean Michel Ravoninjatovo to calculate the precise areas of terrestrial forests and mangroves within PAs used in our final calculations. Through the World Bank, the PADAP project team (Olivah Rafalimanana, Herinarivo Razafindralambo and Fabienne Randrianarisoa) helped with information on evaluating landscape economic benefits, Andriambolantsoa Rasolohery helped with securing IEFN data for 2020

³⁷⁵ MEDD 2020

and Urvashi Nairan provided comments on the valuation of protected areas. Through WCS, Michael Masozera provided background on his evaluation of ecosystem services of the Masoala-Makira landscape, while Dimby Razafimpahanana and Ravaka Ranaivoson provided data on the costs of managing MPAs and Rija Rajaonson provided an updated map on the evolution of PAs in Madagascar. For her expert work on data sorting and GIS analyses, we especially thank Maximilienne Fiarananirina. Finally, many people have helped along the way, and we apologize to those we may have omitted and thank them nonetheless for their help. We take full responsibility for the accuracy and quality of this report - any defects are purely of our own making.

Scientific Committee

The authors are deeply indebted to the *ad hoc* scientific committee established for the purposes of the present study. The committee was composed of eight national and international experts with particular expertise relevant to the themes of the present study and included:

National experts

- Professor Bruno Razafimamonjy, Director of ESSA, University of Antananarivo (Environmental Economist)
- Professor Aristide Andrianarimisa, Faculty of Science, Department of Animal Biology, University of Antananarivo (Landscape Ecologist)
- Mr. Rinah Razafindrabe, Director of BPSAPM (National Protected Areas System), MEDD
- Mr. Serge Ratsirahonana (Monitoring & Evaluation Officer, FAPBM, Madagascar) (Protected Area monitoring and finance specialist)

International experts

- Dr Neal Hockley, University of Bangor, UK (Environmental economics and policy)
- Dr Ranaivo Rasolofoson, Cornell University (Protected Areas and human well-being specialist)
- Dr Frank Hawkins, IUCN (Biodiversity conservation and finance specialist)
- Mr Erik Reed, World Bank (Madagascar) (Natural Resources Management Specialist)

The committee met a total of four times over the duration of the work. Prior to each meeting, members were provided with copies of the current draft report, notes of the previous meeting (in the case of meetings 2, 3 and 4) and a list of key questions raised by the authors. Committee members provided general comments on the report and methodology, as well as specific comments in their respective areas of expertise. Their comments and recommendations were systematically taken into consideration in successive drafts of the report, including the final version.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Agreco, 2012. Analyse des couts et sources de financement du system des Aires Protégées de Madagascar. Rapport Final. Antananarivo: World Bank. 101 pages.

Alban, F., Appéré, G. & Boncoeur, J., 2006. Economic Analysis of Marine Protected Areas. A Literature Review. EMPAFISH Project, Booklet nº 3. 51 pp.

Alderson J, Quastel M, Wilson E, Bellamy D. Factors influencing the re-emergence of plague in Madagascar. *Emerg Top Life Sci.* 2020;4(4):411-421. doi:10.1042/ETLS20200334

Andam KS, Ferraro PJ, Sims KRE, Healy A, Holland MB. 2010. Protected areas reduced poverty in Costa Rica and Thailand. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences Jun 2010, 107 (22) 9996-10001; DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0914177107.

Andrade GSM, and Rhodes JRR. 2012. Protected areas and local communities: an inevitable partnership towardsuccessfulconservationstrategies? *Ecology*andSociety 17(4):14.http://dx.doi.org/10.5751/ES-05216-170414

Andriamahefazafy, F. (2010) Capitalisation des Résultats des Projets Pilotes en Paiement pour Services *Environnementaux Hydrologiques*. Antananarivo, Madagascar: C3EDM/WWF Madagascar.

Andriamahefazafy, F. 2021. Apport économique du parc national d'Ankarafantsika ; une évaluation basée sur la perte évitée en surface rizicole sur la plaine de Marovoay. Mars 2021.

Andrianaivoarimanana V, Kreppel K, Elissa N, Duplantier J-M, Carniel E, Rajerison M, et al. (2013) Understanding the Persistence of Plague Foci in Madagascar. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 7(11): e2382. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0002382

Anon (2017). Document de Programme sur les Réductions des Emissions. Programme de Réduction des Emissions d'Atiala Antsinanana, Madagascar. 23 May 2017.

Arisco NJ, Rice BL, Tantely LM *et al.* 2020. Variation in *Anopheles* distribution and predictors of malaria infection risk across regions of Madagascar. *Malar J* **19**, 348 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12936-020-03423-1

Arisco N, Rice BL, Tantely LM, Girod R, Gauthier NE, Randriamady HJ, Castro MC, Golden CD, 2019. Deforestation and malaria in Madagascar: a new framework to explore linkages in the absence of robust health reporting infrastructure. The Lancet – Planetary Health. 3rd Sept 2019.

ASCLME/SWIOFP, 2012. Transboundary Diagnostic Analysis for the western Indian Ocean. Volumes 1 & 2. ISBN:978V0V620V57042V8. UNEP/Nairobi Convention Secretariat 2009b.Transboundary diagnostic analysis of land based sources and activities affecting the West Indian Ocean marine and coastal environment, UNEP, Nairobi, Kenya 378p.

Atlas for the End of the World. https://atlas-for-the-end-of-theworld.com/world_maps/world_maps_conservation_spending.html. Accessed 26.10.21.

ATW Consultants, 2009. Enquête Visiteurs pour la filière tourisme à Madagascar. Rapport Final. Antananarivo: PIC.

Balmford A, Bruner A, Cooper P, Costanza R, Farber S, 2002. Economic reasons for conserving wild nature. Science 397, 950-953.

Balmford, A. & Whitten, T. (2003) Who should pay for tropical conservation, and how could the costs be met? *Oryx* 37: 238–250.

Balmford A, Gravestock P, Hockley N, McClean C & Roberts C, 2004. The worldwide costs of marine protected areas. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 101(26):9694-7. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0403239101.

Bannerjie O, Bagstadb KJ, Cicowiezc M, Dudekd S, Horridgee M, Alavalapatif JRR, Masozera M, Rukundoh E and Rutebukai E, 2019. Strategies for Green Growth: An Application of the IEEM+ESM (Integrated Economic-Environmental Modeling and Ecosystem Services Platform to Rwanda. Inter-American Development Bank, 2019.

Bamford AJ, Razafindrajao F, Young RP, Hilton GM (2017). Profound and pervasive degradation of Madagascar's freshwater wetlands and links with biodiversity. PLoS ONE 12(8): e0182673. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0182673 (plus database).

Barnes-Mauthé M., Oleson, K. L., and Zadindrasilivonona, B. 2013. The total economic value of small-scale fisheries with a characterization of post-landing trends: An application in Madagascar with global relevance. *Fisheries Research* 147: 175-185.

Bastaraud A, Perthame E, Rakotondramanga J-M, Mahazosaotra J, Ravaonindrina N, Jambou R (2020). The impact of rainfall on drinking water quality in Antananarivo, Madagascar. PLoS ONE 15(6): e0218698. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0218698.

Bauhoff, S and J Busch (2020). Does deforestation increase malaria prevalence? Evidence from satellite data and health surveys. World Development 127 (2020) 104734.

Bertrand A., Serpantie G., Randrianarivelo G.B., Montagne P., Toillier A., Karpe Ph., Andriambolanoro D. et Derycke M. 2012. « Contre un retour aux barrières : quelle place pour la gestion communautaire dans les nouvelles aires protégées malgaches ? », *Les Cahiers d'Outre-Mer*, 257, 85-123. (Disponible sur https://journals.openedition.org/com/pdf/6493).

BIOFIN, 2021. Analyses des dépenses de biodiversité pour Madagascar. Initiative Mondiale pour la finance de la biodiversité. BIOFIN. Raharinaivo Liva Jackson (ed). May 2021. UNDP. 77 pages.

Blue Ventures, 2017. Economic analysis of the Tsimipaika Bay Blue Carbon project - Cost effectiveness & CBA analysis of the Tsimipaika Bay - Blue Carbon project. FINAL REPORT. January 2017.

Boisvert, 2003. Les illusions de la propriété. Sciences au Sud - Le journal de l'IRD - n° 20 - mai/juin 2003.

Borgerson C, Razafindrapaoly B, Rajaona D, Rasolofoniaina BJR and Golden CD (2019) Food Insecurity and the Unsustainable Hunting of Wildlife in a UNESCO World Heritage Site. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst.* 3:99. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2019.00099.

Borrini-Feyerabend G and Dudley N, 2005. Les aires protégées à Madagascar : bâtir le système à partir de la base. WCPA, CEESP, UICN, 51 p.

Boulogne, M., 2016. « Vulnérabilité des paysages forestiers dans le Parc de Ranomafana (Madagascar) : dynamiques environnementales et trajectoires agroforestières » These pour obtenir le grade de Docteur de l'Université de Grenoble, Alpes préparée au sein du Laboratoire des Transferts en Hydrologie et Environnement dans l'École Doctorale Terre Univers Environnement, soutenue publiquement le 4 juillet 2016, 269p. Disponible sur https://tel.archives-ouvertes.fr/tel-01529847.

Braat L. & P. ten Brink, (eds.), with Bakkes J, Bolt K, Braeuer I, ten Brink B, Chiabai A, Ding H, Gerdes H, Jeuken M, Kettunen M, Kirchholtes U, Klok C, Markandya A, Nunes P, van Oorschot M, Peralta-Bezerra N, Rayment M, Travisi C, Walpole M, 2008. The Cost of Policy Inaction, the case of not meeting the 2010 biodiversity target. Wageninen, Alterra, Alterra-rapport 1718. 314 blz.; 85 figs.; 45 tables.; 140 refs.

Bradbury RB, Butchart SHM, Fisher B, Hughes FMR, Ingwall-King L, MacDonald MA, Merriman JC, Peh KSH, Pellier A-S, Thomas DHL, Trevelyan R and Balmford A, 2021. The economic consequences of conserving or restoring sites for nature. Nature Sustainability. Doi.org/10.1038/s41893-021-00692-9.

Bradshaw CJA, Ehrlich PR, Beattie A, Caballos G, Crist E, Diamond J, Dirzo R, Ehrlich AH, Harte J, Harte ME, Pyke G, Raven PH, Ripple WJ, Saitré F, Turnbull C, Wackernagel M and Blumstein DT (2021). Underestimating the Challenges of a Ghastly Future. Frontiers in Conservation Science. 1-615419 doi: 10.3389/fcosc.2020.615419. January 2021.

Brand (J.), Minten (B.), Randrianarisoa (J.C.) 2002. Etude d'impact de la déforestation sur la riziculture irriguée. Cas des petits bassins versants de la Maroantsetra, Nord-est de Madagascar, *Cahiers d'études et de recherche en sciences sociales*, No.6, décembre 2002. 78 pages.

Brander L, Baulcomb C, Van de Lelij JAC, Eppink F, McVittie A, Nijstem L, van Beukering P, 2015. The Benefits to People of Expanding Marine Protected Areas. Final report. IVM Institute for Environmental Studies. May 2015. 91 pages.

Brenier A, Ferraris J and Mahafina J, 2011. Participatory Assessment of the Toliara Bay reef fishery, southwest Madagascar. Madagascar Conservation & Development. Vol 6 Issue 2 pp 60-67.

Brimont, L, 2014. Le coût de la Réduction des Emissions issues de la Déforestation et de la Dégradation des Forêts (REDD+) à Madagascar. Thèse de Doctorat L'Institut des Sciences et Industries du Vivant et de l'Environnement (AgroParisTech). 304 pages.

Brimont, L. & Bidaud, C. (2014) Incentivising forest conservation: Payments for environmental services and reducing carbon emissions from deforestation. In: *Conservation and Environmental Management in Madagascar*, ed. Scales, I.R., pp. 299–319. London, UK, and New York, NY, USA: Routledge.

Brimont, L., Ezzine-de-Blas, D., Karsenty, A., & Toulon, A. (2015). Achieving Conservation and Equity amidst Extreme Poverty and Climate Risk: The Makira REDD+ Project in Madagascar. *Forests*, *6*(12), 748–768. https://doi.org/10.3390/f6030748

Bruijnzeel 2004. Hydrological functions of tropical forests: not seeing the soil for the trees? Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment Volume 104, Issue 1, September 2004, Pages 185-228. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0167880904000404.

Bush, G, Nampindo S, Aguti C and Plumtre A. 2004. The Value of Uganda's Forests. A livelihoods and ecosystems approach. WCS/NFA/EU-FRMCP. 2004.

Butler, R, 2019. Consequences of Deforestation. Mongabay. 1 April 2019. 31 pages.

Bureau National de Coordination REDD+, 2018. Niveau d'émissions de référence des forêts de Madagascar pour la réduction des émissions dues a la déforestation. Soumission a la Convention Cadre des Nations Unies sur les Changements Climatiques. Janvier 2018.

Cabral RB, Bradley D, Mayorga J, Goodell W, Freidlander AM, Sala E, Costello C and Gaines SD. 2020. A global network of marine protected areas for food. PNAS November 10 2020. Vol 117 no 45.

Cannon, JC, 2018. Madagascar : les communautés forestières paient le prix de la conservation. https://fr.mongabay.com/2018/11/madagascar-les-communautes-forestieres-paient-le-prix-de-laconservation.

C3EDM, 2020a. Socio-economic Studies on CMK and Antrema. Unpublished data.

C3EDM 2020b Enquête sur le marché CMK and Antrema. Unpublished data.

Cahen-Fourot, L. & Meral, P. (2011) *Gouvernance des Paiements pour Services Environnementaux (PSE)* à *Madagascar: l'Apport de l'Analyse Institutionnaliste*. Antananarivo, Madagascar: SERENA.

Caputi L et al., "Missing enzymes in the biosynthesis of the anticancer drug vinblastine in Madagascar periwinkle," Science (2018). science.sciencemag.org/lookup/ ... 1126/science.aat4100.

Carré A, Razafindrainibe H, Rabarison H, Randrianasolo H, Ruiz V and Zarasoa, 2021. Dynamiques Spatiales des Ecosystemes Terrestres, Côtiers et Marins de Madagascar. Une premiere application des critères de la liste rouge des écosystemes de l'UICN. Antananarivo : UICN/CGE/MEDD. 53 pages.

Carret, J.-C. & Loyer, D. (2004) *Comment Financer Durablement les Aires Protégées à Madagascar ? Rapport de l'Analyse Économique*. Paris, France: Agence Française de Développement.

Carret J.C., Rajaonson B., Feno P.J., Brand J. (2010). L'environnement : un atout à préserver, des enjeux à maîtriser. In *Madagascar : vers un agenda de relance économique*, World Bank, Antananarivo. Disponible sur http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTMADAGASCAR/Resources/PolicyNotesJune2010.pdf.

Catholic Relief Services, 2020. Transforming livelihoods and landscapes. Scaling Land restoration. Technical Briefing Paper. CRS Vision 2030. Antananarivo: CRS.

CEPF, 2014. Ecosystem Profile: Madagascar and Indian Ocean Islands CEPF Critical Ecosystem Partnership Fund, Madagascar (2014).

Cerchio S, Laran S, Andrianarivelo N, Saloma A, Andrianantenaina B, Van Canneyt O and Rasoloarijao, T. in press (a). Cetacean species diversity in Malagasy waters. In: Goodman, S. M. (ed.). In press. *The new natural history of Madagascar*. Princeton, New Jersey, Princeton University Press.

Cerchio S, Rasoloarijao T, Andrianantenaina B and Andrianarivelo N, in press (b). *Balaenoptera omurai*, Omura's whale. In: Goodman, S. M. (ed.). In press. *The new natural history of Madagascar*. Princeton, New Jersey, Princeton University Press.

Chaperon P., Danloux J., and Ferry L. 2005. *Fleuves et rivières de Madagascar*. Paris: ORSTOM Editions.

Chaplin-Kramer, R., Neugarten, R., Sharp, R. P., Collins, P. M., Polasky, S., Hole, D., Schuster, R., Strimas-Mackey, M., Mulligan, M., Brandon, C., Díaz, S., Fluet-Chouinard, E., Gorenflo, L., Johnson, J. A., Keys, P. W., Longley-Wood, K., McIntyre, P. B., Noon, M., Pascual, U., ... Watson, R. (2020). Global critical natural assets. *BioRxiv*, 2020.11.08.361014. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.11.08.361014.

Chomitz: https://www.cbd.int/financial/values/g-domesticbenefits-wb.pdf

Chomitz (K.), Kumari (K.). *The domestic benefits of tropical forests. A critical review emphasizing hydrological functions.* Word bank, Policy research working paper 1601, May 1996. 41 pages.

Christie, I.T. & Crompton, D.E. (2003) Republic of Madagascar: Tourism sector study. *Africa Region Working Paper Series* 63 (E): 141.

Cohen, R, 2019. USAID helps stop plague in Madagascar, but challenges remain. Blog. June 18, 2019.

Cooke A, Wells S, Oates J, Bouchet P, Gilchrist H, Leadbeater A, Gough CLA, Rasoloniriana R, Randrianjafimanana T, Jones TG, Aigrette L, Ratefinjanahary I and Ravelonjatovo J, in press. Marine and coastal biodiversity and conservation. In Goodman, S. M. (ed.). In press. *The new natural history of Madagascar*. Princeton, New Jersey, Princeton University Press.

Corral-Broto P and Rakotomavo A, 2020. Histoire des Maladies dans le Sud Global : leçons apprises pour la Covid-19. REVUT Scientifique Journal, Vol. 1 (2) : 7-17. DOI : https://doi.org/10.46857/rsj.2020.1.2.7-17.

Corson, C. (2014) Conservation politics in Madagascar: The expansion of protected areas. In: *Conservation and Environmental Management in Madagascar*, ed. Scales, I.R., pp. 193–215. London, UK, and New York, NY, USA: Routledge.

Costanza, R. et al 1997. The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature. 387, 253-260 (1997).

Costanza, R, Degroot H, Sutton P, van der Ploeg S, Anderson SJ, Kubiszewski et al 2014. Changes in the global value of ecosystem services. Global Environmental Change. 2014, May. 26: 152-158.

Cumming, Tracey, 2020. Creating a race to the top for a resilient economy. GEC Insight Series. 9th June 2020. Creating a race-to-the-top for a resilient... | Green Economy Coalition

Dasgupta, P. 2021. The Economics of Biodiversity. The Dasgupta Review. London: HM Treasury.

Davis K, Vianna GMS, Meeuwig JJ, Meekan MG, Pannell DJ, 2019. Estimating the economic benefits and costs of highly-protected marine protected areas. Ecosphere. October 2019. 10(10). Article e02789.

Davis PZR, Cerchio S, Cooke A and Andrianarivelo N, in press. *Dugong dugon*, Dugong, Lambohara. In: Goodman, S. M. (ed.). In press. *The new natural history of Madagascar*. Princeton, New Jersey, Princeton University Press.

De Groot, R. & Ramakrishnan, P.S. (2005) Cultural and amenity services. In: *Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Current State and Trends, Volume* 1, eds. Hassan, R., Scholes, R. & Ash, N., pp. 457–476. Washington, DC: Island Press.

De Groot R, Brander L, van der Ploeg S, Costanza R, Bernard F, Braat L, Christie M, Crossman N, Ghermandi A, Herin L, Hussain S, Kumar P, McVittie A, Portela R, Rodgruigez LC, ten Brink P, van Beukering P, 2012. Global estimate of the value of ecosystems and their services in monetary units. Ecosystem Services 1 (2012) 50-61.

Deloitte Access Economics, 2013. At What Price? The Economic, Social and Icon Value of the Great Barrier Reef. Brisbane: Deloitte Access Economics. 92 pages.

Demaze, M.T. 2014. L'enrôlement de Madagascar dans la REDD+: Domestiquer une opportunité internationale. Vertigo 14: 1.

Desbureaux, S, Brimont L. 2015. Between economic loss and social identity: the multidimensional cost of avoiding deforestation in Eastern Madagascar. Ecological Economics, 2015. Oct: 118:10-20.

Deutz A, Heal GM, Niu R, Swanson E, Townshend T, Li Z, Delmar A, Meghji A, Sethi SA, Tobin-de la Puente J. 2020. "Financing Nature: Closing the Global Biodiversity Financing Gap." The Paulson Institute, The Nature Conservancy, and the Cornell Atkinson Center for Sustainability. https://www. paulsoninstitute.org/wpcontent/uploads/2020/09/FINANCING-NATURE_Full-Report_FinalVersion_091520.pdf.

Deutz, A, 2021. The Nature Conservancy | A New Deal for the Nature Finance Gap.

Dietrich M, Gomard Y, Cordonin C and Tortosa P, 2021. *Leptospira* Bacteria on Madagascar. In: Dumas D, Bigot S, Brou TY, Boulogne M, Razanaka S and Gond V, 2021. Evolution des surfaces forestières à l'échelle du Parc national de Ranomafana et sa périphérie (Sud-Est de Madagascar) entre 1989 et 2013.

Duplantier JM, Duchemin JB, Ratsitorahina M, Rahalison L, Chanteau S, 2001. Resurgence of the plague in the Ikongo district of Madagascar in 1998. 2. Reservoirs and vectors implicated. Bull Soc Pathol Exot 94: 119–122.

Duplantier J.-M., Duchemin J.-B., Chanteau S. and Carniel E. (2005) From the recent lessons of the Malagasy foci towards a global understanding of the factors involved in plague reemergence. *Vet. Res.* 36, 437–453 10.1051/vetres:2005007.

Eklund et al., 2016. Contrasting spatial and temporal trends of protected area effectiveness in mitigating deforestation in Madagascar. J. Eklund, ... +4 ..., M. Cabeza. Biol. Conserv., 203 (2016), pp. 290-297, 10.1016/j.biocon.2016.09.033.

Emerton, L and Muramira, 1999. Uganda Biodiversity – An Economic Assessment. Report for IUCN Conservation Union. Biodiversity Economics for Eastern Africa.

Equilibrium Research (2020). Making Money Local: Can Protected Areas Deliver Both Economic Benefits and Conservation Objectives? Technical Series (unnumbered). Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity. Montreal. Draft report submitted to the CBD Secretariat.

FAO 2014. Protected Areas, People and Food Security. An FAO contribution to the World Parks Congress, Sydney 2014. 12-19 November 2014. 26 pages.

FAO, 2020. Evaluation des ressources forestières mondiales. Rapport - Madagascar. 68 pages. Rome.

FAO/EC/OECD/UN/World Bank 2014. System of Environmental-Economic Accounting 2012. Central Framework. 378 pages.

FAO/EC/OECD/UN/World Bank 2014. System of Environmental-Economic Accounting 2012. Applications and Extensions.

FAO/EC/OECD/UN/World Bank 2014. System of Environmental-Economic Accounting 2012. Experimental Ecosystem Accounting. 198 pages.

FAO and UNEP. 2020. The State of the World's Forests 2020. Forests, biodiversity and people. Rome. https://doi.org/10.4060/ca8642en

FAPBM 2021. Coût de Gestion des Aires Protégées. 05 février 2021. FAPBM, unpublished data.

Ferguson, B. (2009). REDD comes into fashion in Madagascar. *Madagascar Conservation and Development* 4: 132–137.

Fernández-Bellon D, Kane A. Natural history films raise species awareness - A big data approach. *Conserv Lett*. 2020;13(1):e12678. doi:10.1111/conl.12678.

Ferraro, P.J. (2002) The local costs of establishing protected areas in low-income nations: Ranomafana National Park, Madagascar. *Ecology and Economy* 43: 261–275.

Ferraro and Hanauer, 2014. Quantifying causal mechanisms to determine how protected areas affect poverty through changes in ecosystem services and infrastructure. P.J. Ferraro and M.M. Hanauer. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 201307712 (2014), 10.1073/pnas.1307712111.

Financial Times, 21 April 2021. Mainstreaming Biodiversity Mitigation risks by conserving nature. Business Initiatives for Biodiversity. https://www.ft.com/partnercontent/ms-and-ad/mainstreaming-biodiversity-mitigating-risks-by-conserving-nature.html.

Freudenberger K, 2010. Paradise Lost? 25 years of USAID Environment Programs in Madagascar. International Resources Group, Washington DC.

Fritz-Vietta, NVM. 2016. What can forest values tell us about human well-being? Insights from two biosphere reserves in Madagascar. Landscape and Planning 147: 28–37.

FTHM Conseils, 2012. Réalisation des Enquêtes visiteurs aux frontières « secteur tourisme » - Etude et analyse des résultats. Rapport Final. Antananarivo : Office National du Tourisme.

Gardner, C.J., Nicoll, M.E., Mbohoahy, T., Oleson, K.L.L., Ratsifandrihamanana, A.N., Ratsirarson, J., Rene, de Roland, L.A., Virah-Sawmy, M., Zafindrasilivonona, B. & Davies, Z.G. 2013. Protected areas for conservation and poverty alleviation: Experiences from Madagascar. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 50: 1289–1294.

Gaspar V, Mauro P, Parry I, Patillo C. 2019. IMF: \$75 Per Ton Carbon Price Needed by 2030 to Meet ClimateChallenge.EcosystemMarketPlace.ForestTrends:October2019.(https://www.ecosystemmarketplace.com/articles/imf-75-per-ton-carbon-price-needed-by-2030-to-meet-climate-challenge/; .

GEF, 2011. Project Paper On A Proposed Additional Ida Credit In The Amount Of Sdr26 Million (Us\$42 Million Equivalent) And A Proposed Additional Grant From The Global Environment Facility Trust Fund In The Amount Of Us\$10.0 Million To The Republic Of Madagascar For The Third Environmental Program Support Project (Ep3) May 19, 2011.

Getzner M. (2009), Economic and cultural values related to Protected Areas, Part A: Valuation of Ecosystem Services in Tatra (PL) and Slovensky Raj (SK) national parks, Final report, 13 November 2009, Commissioned by WWF World Wide Fund for Nature Danube Carpathian Programme (DCP), Vienna, Austria. (https://wwfeu.awsassets.panda.org/downloads/econo_values_pas_carpathians_nov2009_parta.pdf).

Gibson, L., Lee, T.M., Koh, L.P., Brook, B.W., Gardner, T.A., Barlow, J., Peres, C.A., Bradshaw, C.J.A., Laurance, W F, Lovejoy, T.E. & Sodhi, N.S. 2011. Primary forests are irreplaceable for sustaining tropical biodiversity. *Nature* 478: 378–381.

Gilchrist, H., Rodcliffe, S., Anderson, L. G., and Gough, C. L. A. 2020. Reef fish biomass recovery within communitymanaged no take zones. *Ocean & Coastal Management* 192: 105201.

Gill, David A., Michael B. Mascia, Gabby N. Ahmadia, Louise Glew, Sarah E. Lester, Megan Barnes, Ian Craigie, et al. 2017. "Capacity Shortfalls Hinder the Performance of Marine Protected Areas Globally." Nature 543 (7647): 665–69. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21708.

Golden, C.D., Bonds, M.H., Brashares, J.S., Rasolofoniaina, B.J.R. & Kremen, C. (2014) Economic valuation of subsistence harvest of wildlife in Madagascar. *Conservation Biology* 28: 234–243.

Golden, C.D., Fernald, L.C.H., Brashares, J.S., Rasolofoniaina, B.J.R. & Kremen, C. (2011) Benefits of wildlife consumption to child nutrition in a biodiversity hotspot. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108: 19653–19656.

Golden, C.D., Rasolofoniaina, B.J.R., Anjaranirina, E.J.G., Nicolas, L., Ravaoliny, L. & Kremen, C. (2012) Rainforest pharmacopeia in Madagascar provides high value for current local and prospective global uses. *PLoS ONE* 7: e41221.

Goodman, S.M. & Benstead, J.P. (2005) Updated estimates of biotic diversity and endemism for Madagascar. *Oryx* 39: 73–77.

Goodman SM, MJ Raherilalao and S Wolhauser, 2018. The Terrestrial Protected Areas of Madagascar: Their History, Description and Biota. Antananarivo: Association Vahatra.

Goodman, S. M. (ed.). In press. *The new natural history of Madagascar*. Princeton, New Jersey, Princeton University Press.

Haines-Young R. Potschin M. Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES). NEED UPDATED VERSION.

Harper, G.J., Steininger, M.K., Tucker, C.J., Juhn, D. & Hawkins, F. (2007) Fifty years of deforestation and forest fragmentation in Madagascar. *Environmental Conservation* 34: 325–333.

Heberling, MT, Nietch, CT, Thurston HW, Elovitz M, Birkenhauer KH, Panguluri S, Ramakrishnan B, Heiser E, Héraud J-M, Andriamandimby SF, Olive M-M, Guis H, Miatrana Rasamoelina V and Tantely ML, 2021. Arthropod borne viruses in Madagascar. In: Goodman (ed), in press.

Herrera D, Ellis A., Fisher B, Golden C D, Johnson K, Mulligan M, Pfaff A, Treuer T, Ricketts T H (2017). Upstream watershed condition predicts rural children's health across 35 developing countries. Nature Communications. DOI-10.1038/s41457-017-0075-2.

High-Level Commission on Carbon Prices. 2017. Report of the High-Level Commission on Carbon Prices. Washington, DC: World Bank. License: Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 3.0 IGO.

Hoarau AOG, Andriamandimby SF, Joffrin L, Brook CE, Rabemananjara HA, Filippone C, Wilkinson D, Héraud J-M, and Lebarbenchon C, 2021. Virus Transmission in Mammalian Hosts. In: Goodman (ed), in press.

Hockley, N.J. & Andriamarovololona, M.M. (2007) *The Economics of Community Forest Management in Madagascar: Is there a Free Lunch?: An Analysis of Transfert de Gestion*. Washington, DC: USAID.

Hockley, N.J. & Razafindralambo, R. (2006) *A Social Cost–Benefit Analysis of Conserving the Ranomafana– Andringitra–Pic d'Ivohibe Corridor in Madagascar*. Washington, DC, USA: Conservation International.

Hockley, N, Mandimbiniaina, R & Rakotonarivo, OS 2018, 'Fair and equitable conservation: do we really want it, and if so, do we know how to achieve it?', *Madagascar Conservation and Development*, vol. 13, no. 1. https://doi.org/10.4314/mcd.v13i1.11

Hua F, Bruijnzeel LA, Meli P, Martin P, Zhang J, Nakagawa S, Miao X, Wang W, McEvoy C, Pena-Arancibia J, Brancalion PHS, Smith P, Edwards DP and Balmford A, 2022. The biodiversity and ecosystem service contributions and trade-offs of forest restoration approaches. Science 17 March 2022. DOI: 10.1126/science.abl4649.

ICF Consulting Services 2017. Study on the Economic Benefits of Marine Protected Areas. Literature Review Analysis. 147 pages. Executive Agency for Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (EASME). European Union.

IMDB, 2021. International Media Data Base. Accessed 06 May 2021. https://www.imdb.com/search/title-text/?location=Madagascar&ref_=tx_sl_fn

Interwies, E., 2011. The Economic and Social Value of the Guinea Current Ecosystem – a First Approximation. GEF/UNIDO/UNDP/UNEP/US-NOAA/NEPAD, pp. 1–134. http://diktas.iwlearn.org/gclme-ac/publications/our-publications/the-economic-and-the-social-value-of-gclme.

IPBES (2019): Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. E. S. Brondizio, J. Settele, S. Díaz, and H. T. Ngo (editors). IPBES secretariat, Bonn. 1,148 pages. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3831673.

IUCN & UNEP-WCMC 2014. World Data Base of Protected Areas. www.protectedplanet.net.

IUCN. 2019. Dynamiques spatiales des écosystèmes terrestres, côtiers et marins de Madagascar - Une première application des critères de la Liste rouge des écosystèmes de l'UICN. Antananarivo: IUCN.

lyer, V, 2017. Strategy for Sustainable Financing of a Madagascar Marine Protected Area Network. Paper prepared for WCS Madagascar. CEPF/WCS. 49 pages.

Jadot C, Darling E, Brenier A., 2015. MADAGASCAR: A Baseline Assessment of Coral Reef Fisheries.

Johnson, J.A., Baldos, U., Hertel, T., Liu, J., Nootenboom, C., Polasky, S., and Roxburgh, T. 2020. Global Futures: modelling the global economic impacts of environmental change to support policy making. Technical Report, January 2020. https://www.wwf.org.uk/globalfutures

Jones JPG, Ratsimbazafy J, Ratsifandrihamanana A N, Watson JEM, Andriandasana HT, Cabeza M, Cinner JE, Goodman SM, Hawkins F, Mittermeier RA, Rabearisoa AL, Rakotonarivo OS, Razafimanahaka JH, Razafimpahanana AR, Wilmé L and Wright PC. 2019. Last Chance for Madagascar's Biodiversity. Nature Sustainability. 29 April 2019. https://www.nature.com/articles/s41893-019-0288-0.

Jones JPG, Rakotonarivo OS and Razafimanahaka JH, in press. Terrestrial conservation in Madagascar: past, present and future. In: Goodman in press. Princeton University Press.

Juffe-Bignoli D, Brooks TM, Butchart SHM, Jenkins RB, Boe K, Hoffmann M, et al. (2016) Assessing the Cost ofGlobalBiodiversityandConservationKnowledge.PLoSONE11(8):e0160640.https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0160640

Kiashtainy N 2017. A Little History of Economics. Yale University Press / New Haven & London. 249 pages.

Kikstra, JS, Waidelich P, Rising J, Yumashev D, Hope C, Brierley, CM, 2021. "The social cost of carbon dioxide under climate-economy feedbacks and temperature variability". Environmental Research Letters. 16 (9): 094037.

Kramer, R.A., Sharma, N. & Munasinghe, M. (1995) *Valuing Tropical Forests: Methodology and Case Study of Madagascar*. Washington, DC, USA: World Bank.

Kramer RA, Richter DD, Pattanayak S, Sharma MP. Ecological and economic analysis of watershed protection in eastern Madagascar. Journal of Environmental Management. 1997. Mar. 49(3): 277-95.

Kremen, C., Niles, J.O., Dalton, M.G., Daily, G.C., Ehrlich, P.R., Fay, J.P., Grewal, D. & Guillery, R.P. (2000) Econo mic incentives for rain forest conservation across scales. *Science* 288: 1828–1832.

Kremen C, Cameron A, Moilanen A, Philipps SJ, Thomans CD, Beentje H et al, 2008. Aligning conservation priorities across taxa in Madagascar with high-resolution planning tools. Science, 2008. April 11: 320 (5873) 222-6. Doi: 10.1126/science.1155193. PMID: 28403708.

Kurth T, Wübbels G, Portafaix A, Meyer zum Felde A and Zielke S, 2021. The Biodiversity Crisis is a Business Crisis. Boston Consulting Group, March 2021.

Le Manach F, Andrianaivojaona C, Oleson K, Clausen A and Lange G-M, 2013. Natural Capital Accounting and Management of the Malagasy Fisheries Sector. A technical case study for the WAVES Global Partnership in Madagascar. March 2013.

Lewis et al., 2017. Dynamics in the global protected-area estate since 2004. E. Lewis, ... +5 ... , N.D. Burgess. Conserv. Biol. (2017), 10.1111/cobi.13056.

LOFM/BNCCREDD+, 2021. Unpublished IEFN 2020 data. Used with kind permission of BNRCC-REDD+.

Madagascar National Parks 2019. Annual Ecotourism Report.

Madagascar National Parks, 2020. Evolution du Nombre de Visiteurs (1992-2019). Unpublished MNP data.

Maekawa, Miko, Annette Lanjouw, Eugène Rutagarama, and Douglas Sharp. 2013. "Mountain Gorilla Tourism Generating Wealth and Peace in Post-Conflict Rwanda." Natural Resources Forum 37 (2): 127–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/1477-8947.12020.

Mair L, Bennun LA, Brooks TM, Butchart SHM, Bolam FC, Burgess ND, Ekstrom JMM, Milner-Gulland EJ, Hoffmann M, Ma K, Macfarlane NBW, Raimondo DC et al, 2021. A metric for spatially explicit contributions to science-based species targets. Nature, Ecology and Evolution. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-021-01432-0.

Martin-Ortega, J, Ferrier R C, Gordon I J, and Khan S. 2015. Water Ecosystem Services – A Global Perspective. Paris & Cambridge: UNESCO and Cambridge University Press. 188 pages.

Martinez N, Simpson D, Kashi B, Rabearison M and Crowley B. 2020. Economic Analysis of Conservation and Communities Project. Final Report. Antananarivo: USAID Madagascar. April 2020.

Masozera, M, 2008. Assessing the value of ecosystem services of the Makira-Masoala landscape, Madagascar. Antananarivo: Wildlife Conservation Society. May 2008.

Masozera, M., 2021. Evaluation Economique des services des écosystemes du paysage Makira Masoala. Powerpoint presentation. Wildlife Conservation Society: Forum du Capital Naturel Forum, Antananarivo. 18 March 2021.

Massyn, PJ and Rajeriarison, P, 2017. Recherche des Investisseurs pour les Aires Protégées de Madagascar. Johannesburg: IFC.

McKinnon, M, Neugarten R et al, 2015. Monitoring Natural Capital and Human Well-being in Madagascar. A national demonstration of indicators for sustainable development. Technical Report 2015. Moore Center for Science and Oceans and Conservation International Madagascar Country Program. Antananarivo, 2015.

MEA (2003) Ecosystems and Human Wellbeing. A Framework for Assessment. Washington, DC, USA: Island Press.

MEDD, 2020. Atelier pour l'amélioration de la gouvernance des aires protégées de Madagascar. 2nd Round. Friday 16 October 2020. Workshop report. Ministère de l'Environnement et du Développement Durable. 116 pages.

MEEMF 2015. Ministère de l'environnement, de l'Ecologie, de la Mer et des Forets, Décret N° 2015-730 portant modification des limites du Parc National N° 15 d'Ankarafantsika et délimitation de sa zone de protection sis dans les Districts d'Ambatoboeny et de Marovoay, Region Boeny.

Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005. NEED DETAILS. MILLENIUM ECOSYSTEM ASSESSMENT (2005), *Ecosystems and Human well-being:Biodiversity Synthesis*. A Report of the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, World Resources Institute, Washington DC, 100 p.

Ministère de l'Equipement et des Communications, 1968. Arrêté 4730 (Journal Officiel 2232, 30 November 1968). Mise en réserve de l'ilôt Tanikely.

MINISTERE DE L'ENVIRONNEMENT (2005), Stratégie Nationale pour la gestion durable de la biodiversité, 102 p.

Ministère de l'Environnement, Ecologie et des Forêts (MEEF) 2018. Stratégie Nationale REDD+ de Madagascar. Antananarivo: MEFF.

Ministère des Transports, du Tourisme, et de la Météorologie, 2020. Statistiques du Tourisme 2017-2020.

Minten, B., Sander, K. & Stifel, D. 2013. Forest management and economic rents: Evidence from the charcoal trade in Madagascar. *Energy for Sustainable Development* 17: 106–115.

MNP, 2019. Rapport écotourisme annuel. PNAM. Madagascar National Parks, 2019.

Moat, J. & Smith, P. 2007. Atlas of the Vegetation of Madagascar. London, UK: Kew Publishing, Royal Botanic Gardens.

Morand S, Lajaunie C, 2021. Outbreaks of Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases Are Associated With Changes in Forest Cover and Oil Palm Expansion at Global Scale. Frontiers in Veterinary Science 8 2021 p230. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fvets.2021.661063. DOI=10.3389/fvets.2021.661063

Moser C, Ralison E, Randrianjatovo JF, Ravelomanana S. 2008. Enquête sur le suivi du recensement des Communes de Madagascar Année 2007 (2007 Monitoring Census Survey of Madagascar Communes). Final Report. Fonds d'Intervention pour les Développement (FID). 2008.

Mulligan, 2013. WaterWorld: a self-parameterising, physically based model for application in data-poor but problem-rich environments globally. M. Mulligan. Hydrol. Res., 44 (2013), p. 748, 10.2166/nh.2012.217.

Myers, N., Mittermeier, R.A., Mittermeier, C.G., da Fonseca, G.A.B. & Kent, J. (2000) Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature* 403: 853–858.

Myers S, Gaffikin L, Golden CD, Ostfeld RS, Redford KH, Ricketts TH, Turner WR and Osofsky SA, 2011. Human Health Impacts of Ecosystem Alteration. Perspective. PNAS vol 110 no 47. 18753-18760. www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1218656110

Naidoo, R., D. Gerkey, D. Hole, A. Pfaff, A. M. Ellis, C. D. Golden, D. Herrera, K. Johnson, M. Mulligan, T. H. Ricketts, B. Fisher. 2019. Evaluating the impacts of protected areas on human well-being across the developing world.

Science Advances. 2019:5. Eav3006. 3 April 2019. Downloaded from http://advances.sciencemag.org/ on September 8, 2020.

Nature News, 26 October 2021. Giant, free index to world's research papers released online. Holly Else. https://archive.org/search.php?query=%22general+index%22+AND+collection%3Amulticasting&sort=titleSorter.

NEHO, 2019. Madagascar – Aménagement Hydroélectrique de Sahofika. Etude d'Impact Environnemental et Social. Version D. Nouvelle Energie Hydroélectrique d'Onive. 14 July 2019. 484 pages.

Neugarten R, Mckinnon M, Rajaobeline L, Andriamaro L, Andriambolantsoa R, Acerso N, Andrianarisata M, Boonham C, Cano CA, Evans B, Gibb M, Hole D, Koenig K, Larsen T, Noviello T, Rabearisoa A, Rajaofara H, Rakotobe Z, Randrianaisoa J, Randrianalolo H, Saenz L, Semroc B, Steininger M, Turner W, Wishart G, Wright TM, Yang W, 2015. Maps – Natural Capital and Human Well-being in Madagascar. Conservation International July 2015. 31 pages.

Neugarten, R A, Honzak M, Carret, P, Koenig K, Andriamavo L, Cano C A, Grantham H S, Hole D, Juhn D, McKinnon M, Rasolohery A, Steininger M, Wright T M, Turner W R., 2016. Rapid assessment of ecosystem service co-benefits of biodiversity priority areas in Madagascar. PLOSOne 11(12) e01668575.doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0168575.

Neugarten et al, 2020. Trends in protected area representation of biodiversity and ecosystem services in five tropical countries. Ecosystem Services 42 (2020) 101078.

Newman DJ and Cragg GM, Natural products as sources of new drugs over the 30 years from 1981 to 2010. J Nat Prod. 2012;75(3):311–335. doi:10.1021/np200906s

Neyer T (2015). Comparing drinking water treatment costs to source water protection costs using time series analysis. Water Resources Research, Volume 51, Issue 11. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014WR016422.

Nicoll ME and Langrand O, 1989. Madagascar: Revue de la Conservation et des Aires Protégées. WWF, Gland, Suisse: xvii + 374 pp. Illustré.

Nielsen H and Spenceley A. 2011. The Success of Tourism in Rwanda: Gorillas and More. Washington, DC: World Bank. © World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/9240 License: CC BY 3.0 IGO.

Nlom, JH, 2011. The Economic Value of Congo Basin Protected Area Goods and Services. Journal of Sustainable Development. Vol 4 No 1: February 2011.

Nunes P and Ghermandi A (2015). Understanding And Valuing Marine Ecosystem Services in The Northern Mozambique Channel. Consultancy report commissioned for the Northern Mozambique Channel initiative. WWF International.

Obura, D. et al. 2017. Reviving the Western Indian Ocean Economy: Actions for a Sustainable Future. WWF International, Gland, Switzerland. 64 pp.

OECD (2019), Biodiversity: Finance and the Economic and Business Case for Action, report prepared for the G7 Environment Ministers' Meeting, 5-6 May 2019.

OECD (2021), Effective Carbon Rates 2021: Pricing Carbon Emissions through Taxes and Emissions Trading, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/0e8e24f5-en.

Ollivier T and Giraud PN 2010. Costs of Environmental Degradation and the Sustainability of Madagascar's Development Pathway. Antananarivo: World Bank.

Olsen, N., Bishop, J. & Anstee, S. (2011) *Exploring Ecosystem Valuation to Move towards Net Positive Impact on Biodiversity in the Mining Sector*. Gland, Switzerland: IUCN.

ONE, 2015. Land use map of Madagascar. Office National pour l'Environnement, Antananarivo.

ONTM/PIC, 2018. Office National de Tourisme (ONTM) and Pôle Intégré de Croissance (PIC). Réalisation des enquêtes visiteurs aux frontières "secteur tourisme", étude et analyse des résultats. Rapport final.

Oréade-Breche, 2010. Etude d'évaluation économique d'aires marine protégées des pays de la Commission de l'Océan Indien. Le cas de Nosy Antafana (Madagascar) et du Curieuse (Seychelles). Novembre 2010. 53 pages.

Ormsby, A. & Mannle, K. (2006) Ecotourism benefits and the role of local guides at Masoala National Park, Madagascar. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism* 14: 271–287.

Osman MB, Tierney JE, Zhu J, Tardif R, Hakim GJ, King J and Poulsen CJ, 2021. Globally resolved surface temperatures since the Last Glacial Maximum. *Nature*. Vol 599. 239-244. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03984-4.

Ouyang et al 2020. Gross Ecosystem Product. Measures the flows of ecosystem services. [DETAILS NEEDED]

Pattanayak, S.K., Wendland, K.J., 2007. Nature's care: diarrhea, watershed protection, and biodiversityconservationinFlores,Indonesia. Biodiversityhttps://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-007-9215-1.

Pattanayak, S. K., Ross, M. T., Depro, B. M., Bauch, S. C., Timmins, C., Wendland, K. J., & Alger, K. (2009). Climate Change and Conservation in Brazil: CGE Evaluation of Health and Wealth Impacts, *The B.E. Journal of Economic Analysis & Policy*, 9(2). doi: https://doi.org/10.2202/1935-1682.2096.

PCD (Pêche Côtiere Durable), 2020. Brève évaluation de la première tranche du système de suivi des impacts et du développement de base via le système de suivi et d'évaluation PCD à partir de 06-2019.

Peypoch N, Randriamboarison R, Rasomananjara F, Solondrasana B. The length of stay of tourists in Madagascar. Tourism Management. 2012 Oct 33(5): 1230-5.

Philipps, A (ed). 1998. Economic Values of Protected Areas. Guidelines for Protected Area Managers. World Commission on Protected Areas – Best Practice Protected Area Guidelines Series No. 2. Gland: IUCN.

Pimm S et al., 1995, "The future of biodiversity", Science 269 (347) https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17841251 (link as of 16th Dec 2019)

Plugge, D., Baldauf, T. & Koehl, M. (2013) The global climate change mitigation strategy REDD: Monitoring costs and uncertainties jeopardize economic benefits. *Climatic Change* 119: 247–259.

Plugge, D., Baldauf, T., Rakoto Ratsimbal, H., Rajoelison, G. & Köhl, M. (2010) Combined biomass inventory in the scope of REDD (Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation). *Madagascar Conservation & Development* 5: 23–34.

Portela, R, Nunes P A L-D, Onofri, L., Villa, F., Shepard, A., and G-M Lange, 2012. Assessing and Valuing Ecosystem Services in Ankeniheny-Zahamena Corridor (CAZ), Madagascar. A Demonstration Case Study for the Wealth Accounting and the Valuation of Ecosystem Services (WAVES) Global Partnership. World Bank. 65 pages.

Poudyal, M., Ramamonjisoa, B.S., Hockley, N., Rakotonarivo, O.S., Gibbons, J.M., Mandimbiniaina, R., Rasoama nana, A. & Jones, J.P.G. (2016). Can REDD plus social safeguards reach the 'right' people? Lessons from Madagascar. *Global Environmental Change-Human and Policy Dimensions* 37: 31–42.

Poudyal M, Jones JPG, Rakotonarivo OS, Hockley N, Gibbons JM, Mandimbiniaina R, Rasoamanana A, Andriananteninaina NS, Ramamonjisoa BS, 2018. Who bears the cost of forest conservation? Peer J 6: e5106. https://doi.org./10.7717/peerj.5106. Price, James I and Matthew T. Heberling, 2018. The Effects of Source Water Quality on Drinking Water Treatment Costs: A Review and Synthesis of Empirical Literature. Ecological Economics, Volume 151, 2018, Pages 195-209.

Qin et al., 2019. Protected area downgrading, downsizing, and degazettement as a threat to iconic protected areas. S. Qin, ... +6 ... , M.B. Mascia Conserv. Biol. (2019), 10.1111/cobi.13365

Rakotonarivo, S, Jacobsen, JB, Larsen, JB, Jones, JPG, Nielsen, MS, Ramamonjisoa, BS, Mandimbiniaina, R & Hockley, N 2017, 'Qualitative and quantitative evidence on the true local welfare costs of forest conservation in Madagascar: Are discrete choice experiments a valid ex ante tool?', *World Development*, vol. 94, pp. 478-491. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.02.009

Rakotonarivo, O, Jacobsen, J, Poudyal, M, Rasoamanana, A & Hockley, N 2018, 'Estimating welfare impacts where property rights are contested: methodological and policy implications', *Land Use Policy*, vol. 70, pp. 71-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2017.09.051

Rakotoratsimba H, Andriamanantsoavina LTF, Rakotovao JA, Ratsimandresy RN, Ratefiarivelo O, Randriamananazy, AG. 2020. Rapport d'analyse des conséquences de l'utilisation des matieres primaires sur la situation actuelle et future (situation de l'occupation des sols). In: Rapport d'analyse sur les flux de l'eau et des effets autour du PN d'Ankarafantsika (ensablement de la plaine de Marovoay). LandDev/ESSA-Forêts, June 2020.

Rafanoharana, S.C.; Andrianambinina, F.O.D.; Rasamuel, H.A.; Rakotoarijaona, M.A.; Ganzhorn, J.U.; Waeber, P.O.; Wilmé, L. 2021. Exemplifying Stratified Deforestation in Four Protected Areas in Madagascar. *Forests* 2021, *12*, 1143. https://doi.org/10.3390/f12091143.

Rafaralahy, T Z (ed) undated (après 2015). Ch5 in : Eaux douces et gestion intégrée de la ressource en eau. Antananarivo : JIRAMA.

Raharinirina, V, 2009. Valorisation économique de la biodiversité par les contrats de bioprospection et la filiere huilles essentielles – la cas de Madagascar. Thèse de Doctorat en Sciences Economiques, Université de Versailles St Quentin (USVQ). 421 pages.

Raharinirina V, 2010. Le mécanisme « REDD » - Mythe ou panacée pour Madagascar ? Article published by Revue *de Madagascar Conseil International* (MCI). May 2010 Edition.

Rambeloma T. 2001. "Evaluation économique du parc national d'Andasibe. Application de la méthode d'évaluation contingente". *Projet d'appui à la gestion de l'environnement. Mai 1999-juin 2002.* Juin 2001. 26 pages.

Rasolofoson, R, in prep. Forests, WASH (WAter, Sanitation, and Hygiene), and diarrhea (title not exact). To be submitted.

Rasolofoson RA, Ricketts TH, Jacob A, Johnson KB, Pappinen A and Fisher B, 2020. Forest Conservation: A potential nutrition sensitive intervention in Low- and Middle-income countries. Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fsufs.2020.00020/fullForest).

Rasolofoson A R, Merlin M. Hanauer, Ari Pappinen, Brendan Fisher, Taylor H. Ricketts, 2018a. Impacts of forests on children's diet in rural areas across 27 developing countries. Science Advances. 2018; 4: eaat2853 15 August 2018.

Rasolofoson R, Hanauer B, Pappinen A, Fisher B, 2018b. Effects of forests on children's diets in developing countries: a cross-sectional study. The Lancet Planetary Health, 2018.

Rasolofoson RA, Ferraro PJ, Ruta G, Rasamoelina MS, 2017. Impacts of community forest management on human economic well-being across Madagascar. Conservation Letters 10 (3), 346-353.

Ratsimbazafy H, Lavitra T, Kochzius M, and Hugé J. 2019. Emergence and diversity of marine protected areas in Madagascar. Marine Policy 105, April 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j.marpol.2019.03.008.

Razafindralambo R, 2001. "Valeur économique de l'alimentation en eau urbaine. Cas de la ville de Fianarantsoa", *Projet d'appui à la gestion de l'environnement. Mai 1999-juin 2002.* Janvier 2001. 42 pages.

Razanajatovo, N. H., Nomenjanahary, L. A., Wilkinson, D. A., Razafimanahaka, J. H., Goodman, S. M., Jenkins, R. K., Jones, J. P., and Héraud, J.-M. 2015. Detection of new genetic variants of Betacoronaviruses in endemic frugivorous bats of Madagascar. *Virology Journal* 12: 42 doi.org/10.1186/s12985-015-0271-y

Resolve/WCS, 2020. *Plan d'Aménagement et de Gestion (PAG) de la Réserve des Ressources Naturelles d'Atimo Vatae*. Provisional report, together with *Plan de Sauvegarde Social & Environnemental* (PSSE). 23 December 2020. Reports provided to WCS.

Ricke, K., Drouet, L., Caldeira, K. *et al.* Country-level social cost of carbon. *Nature Climate Change* **8**, 895–900 2018. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0282-y

Rising J & Heal G, 2014. Global Benefits of Marine Protected Areas. NBER Working Paper No. 19982. March 2014.

Robelino, J and Villalobos L, 2015. Protected areas and economic welfare: an impact evaluation of national parks on local workers' wages in Costa Rica. Environment and Development Economics, Volume 20, Issue 3, June 2015, pp. 283 – 310. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355770X14000461.

Rosenbaum H & Chou E, in press. *Megaptera novaeangliae*, Humpback whale, Trozona. In: Goodman, S. M. (ed.). In press. *The new natural history of Madagascar*. Princeton, New Jersey, Princeton University Press.

Roy R, Dunn S and Purkis S, 2009. Mapping Velondriake: the application of bathymetric and marine habitat mapping to support conservation planning, southwest Madagascar. Blue Ventures: London. 12 pp.

Runeberg, E. (2013) Decentralisation or INGOisation of REDD+? Lack of national lead in building a REDD+ strategyinMadagascar.In: AnalysingREDD+:ChallengesandChoices,eds. Angelsen, A., Brockhaus, M., Sunderlin, W.D. & Verchot, L.V.. Bogor, Indonesia: CIFOR.

Sander K and Zeller M, 2007. Protected Areas and Local benefits. In: Stability of Tropical Rainforest Margins. Tscharntke T, Leuschner C, Zeller M, Guhardja E, Bidin A (eds), The stability of tropical rainforest margins, linking ecological, economic and social constraints of land use and conservation, Springer Verlag Berlin 2007, pp 365-387.

Sarrasin, B. (2013) Ecotourism, poverty and resources management in Ranomafana. Madagascar. *Tourism Geographies* 15: 3–24.

Scales, I.R. (2014a) *Conservation and Environmental Management in Madagascar*. London, UK, and New York, NY, USA: Routledge.

Scales, I.R. (2014b) The future of conservation and development in Madagascar: Time for a new paradigm? *Madagascar Conservation & Development* 9: 5–12.

Scientific American, 2021a. Cost of Carbon Pollution Pegged at \$51 a Ton. By Jean Chemnick at E&E News, March 1 2021.

Scientific American, 2021b. Giant Lemurs are the First (Besides Us) Found to Use Rhythm. Indris dramatic family 'songs' show repeatable timing patterns. Article by Jason Tamisiea. Scientific American, October 25, 2021.

Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (SCBD), 2008. Protected Areas in Today's World : Their Values and Benefits for the Welfare of the Planet. Montreal: Technical Series no. 36, i-vii. 96 pages.

Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (SCBD), 2020. Estimation of Resources needed for implementing the post 2020 global biodiversity framework. Preliminary Second report of the Panel of Experts on resource mobilization. CBD/SBI/3/5/Add.2. Montreal: CBD. 2020.

Serpantié, G., L. Henckel et A. Toillier, 2009, Valorisations économiques globales vs locales des sites de conservation des forêts tropicales. Divorce ou alliance ? Le corridor Ranomafana-Andringitra. Coll. ASRDLF, Clermond-Ferrand, 6-8 Juillet 2009, 20p. disponible sur https://horizon.documentation.ird.fr/exl-doc/pleins_textes/divers19-12/010050087.pdf.

Shackleton, S., Shackleton, C. & Shanley, P., eds. (2011) *Non-Timber Forest Products in the Global Context*. Berlin, Germany, and Heidelberg, Germany: Springer.

SHER Ingénieurs-Conseils s.a. & Mhylab, 2014. Small Hydro Resource Mapping in Madagascar. Inception Report. August 2014. The World Bank / Energy Sector Management Assistance Program (ESMP). 82 pages.

Shyamsundar, P. & Kramer, R. (1997) Biodiversity conservation – At what cost? A study of households in the vicinity of Madagascar's Mantadia National Park. *Ambio* 26: 180–184.

Siason, I, Pomeroy R et al. 2008. Ecosystem services for Poverty Alleviation – Marine and Coastal Situational Analysis. Synthesis Report November 2008.

Sommerville, M., Jones, J.P.G., Rahajaharison, M. & Milner-Gulland, E.J. (2010a) The role of fairness and benefit distribution in community-based payment for environmental services interventions: A case study from Menabe, Madagascar. *Ecological Economics* 69: 1262–1271.

Sommerville, M., Milner-Gulland, E.J., Rahajaharison, M. & Jones, J.P.G. (2010b) Impact of a community-based payment for environmental services intervention on forest use in Menabe, Madagascar. *Conservation Biology* 24: 1488–1498.

Spalding, M et al 2017. Mapping the Global value and distribution of coral reef tourism. Marine Policy 82 (2017) 104-119.

Stolton, S (ed). 2009. Communicating Values and Benefits of protected areas in Europe. Results of a Seminar by BfN and the EUROPARC Federation at the International Academy for Nature Conservation on the island of Vilm, Germany. Vilm: Bundesampt fur Naturschutz: April 2009.

Stolton S, Dudley N et al. 2015, Values and Benefits of Protected Areas. In: Stolton, Dudley et al. (eds) Protected Area Governance and Management. Pp 145-168. Canberra: ANU Press.

Sussman, R.W., Green, G.M. & Sussman, L.K. (1994) Satellite imagery, human ecology, anthropology, and deforestation in Madagascar. *Human Ecology* 22: 333–354.

Swartz W, Sumaila R, Watson R, 2012. Global Ex- Vessel Fish Price Data Revisited. A new approach for estimating 'Missing' Prices. Environmental and Resource Economics.

TEEB (2010) Integrating the ecological and economic dimensions in biodiversity and ecosystem service valuation. In: *The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity Ecological and Economic Foundations*, ed. Kumar, P., pp. 1–37. London, UK, and Washington, DC, USA: Earthscan.

The Tax Foundation, 2021. Carbon Taxes in Europe. https://taxfoundation.org/carbon-taxes-in-europe-2021/. Consulted on 06.02.22.

Tol, RS, 2008. The social cost of carbon: trends, outliers and catastrophes. Economics: The Open Access, open assessment E-journal, 2.

Tol, R. S. J. The social cost of carbon. Annu. Rev. Resour. Econ. 3, 419–443 (2011).

Tortosa, P. 2021. Introducing microbes in the context of the Madagascar biodiversity hotspot. In: Ch 6. Diversity, evolutionary history, transmission of zoonotic pathogens and other infectious microbes (Tortosa P & S Goodman eds). In Goodman (ed), in press.

Tozzi Green, 2021. L'expérience de Tozzi Green Madagascar sur la variation des conditions des bassins versants dans le champ des énergies renouvelables. Presentation to Natural Capital Forum, Hotel Carlton, Antananarivo. 19 March 2021.

Tregarot E, Catry T, Pottier A, Cornet C, Marechal J.-P, Fayad V, Sidi Cheick MA, David G, Dia AD, Fall AD, Sarr O, El Valy Y, Wagne OH, Meisse B, Kane EA, Ball AC, Haidallah MS, Braham CB, Dia M, Abdel Hamid ML, Rey-alette H, Salles J.-M, Ly D, Cisse CB and Failler, P. 2018. Evaluation des services ecosystemiques du Banc d'Arguin, Mauritanie. Rapport final pour le Parc National du Banc d'Arguin, 366 p.

Trégarot E, Touron-Gardic G, Cornet C and Failler P, 2020. Valuation of coastal ecosystem services in the Large Marine Ecosystems of Africa. Environmental Development 36 (2020) 100584.

UNEP, 2021a. State of Finance for Nature 2021. United Nations Environment Programme. Nairobi.

UNEP, 2021b. Emissions Gap Report 2021: The Heat Is On – A World of Climate Promises Not Yet Delivered. Nairobi.

UNEP-WCMC et al., 2018. UNEP-WCMC, IUCN, NGS, 2018. Protected Planet Report 2018: Tracking progress towards global targets for protected areas. UNEP-WCMC, IUCN and NGS, Cambridge UK; Gland, Switzerland; and Washington, D.C., USA.

UNEP-Nairobi Convention and WIOMSA. 2021. Western Indian Ocean Marine Protected Areas Outlook: Towards achievement of the Global Biodiversity Framework Targets. UNEP and WIOMSA, Nairobi, Kenya, 298 pp.

UN Global Compact, 2022. https://www.unglobalcompact.org/take-action/action/carbon. Consulted 06.02.22.

UNICEF 2020. UNICEF Bulletin N° 17 21 March 2020 to 20 April 2020.

UN Statistical Commission, 2021. Ecosystem Accounting. SEEA Ecosystem Accounting. March 2021.

USAID, 2019. Plague in a Changing Environment. Technical Report. Antananarivo: USAID, 2019. 62 pp.

Van Meerveld, H. J. (Ilja), Julia P.G. Jones, Chandra P. Ghimire, Bob W. Zwartendijk, Jaona Lahitiana, Maafaka Ravelona, Mark Mulligan. 2020. Forest regeneration can positively contribute to local hydrological ecosystem services: implications for forest landscape restoration. Submitted.

Vezina B, Ranaivoson A, Razafimanahaka J, Andriafidison D, Andrianirina H, Ahamadi K, Rabaearivony J and Gardner C, 2020. Understanding Livelihoods for Protected Area Management: Insights from Northern Madagascar. Conservation and Society 18(4): 327-339, 2020.

Vieilledent, G., Grinand, C. & Vaudry, R. (2013) Forecasting deforestation and carbon emissions in tropical developing countries facing demographic expansion: A case study in Madagascar. Ecology and Evolution 3: 1702–1716.

Vieilledent G, Grinand C, Rakotomalala FA, Ranaivosoa R, Rakotoarijaona J-R, Allnutt TF and Achard F. 2018. Combining global tree cover loss with historical national forest cover maps to look at six decades of deforestation and forest fragmentation in Madagascar. Biological Conservation 222 (2018) 189-197.

Vincent, J.R., Ahmad, I., Adnan, N. et al. Valuing Water Purification by Forests: An Analysis of Malaysian Panel Data. Environ Resource Econ 64, 59–80 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10640-015-9934-9.
Vyawahare, M. (2020). Q&A with Minister Vahinala Raharinirina. *Mongabay*. Retrieved from https://news.mongabay.com/2020/04/covid-19-will-hurt-madagascars-conservation-funding-qa-with-minister-vahinala-raharinirina/

Waeber PO, Rafanoharana S, Rasamuel HA and Wilmé, L. 2019. Parks and Reserves in Madagascar: Managing Biodiversity for a Sustainable Future. Pp In: Protected Areas, National Parks and Sustainable Future (eds AN Bakar and MN Suratman. DOI: 10.5772/intechopen.85348.

Waldron et al. 2017. Reductions in global biodiversity loss predicted from conservation spending. *Nature*, 551(7680), 364-367.

Waldron, T, Moores, O, Miller D C, Nibbelink, Redding D, Kuhn T S, Roberts T, Gittleman J, 2019. Targeting Global Conservation Funding to limit immediate biodiversity declines.

Waldron et al, 2020. Protecting 30% of the planet for nature: costs, benefits and economic implications. Working paper analysing the economic implications in the draft post-2020 Global Biodiversity Framework.

WAVES, 2012. Water demand and use data for Antsiranana 1999-2011. Excel data file. Antsiranana: JIRAMA.

WAVES, 2012. Madagascar – Natural Capital Accounting and Management of the Malagasy Fisheries Sector. Policy Brief. September 2012.

WAVES, 2013. Natural Capital Accounting and Management of the Malagasy Fisheries Sector. Draft report. The World Bank. 48 pages.

WAVES 2015. Madagascar - Mission d'appui à la mise en oeuvre du Partenariat WAVES Madagascar (P144389) du 13 au 20 avril et du 27 au 31 juillet 2015 Aide-Mémoire. 15 pages.

WAVES 2016a. Capital Natural et Développement Durable de Madagascar. MEP/WAVES, May 2016. 15 pages.

WAVES, 2016b. Comptabilisation du capital naturel et valorisation des services de l'écosysteme. Antananarivo : MEAH/WAVES, June 2016.

WAVES 2016c. Comptes de l'Eau a Madagascar : concept et résultats 2016. Comptabilisation du Capital Naturel et Valorisation des Services de l'Ecosysteme. WAVES June 2016.

Webster, C, 2008. Dossier pour l'obtention du statut de protection temporaire du site Nosy Tanikely (Tany Hely). February 2008. PPIC:Antananarivo.

Wendland, K.J., Honzak, M., Portela, R., Vitale, B., Rubinoff, S. & Randrianarisoa, J. (2010) Targeting and implementing payments for ecosystem services: Opportunities for bundling biodiversity conservation with carbon and water services in Madagascar. *Ecological Economics* 69: 2093–2107.

Whitmee S, Haines A, Beyrer C, Boltz F, Capan AG, de Souza Dias FB, Ezeh A, Frumkin H, Gong P, Head P, Horton R, Mace GM, Marten R, Myers SS, Nishtar S, Osofsky SA, Pattanayak SK, Pongsiri MJ, Romanelli C, Soucat A, Vega J and Yach D. Safeguarding Human Health in the Anthropocene epoch: Report of the Rockerfeller Foundation-Lancet Commission on Planetary Health. The Lancet. Vol 386. November 14, 2015. 1973-2028.

WHO 2017. Plague Outbreak in Remote Madagascar puzzles investigators. https://www.who.int/hac/crises/mdg/sitreps/plague-2017/en/ (accessed 06.05.21).

Worboys, G.L. and Good, R.B. (2011), Caring For Our Australian Alps Catchments: Summary Report For Policy Makers, Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, Canberra.

Word Bank, 2011, Project Paper On A Proposed Additional Ida Credit In The Amount Of Sdr26 Million (Us\$42 Million Equivalent) And A Proposed Additional Grant From The Global Environment Facility Trust Fund In The

Amount Of Us\$10.0 Million To The Republic Of Madagascar For The Third Environmental Program SupportProject(Ep3)May19,2011.Availableathttp://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/215761468054230540/pdf/619640PJPR0P100e0only0900BOX361476B.pdf

World Bank, 2013. Taking stock and moving forward. Madagascar Country Environmental Analysis. Document 77993. May 2013.

World Bank, 2015. Freiner l'avancée du sable rouge: Un appel à de nouvelles solutions pour la dégradation des terres (Article disponible sur https://www.banquemondiale.org/fr/news/feature/2015/07/20/in-madagascar-a-call-for-new-solutions-to-land-degradation).

World Bank, 2017. Fonds de partenariat pour le carbone forestier (FPCF) Fonds carbone. Document de programme sur les réductions d'émissions (DP-RE). Revised version 23 May 2017.

World Bank 2017. Madagascar Sustainable Landscape Project (PADAP). Project Appraisal Document. 2 March 2017. 137 pages.

World Bank, 2020. Madagascar - Country Economic Memorandum : Scaling Success - Building a Resilient Economy
(French). Washington, D.C. : World Bank Group.
http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/413691581343453437/Madagascar-Country-Economic-
Memorandum-Scaling-Success-Building-a-Resilient-Economy

World Bank, 2020a. Document of the World Bank. Report No : ICR00003742) et de l'UCPE (rapport d'activités (janv-mars2015) : extension du financement additionnel.

World Bank. 2020b. Natural capital accounting: informing policy decisions and management of Uganda's natural resources © World Bank. October 2020.

World Bank, 2021a. Banking on Protected Areas. Promoting Sustainable Protected Area Tourism to benefit local economies. Mark Mattson (ed). World Bank, 2021. 86 pages.

World Bank 2021b. The Economic Case for Nature. A global earth economy model to assess development policy pathways. Washington: World Bank.

World Economic Forum, 2020. The Global Risks Report 2020. Insight Report 15th Edition. Washington DC : World Economic Forum. 102 pages.

Wright, P.C., Andriamihaja, B., King, S.J., Guerriero, J. & Hubbard, J. (2014) Lemurs and tourism in Ranomafana National Park, Madagascar: Economic boom and other consequences. In: *Primate Tourism: A Tool for Conservation?*, eds. Russon, A.E. & Wallis, J., pp. 123–146. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

WTTC 2019 (from WB 2021 on Pas)

WWF, 2015. Understanding and Valuing Ecosystem Services in the Northern Mozambique Channel. Summary of the study conducted by P. Nunes and A. Ghermandi and commissioned by WWF International (January 2015). wwf-marinemozambique2015.pdf (cbd.int).

WWF, 2020. Global Futures: Modelling the global economic impacts of environmental change to support policy making. Technical Report.

WWF/Dalberg 2013. The Economic Value of Virunga National Park. WWF International, Gland, Switzerland.

Yaron, G., Mangani, R., Mlava, J., Kambewa, P., Makungwa, S., Mtethiwa, A., Munthali, S., Mgoola, W., Kazembe, J., 2011. Economic Valuation of Sustainable Natural resources Use in Malawi. Llongwe: Ministry of Finance and evelopment Planning. 140 pages.

Zeng Y, Friess DA, Sarira TV, Siman K & Koh LP. 2021. Global potential and limits of mangrove blue carbon for climate change mitigation. Current Biology 31, 1737–1743, April 26, 2021.

Ziegler JA. Diamant S, Pierce SJ., Bennett, R, Kiszka J. 2021. Economic value and public perceptions of whale shark tourism in Nosy Be, Madagascar. Tourism in Marine Environments, Volume 16, Number 3, 2021, pp. 167-182(16). DOI: https://doi.org/10.3727/154427321X16223819324721.

ANNEXES

Methodological details

Value transfer method

The first approximation of the economic value of Madagascar's Protected Areas is based on the value transfer method. Value Transfer involves adapting existing economic valuation information to new contexts where valuation data are absent or limited. We searched the literature for valuation studies on similar ecosystems to those represented in Madagascar and its protected areas. We selected the most appropriate values based on our knowledge of the Madagascar context, an approach known as expert modified value transfer.

Following a literature review, we identified three major international studies as offering the most comprehensive repertoire of values for application in Madagascar. These were:

Costanza, R. et al 1997. The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature. 387, 253-260 (**1997**) – this is the landmark reference on global ecosystem service values and includes values for both terrestrial and marine ecosystems. Terrestrial values include forests (all types, tropical), rangelands, wetlands, freshwater lakes/rivers) while marine ecosystem service values include shelf seas, coral reefs, mangroves, and seagrasss beds, all of which are represented in Madagascar's protected areas. Values are given in 1997 USD.

De Groot R et al 2012. Global estimate of the value of ecosystems and their services in monetary units. Ecosystem Services 1 (2012) 50-61 – this paper, building on extensive research since Costanza et al 1997, gives an overview of the value of ecosystem services from 10 major biomes based on a review of over 320 publications at 300 different locations worldwide. The data were uploaded into an ecosystem service database, the largest of its kind, and used to generate the estimated values in the paper. Ecosystem service values covered include most of the marine and terrestrial ecosystems represented in Madagascar's protected areas, including open oceans, coral reefs, coastal systems, coastal wetlands (including mangroves), inland wetlands, rivers and lakes, tropical forest, woodlands and grasslands. The study also includes a comprehensive range of provisioning, regulating, habitat and cultural services including all those that have been recognized for Madagascar's protected areas. Most useful for the present study, the paper gives minimum and maximum values for all such ecosystem allowing use as a precaution to select the lower range values for Madagascar in order to reduce the likelihood of overvaluation. Service values are given in standard international (dollars from 2007 or \$USInt) for ease of comparison. Finally, the publication analyses the reasons for high variations and high values for certain ecosystem services and provides caveats useful for guiding the selection of values in the present study.

Costanza et al 2014. Changes in the global value of ecosystem services. Global Environmental Change. 2014, May. 26: 152-158 – this third key paper revisits the ecosystem service values estimated in 1997, taking account of the learning in De Groot et al 2012 and responding to feedback on the earlier papers. Using standardized 2007 dollars, the authors estimate that global ecosystem service values increased from \$46 trillion in 1995 to \$125 trillion in 2011 (177%), emphasizing that the value of ecosystem services per hectare increases with both economic growth built on ecosystem services, and rarefaction due to loss or degradation of ecosystems. The authors also highlight that between 1997 and 2011, degradation of ecosystems resulted in a loss of \$4.3 and \$20.2 trillion in value, or up to 16% in lost value. This underlines that Madagascar's ecosystems become increasingly valuable with time and that degradation of ecosystems causes major economic losses. Like De Groot et al 2012, the paper confirmed the exceptionally high values for certain ecosystems which occur in Madagascar's protected areas, including wetlands and coastal wetlands (that latter including mangroves, coastal systems and coral reefs). Adopting the same caveats as in De Groot et al 2012, we selected appropriate ecosystem service values for the present study.

We also considered a unique study conducted in Madagascar on the value of the ecosystem services of the Makira-Masoala landscape:

Masozera, M, 2008. Assessing the value of ecosystem services of the Makira-Masoala landscape, Madagascar. Antananarivo: Wildlife Conservation Society. May 2008 – this paper is an example of applying the value transfer

method to a protected area of Madagascar, Masoala National Park (240,000 ha) and Makira National Park (372,400 ha) within the broader Masoala-Makira landscape (900,000 ha), using the value transfer method accompanied by conjoint analysis, a technique using questionnaires to measure stakeholder preference for ecosystem services, to corroborate the comparative values of ecosystem values estimated using value transfer. The author considers 10 different ecosystem services relevant to this part of Madagascar – climate regulation & carbon sequestration, disturbance regulation (e.g. buffering floods and cyclones), water regulation, water supply, waste assimilation/treatment, pollination, biological diversity, habitat refugium (for wildlife), erosion control and recreation (e.g. tourism). The author used a spatially explicit value transfer approach using available published ecosystem service values and a land use land cover map of the landscape. To identify the most comparable ecosystem service values, the author focused on tropical forests in tropical developing countries and non-consumptive uses, and found 77 applicable values from 64 different studies, and converted them into standard 2007 \$US corrected for Purchasing-Power-Parity (PPP). Values selected ranged from \$150/ha/yr for cropland to \$5326/ha/yr for tropical forests. The author highlights the gaps in available data for all ecosystem types and considers that the ecosystem service values are <u>conservative</u>, and that the true value of services from the landscape is likely to be much higher.

Transferred value estimates following Costanza et al

We first tabulated the ecosystem monetary values provided by Costanza et al (1997 and 2014) and DeGroot et al 2012 of relevance to Madagascar, taking the closest equivalent where the precise equivalent was not covered by the authors (Table 15).

As highlighted by the authors³⁷⁶, it is important to understand that expressing the value of ecosystems in monetary terms does <u>not</u> imply a precise market value. Rather, their value in monetary terms is an estimate of their *benefits to society* and, importantly for protected areas, <u>the value that would be lost</u> to future generations if the ecosystems were to be destroyed.

Ecosystem	Value \$/ha/yr in 1995 (Int\$US of 2007)	Value \$/ha/yr in 2011 (Int\$US of 2007)	Expert selected values (\$/ba/yr) ³⁷⁷
ALL	(110,003 01 2007)	(111303 01 2007)	(\$/11a/y1)
Terrestrial (all	1109	4901	4901
combined)			
Coastal marine (all	5593	8944	8944
combined)			
TERRESTRIAL			
Forest (all types)	1338	3800	3800
Tropical forest	2769	5382	5264
			(mean value)
Grass/rangelands	321	4166	2871
			(mean value)
Wetlands (inland)	20404	140174*	25,982
			(mean value)
Lakes / rivers	11727	12512	4267
			(mean value)
MARINE			
Shelf seas	2222	2222	No equivalent
Coral reefs	8384	352,249*	36,794
			(minimum value)
Mangroves	13786	193,843*	12,163
			(median value coastal wetlands)
Seagrass beds	26,226	28,916	No equivalent

Γable 15 – Global ES values as re	ported by Constanza et al (1997	' and 2014) & DeGroot et al (2012)
--	---------------------------------	------------------------------------

³⁷⁶ De Groot et al 2012

³⁷⁷ De Groot et al 2012

*Note – the exceptionally high values reported for wetlands, coral reefs and mangroves reflect the values that can be generated in highly developed countries in exceptional circumstances where multiple benefits are captured sustainably from these ecosystems. For the purposes of this paper we used the minimum or mean values reported by DeGroot et al (2012) who provide information on the range of values reported, including mean, median, minimum and maximum reported values.

We present below a summary table of calculated economic values of ecosystem services from Madagascar's entire PA network, based on selected published values for terrestrial ecosystems (all types) and marine ecosystems (full table in Annex).

Ecosystem value types	1997 values (2007 \$)	2011 values (2007 \$)	Expert selected values (using conservative values for reef, mangrove & wetland)
Combined ecosystem service values (terrestrial and marine)	\$36 billion/yr	\$194 billion/yr	\$64 billion
 based on Terrestrial (non-wetland): 4518135 ha Wetland: 1137345 ha Marine coastal: 1426406 ha 	(\$5111/ha/yr)	(\$27,441 ha/yr)	(\$9101/ha/yr)
Ecosystem service values individually summated (terrestrial and marine) (same areas)	\$37 billion/yr (\$5179/ha/yr)	\$ 206 billion/yr (\$29,022/ha/yr)	\$29.7 billion (\$4184/ha/yr)

Table 16 – Total ES values for Madagascar's PA network (based on terrestrial, wetland and marine ecosystems) (combined and summated ES values and average \$ value/ha)

The first approximation suggested that Madagascar's PA network could provide ecosystem services worth as much as **\$36 - \$64 billion** annually, or an average of **\$5081 - \$9074/ha/yr**.

Masoala-Makira Landscape evaluation in 2008

As corroboration of this estimation, we present the results of a study in 2008³⁷⁸ of the Masoala-Makira landscape in northeast Madagascar (Fig 12), which used similar methods. The study was performed after Costanza et al (1997) but before publication of De Groot et al (2012) and Costanza et al (2014) and was based on ecosystem service values that had been published in the interim.

The Masoala-Makira landscape is dominated by two protected areas (Masoala 210,000 ha), Makira 371,000 ha) within a wider landscape of about 900,000 ha. Land cover data were available for about 65% of the landscape (581,679 ha).

³⁷⁸ Masozera 2008

Land use cover map (Masoala-Makira)		Land cover types (Masoala-Makira)			
		Land Cover 1	ypes		
	Land Use Land Cover	Existing land cover classes	New land cover classes		
	Humid Forest Degraded Humid Forest	Water	Water		
1 4 3 5 1 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	Mangroves Mashland Wetlands	Bare soil/Rocks	Bare soil/Rocks		
A SALENCE AND A	Grassland Cropland	Cultivated areas	Cultivated areas		
	Bare soil/Rocks Water Boundaries of Protected Areas	Wooded grassland/bushland mosaic Grassland/wooded grassland mosaic	Grassland		
-	*	Eastern humid forest Eastern littoral forest Western dry forest-thicket South western dry spiny forest	Primary Forest		
	0 10 20 40 Miles	Degraded eastern forest humid forest Marshland/ wetland Ma <u>n</u> groves	Degraded forest Marshland/Wetlands Mangroves		

Fig 12 – Map and table of land use cover in the Masoala-Makira landscape (Source: Masozera 2008)

Based on a review of the available literature for similar ecosystems, the author estimated the value of ecosystem services provided by the types of land cover for which area data were available (Table 17).

	Ecosystem Services (2007 US\$ ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)											
Land Cover	Area (ha)	Climate Regulation	Disturbance Regulation	Water Regulation	Water Supply	Erosion control and sediment retention	Waste Treatment	Pollination	Biodiversity (Genetic materials)	Habitat/Refugia	Aesthetic & Recreation	Total ESV flow (\$/yr)
Humid forest	535,504.0	3,220.00	12	6	6	122	115	315	1,286	5	239	\$5,326
Degraded												
humid forest	23,402.5	1,220.00										\$1,220
Marshlands/												
Wetland	111.62	430.00	559	4	54	5	347		258	242	592	\$2,491
Grasslands	3,916.0	290.00		4		41	122	35			16	\$508
Croplands	10,599.3	130.00						20				\$150
Bare soil/Rocks	3,102.1											-
Water	5,043.48											-
Total	581,679	6,520	1,758	14	60	433	8,045	370	1,577	365	1,102	\$9,695

Table 17 – Ecosystem service values of the Masoala-Makira landscape (Source: Masozera 2008).

 Row and column totals are in hectare \$ yr¹ i.e. Column totals (\$/yr) are the sum of the products of the per hectare services in the table and the area of each land cover type, not the sum of the per hectare services themselves.

2. Open cells indicate lack of available information.

The most valuable ecosystem was identified as humid forest, at \$5326/ha/yr. (This is in line with the value of \$5382 reported globally for 2011379). On this basis, the study valued ecosystem services from the landscape at **\$2.88 billion annually** across 581,679 ha, or **\$4959/ha/yr** (Table 18).

Land cover type	Area (ha)	Average \$ value/ha/yr	Total ESV Flow (x10 ⁶
			\$US/year)
Humid forest	535,504.0	\$5,326	\$2,852.09
Degraded humid forest	23,402.5	\$1,220	\$28.55
Marshlands/Wetland	111.6	\$2,491	\$0.28
Grasslands	3,916.0	\$508	\$1.99
Croplands	10,599.3	\$150	\$1.59
Bare soil/Rocks	3,102.1		-
Water	10,339.25		-
Total	586,975		\$2,884.50

Table 18 – Total value of ecosystem services in Masoala-Makira landscape (source Masozera 2008)

Applying the rate of \$4959/ha/yr to all eastern humid forests in the PA network (2,341,412 ha), would value **humid forest protected areas in the PA network at \$ 11.61 billion/yr** (all values are in 2007 standard dollars).

It is important to note that 60% of the service value for all ecosystems, including forest, relate to climate regulation (carbon storage), and that the assumed price of carbon was \$10/tC, double the rate currently assumed for the national REDD+ programme of \$5/tC. Even so, this highlights the great importance of this global ecosystem service and which Madagascar should aim to capture as effectively as possible via the REDD+ mechanism. Setting aside climate regulation, the <u>residual</u> ecosystem service value for humid forest is **\$2975.4/ha/yr**, which is similar to the values reported for 1995 by Costanza et al (1997) and the minimum, median or mean values reported by De Groot et al (2012). On this basis, **the national economic contribution of all** <u>humid forests</u> in the PA network would be an estimated minimum of **\$6.96 billion/yr**.

Economic sector valuation

Tourism

The concept of tourism economic value is developed on the basis of the tourist product: it is the price of exchange of products between tourists and the tourism industry that creates the economic value of tourism. Daily tourism spending based on a key study³⁸⁰ is therefore used to assess the economic contribution of tourism activity to the national economy. However, limiting the valuation to tourism spending, from an economic point of view, tends to limit the scope of analysis to transactions between tourists and the tourism industry. While the transaction appears to be a relevant argument for measuring tourism economic contribution, there are other circumstances where tourism value is created. Indeed, the exercise of tourism activity requires the use of infrastructure, especially public infrastructure, whose value does not appear, at least in the first approach, in transactions between tourists and the tourism industry.

Ecotourism

The benefits are estimated from the value added per visitor of the PAs whose basis for calculation is the average daily expenditure per visitor, the percentage of park visitors among the number of tourism

³⁸⁰ FTHM Conseils 2012

and the average length of stay. For this purpose, data from the FTHM Conseils study in 2012 and tourism statistics (Ministry of Tourism, 2020) are selected and compiled.

Agriculture

Method for assessing the economic value of PAs for agriculture

The approach is to measure the benefits of the protected area in preventing soil degradation and hydrological services. The specific steps were as follows:

- Using GIS software, we took the digital land use map (ONE, 2015), cross-referenced it with the data of Neugarten et al (2015) and superimposed the data onto the SAPM protected areas network map in order to determine the areas of land within proximity of protected areas by land use type (i)
- The net benefits per hectare of land (irrigated and non-irrigated agricultural land) were estimated using the same economic modelling developed by the World Bank to assess the impacts of the Ministry of Agriculture's PADAP project³⁸¹ (ii).³⁸²
- We then multiplied (i) by (ii) to estimate the economic benefit provided by the protected area
- We also estimated the creation of agricultural employment using the PADAP method: total number of farmers of 14,74 million in 2010, average population growth rate of 2.8%/year, 8 hours of work/day for 6 months/year

Key assumptions:

- That protected areas have a beneficial influence on agriculture within a radius of 10km of the protected area boundary based on an assumption used by FAO³⁸³
- That all agricultural production in the delimited area can be attributed to the soil erosion control and hydrological services of the protected area
- That all agricultural employment in the zone of influence of 10 km can also be attributed to the PA

Landscape economic contribution

Ankarafantsika ES valuation method

The Ankarafantsika national park is situated upstream from the Marovoay plain, Madagascar's second largest rice granary.³⁸⁴ The park edges are subject to significant soil erosion, as a result of the actions carried out communities surrounding the national park. Fires caused by them for agriculture or grazing, and their unrelenting need for energy wood and timber, lead to the degradation of the forest, which plays an important role in protecting the soil from erosion.

A study carried out by the Laboratory for Applied Research in Forestry, Development and Environment (LRAFDE)³⁸⁵ has shown that loss of soil in the sub-watershed leads to increased sedimentation of the

³⁸² World Bank 2017

³⁸³ FAO 2014

³⁸⁴ MEEMF 2015

³⁸⁵ Laboratoire de Recherches Appliquées (LRA) en foresterie, développement et environnement, Département des Eaux et Forêts, Ecole Supérieure des Sciences Agronomiques (ESSA-Forêts), ibid

Marovoay plain and thus a loss of rice growing area. We measured the value of the hydrological protection provided protected area as the lost yield that would be avoided by effective protection.

Two scenarios were considered:

<u>Scenario 1</u>: Ankarafantsika National Park is better protected over a 30-year horizon – i.e. there is effective restriction on access to the National Park.

<u>Scenario 2</u>: access restrictions to the park are not well respected over a 30-year period. In this scenario, only ineffective protection is provided.

In relation to these two scenarios, the following aspects should be highlighted:

Scenario 1 is accompanied by the conservation of a larger forest area compared to Scenario 2.

- the amounts of soil loss in the watershed due to erosion are not the same for these 2 scenarios. For scenario 1, where there is greater vegetation cover in the watershed, the loss of soil is reduced. For Scenario 2, there is less vegetation cover, so erosion is greater.
- the amounts of sediment deposited downstream, i.e. in the Marovoay Plain, are also different for the two scenarios: in scenario 1 the amount of sediment deposited is less than that in scenario 2.
 - the deposited sediments translate into non-cultivable land, with production losses due to the reduction of cultivable land
 - The difference between production losses under the two scenarios is considered to be a benefit conferred by the national park, which is called the value of the watershed protection service by the national park.

Application of data to the scenarios

The reference year used was 2019, in which the area sedimented due to erosion was 1450.16 ha.

<u>For scenario</u> 1, the proposed forest area was more than 154,285 ha. Under this scenario, the sediment release from Ankarafantsika NP to the Marovoay Plain in 2030 was compared with the volume of sediment released in 2019 which was 15,046,160.3 m3, bringing the sedimented surface in 2030 to 1822.31 ha.

<u>For scenario 2</u>, forest degradation over the entire area is increased by 79,945 ha, spread within the national park. Under this scenario, the sediment release from Ankarafantsika NP to the Marovoay Plain in 2030 rises by about 20% to 19,645,442.73 m3, increasing the sedimented area in 2030 to 2353.33ha.

Based on this data, our calculation focuses on the net present value of the losses avoided by the protection of the park, using the following parameters:

- Price of paddy rice in 2019: 900 ariary/kg.
- Annual yield of rice paddy: 2t/ha.
- Inflation rate from 2016 to 2019 published by INSTAT: 7.3683%³⁸⁶

Discount rate

³⁸⁶ www.instat.mg

The principle of discounting is to express future or past values as present values.

The current value of an asset that will be worth V in a year's time is:

V	
$\overline{(1+r)^n}$	

In which *r* is the discount rate expressed in %

In the calculation *r* was assumed to be equal to the rate of inflation and the time horizon was taken as 11 years (year 2030).

Assuming *r* to be constant over the 30 years, the formula obtained is:

Sedimented surface in 2030 = Sedimented surface 2019 * (1 + rate of evolution) * 11

Rate if change =	11	surface sedimented
	N	surface sedimented 2019

Surface sédimented for the year n = surface sedimented in 2019 * (1+ rate of change)ⁿ

- Annual rice price change

We assume that the price of rice changes annually in accordance with the rate of inflation.

Price of rice during the year n = price of rice in 2019* (1+ rate of inflation)ⁿ

- Value of the loss in Ariary

The value of the ariary loss in year n is given by the following formula:

Value of loss in year n in ariary = price per kilo of rice in year n in ariary × yield per ha in kg × sedimented area in year n in ha

Discounted loss

Applying the discount principle, the discounted loss in year n is given by the following formula:

loss during the year n	
$(1 + discount \ rate)^n$	

- Discounted net loss from 2019 to 2030

This is the sum of the losses discounted from 2019 to 2030.

$$\sum_{n=0}^{11} \frac{loss for the year n}{(1+discount rate)^n}$$

As stated *above, the* value of the benefit of protecting the national park against erosion is therefore the difference between the discounted net loss of scenario 1 and that of scenario 2. This is the loss avoided in rice production downstream thanks to the protection of the park. It should always be remembered that scenario 1 corresponds to a situation where the National Park is better protected through the existence and respect of the rules of restriction of access to the park. Scenario 2 is a situation where there are no restrictions on access to the park. In this scenario, no protection action is taken.

Thus, the value of the loss avoided through the park's watershed protection function is obtained through the following formula:

Benefit of protecting the national park from erosion =

Scenario 1 discounted net loss - scenario's discounted net loss2

Detailed calculations by site

Complexe Mahavavy-Kinkony (CMK)

In the Mahavavy-Kinkony complex, fishing remains the main activity of the area with 41% followed by rice cultivation with 33%.



Source: socio-economic survey C3ED-M, 2018

Agriculture brings together the small crops of "Bahibo" which is generally intended for selfconsumption, hence the low value of the average income per year. For fishing, 38% of fishing is done in the sea and 62% on lakes and water reservoirs in the protected area. So lakes and reservoirs are major sources of fish supply services.



Source: socio-economic survey C3ED-M, 2018

³⁸⁷ Antanimbary refers to the water bodies scattered throughout the landscape



The average income per activity within the Mahavavy-Kinkony complex is included in this graphic representation:

Value of wooded areas

For tree-lined areas, the calculation is based on **the use value of the forest** and the **ecosystem-based supply services of each** ecosystem. Given the lack of data, the direct use value alone could be assessed. For the forest, the economic benefits of forest conservation and management have been assessed.

Charcoal resource

While charcoal production is commonly a source of threat to protected areas, its high economic value can be turned to advantage in protected areas where space and environmental conditions are favourable for charcoal plantations, For CMK there are, according to the management plan, two sites for the production of non-forest tree charcoal. In Bemaratoly with a total area of 780ha with a volume of wood of 210m3/ha and in Masiakakoho, the exploitable resource is 1041 ha, with 57.6 m³/ha with an average of 1 m³ weighs about 175kg to 280kg.

It is therefore possible to determine the charcoal production potential of the Mahavavy-Kinkony complex:

	Area in ha (PAG data)	Quantity by volume (calculated)	Quantity in tonnes	s (calculated)
			Lower value	Upper value
Bemaratoly	780	163 800	28 665	45 864
Masiakakoho	1041	59961,6	10 493,28	16 789,25

It is then possible to determine the value relative to charcoal production within CMK:

	Average market price	Quantity in tonnes (calculated)		Value in ariary (calculated)		
	in ariary (survey C3ED- M)	Lower value	Upper value	Lower value	Upper value	
Bemaratoly	2E0 000ariary/tanna	28 665	45 864	10 032 750 000	16 052 400 000	
Masiakakoho	350 000anary/tonne	10 493,28	16 789,25	3 672 648 000	5 876 236 800	

	Value in ariary			in USD	Value per hectare in USD (extrapolated based on park area)	
	Lower value Upper value		Lower value	Upper value	Lower value	Upper value
Bemaratoly	10 032 750 000	16 052 400 000	2 675 400	4 280 640	8,84 \$/ha	14,15 \$/ha
Masiakakoho	3 672 648 000	5 876 236 800	979 373	1 566 996	3,23 \$/ha	5,18 \$/ha

Source: C3ED- M / IOGA/ DBEV surveys 2018

Other provisioning services

For other forest provisioning services **for CMK**, the following table summarizes the services and evaluation methods that are affected.

				prix				Valeur par hectare
Ecosystem services	Method of	Physical	Estimate quantity	moyen sur	Unitás	valeur en Ariary	en dollars Ś	en USD (ramenée à
provisioning	evaluation	indicator	(Data of IOGA/DBEV)	le marché	Onites	valeur en Anary	en donars ș	la surface de l'AP)
				en Ariary				

Honey (forest)	Market price	litre	20000	12 000	Ariary/litre	240 000 000	64000	0,21
Lambo (bush pig)	Market price	kg	9 677	10 200	Ariary/kg	98 702 400	26320,64	0,09
Raphia (donnée du PAG)	Market price	kg	40 147	2 900	Ariary/kg	116 426 300	31047,01	0,10
Satrana	Market price	Unité de feuille	169 081 082	21,42	Ariary/feui lle	3 621 716 774	965791,14	3,19
						4 076 845 474	1 087 158,8	3,59\$/ha

Source: our calculations based on the C3ED-M / IOGA/ DBEV surveys 2018

For other provisioning services in **Antrema**, the following table summarizes the services and valuation methods affected:

Provisioning service	Evaluation method	Physical indicator	Estimated quantity (Data IOGA/DBEV)	Average market price in Ariary	Units	Value in Ariary	Value in \$US	Value in \$US/ha
Honey (forest)	Market price	Litres	200	12 000	Ariary/litre	2 400 000	640	0,03
Lambo (bush pig)	Market price	kg	117,65	10 200	Ariary/kg	1 200 000,0	320	0,02
Raphia	Market price	kg	488,10	2 900	Ariary/kg	1 415 482,9	377,46	0,02
Satrana	Market price	No. of panels	2 055 647,06	21,42	Ariary/panel	44 031 960,0	11741,86	0,57
		49 047 442,9	13079,32	0,63				

Source: our calculations based on the C3ED-M / IOGA/ DBEV surveys 2018

Mangrove CMK

As for the forest, the mangrove assessment was based on the supply of goods, including fish, crabs, shrimp and timber.

The value of these supply services was determined from the quantities of resources harvested and the prices observed on the market.

Value of mangroves CMK

		Technique	Method	UML	Quantity (Date of IOGA/DBEV)	Market price (in Ariary)	Estimated value in Ariary	Value in USD	Value per hectare in USD (extrapolated to surface area)
	Honey (mangro ve)	Real market	Market price	Litres	10000	12000	120 000 000	32 000	0,11
	Wood	Real market	Market price	Cut trunks	1 911 070	1900	3 631 032 240	968 275	3,20
provisioning services	Shrimp	Real market	Market price	kg	1 000 560	20000	20 011 200 000	5 336 320	17,65
	Crab	Real market	Market price	kg	1 558 600	3400	5 299 238 640	1 413 130	4,67
	Fish	Real market	Market price	kg	2 419 536	7000	16 936 752 000	4 516 467	14,94
					·			12 266 193	40,46

Source: our calculations based on the C3ED-M / IOGA/ DBEV surveys 2018

Lake and freshwater reservoir

In calculating the value of the resources contained in freshwater lakes and reservoirs, the approach is to evaluate the supply of goods (fish) through the market price. Based on the survey conducted by the C3ED-M in 2018, we have the following estimates:

Estimated quantity captured/yr

	Quantity of fish (all species) from the lakes and
	reservoirs in tonnes / yr
СМК	2736
Antrema	33

Source: C3ED-M / IOGA/ DBEV surveys 2018

Values of provisioning services of lakes and reservoirs

	Average price per kg all species (in Ariary)	Quantity captured all species in tonnes / yr	Value in ariary	Value in US dollars (\$2018)	Value per hectare in USD (extrapolated to full PA area in ha) (in \$2018)
СМК	7000	2736 (2736000 Kg)	19 152 000 000	5107200	16,89
Antrema	7000	33 (33000kg)	231 000 000	61600	2,99

Source: our calculations based on the C3ED-M / IOGA/ DBEV surveys 2018

Value of mangroves for the Bio-cultural site of Antrema

		Technique	Method	UML	Quantity (Date of IOGA/DBEV)	Market price (in Ar)	Estimated value in ariary (socio-economic survey C3ED_M 2018)	Value in \$US	Value per hectare in USD (extrapolated to full protected area)
	Honey (mangrov e)	Real market	Market price	litre	155,292	12000	1863504	496,93	0,02
Provisioning service use value by resource Fish	Wood	Real market	Market price	Cut tree	29661	1900	56355900	15028,24	0,73
	Shrimp	Real market	Market price	kg	15529,2	20000	310584000	82822,40	4,02
	Crab	Real market	Market price	kg	24190,2	3400	82246680	21932,45	1,06
	Fish	Real market	Market price	kg	37759,2	7000	264314400	70483,84	3,42
								190 763,86	9,25

Source: our calculations based on the C3ED-M / IOGA/ DBEV surveys 2018

Ranomafana economic values

Theme	Data used	Sources	Calculation	Value	Comment
ECOTOURISM 1st method - revenues for park manager for a year (entry fee, guides, other activities)	Park entry fees (DEAP) = 1 188 569 000 Ar Guide fees = 13 218 000 ar Other activities Green Class = 8 890 200 Ar Ecoshop = 1 240 500 ar Kianja Maitso= 350 000 Ar Research = 400 000 ar Concession = 450 000 Ar	MNP, Ranomafana annual ecotourism report 2019	Sum of all these revenues	1 198 659 200 Ariary (311 340 USD) \$ 7,48 / ha en \$2019	The calculation does not take into account the revenues generated for hotels and restaurants
ECOTOURISM 2 nd method (PN, guides and hôtels)	Overall, a foreign tourist generates <i>USD 75</i> to the MNP, guides and hotels (Serpantié et al., 2009, p.13)	Serpantié et al 2009	Assuming that the contribution of each foreign tourist expressed in USD does not change (the increase in prices in Ariary cancels out with the depreciation of the Ariary against the USD): The estimated contribution of 21,605 foreign visitors from	1 620 375 USD \$38.95/ha/year with foreign visitors of 2019	The calculation takes into account only foreign visitors

Theme	Data used	Sources	Calculation	Value	Comment
	Number of foreign visitors (adults + children) in the park in 2019: 21 605	MNP, Annual ecotourism report Ranomafana 2019	Ranomafana National Park to the NPM, guides and hotels is USD 1,620,375 (21,605 visitors E. * USD 75 / E.		
HYDROELECTRICITY 1st method Based on the price of electricity	Installed capacity 18,7 MW (BOULOGNE, 2016, p.67) average electricity price in Madagascar: Household = 451.11 ar/ KWH Business = 443.9/ Kwh	BOULOGNE 2016 https://fr.globalpetrolprices.com/Madaga scar/electricity_prices/	<pre>(assuming 100% utilisation) Conversion to power in energy: 18.7 MW= 18700 kW Annual energy = 18700 kW* 24h * 365 days =163 812 000 KWH Baed on household prices only The value is: = 163 812 000 KWH* 451.11ar = 73 897 231 320 ariary</pre>	73 897 231 320 ariary 19 194 086 USD \$461.38 / ha/yr	

Theme	Data used	Sources	Calculation	Value	Comment
HYDROELECTRICITY 2nd method (Substitution cost method)	Installed capacity 18,7 MW Price of 1I diesel : (01 March 2021) 3400 ariary Conversion of 1L diesel in energy for thermal station 1L of diesel liberated 11.4 Kwh	Boulogne (2016 p.67) https://fr.globalpetrolprices.com/Madaga scar/diesel_prices/ <u>https://forums.futura-</u> sciences.com/chimie/237859-energie- liberee-1-litre-dessence-combien-de- kwh.html	 Conversion of power into énergy: 18.7 MW= 18700 kW Energie annuelle = 18700 kW* 24h * 365 jours =163 812 000 KWH Theoretical quantity of diesel necessary for the annual production: =163 812 000 KWH / 11.4 Kwh/l = 14 369 473 litre Valeur = 14 369 473 litre* 3400 ariary (Saving in diesel) 	48 856 210 526 Ar 12 689 924 USD \$ 305 /ha /an Saving in diesel fuel needed in thermal production equivalent	
DRINKING WATER	Quantity if drinking water 42 705 m3: Pricing on hydrants 1 can of 20 litres is worth 30 to 50 Ariary	Word bank, 2011, Information at local level	 1 can of 20 liters is worth 30 Ariary therefore 1 m3 is worth 1 500 Ar to users With the assumption that the 42,705 m3 are fully consumed, this is worth: 42705*1500 = 64 057 500 Ariary 	64 057 500 Ariary 16 638 USD \$ 0,40 / ha /yr	

Theme	Data used	Sources	Calculation	Value	Comment
SEQUESTRATION CARBON	Carbon T price: 5 USD (over 5 years) That is 1 USD/year Carbon T price: 5 € (5,675 USD) in 2017 Upper limit of CO2	Agreement Forest Carbon Partnership Fund / Atiala Atsinanana Programme signed with the Malagasy Government on 04/02/2021 covering 10 million T of CO2 and giving entitlement to USD 50 million over 5 years (2020 to 2024) https://bnc-redd.mg/fr/11-actualites- nationales/90-madagascar-signe-le- premier-programme-redd-atiala- atsinanana-avec-le-fcpf https://energiesdev.fr/prix-carbone-co2 Cornelis et al 2004,	Superior hypothesis of CO2 captured by a tropical forest: 220 t / ha and 1 USD / year for 1 T of carbon The sequestration of 9,152,000 tonnes (220 T * 41,601 ha) by the national park is potentially worth 45 760 000 USD over 5 years With a lower CO2 hypothesis captured by a tropical forest of 148 t/ha and 1 USD/year	Upper hypothesis : 45 760 000 USD in 5 yrs \$ 220 / ha/yr Lower estimate : 30 784 000 USD over 5 yrs	
	stored by tropical forest: 220 t / ha Lower limit of CO2 stored by a tropical forest: 148 t/ha	Hockley & Razafindralambo 2006.	for 1 T of carbon, the sequestration of 6 156 800 tonnes (148 T * 41601ha) par le parc national vaut by the national park 30 784 000 USD over 5 years	\$ 148 / ha/ yr	
WATERSHED PROTECTION	1350 ha of local rice fields protected by the park (Serpantié et al., 2009, p.10) The willingness to pay (WTP) of rice farmers to benefit from protection of their rice field against floods: \$5/ha cultivated/year (Serpantié et al., 2009, p.9)	Serpantié et al 2009	5\$ *1350 ha	6 750 USD / yr \$ 0,16 /ha/yr	

Andasibe-Mantadia

Theme	Data mobilised	Sources	Calculation	Value	Comment
ECOTOURISM (Revenue entrance fee, guiding, other activities)	Park entry fees DEAP= 753 520 500 Ar Guiding fees = 9 549 000 Ar Other Camping fees = 2 500 000 Ar Green classes = 4 382 000 Ar Ecoshop= 22 977 000 Ar	MNP, Annual Ecotourism Report PNAM 2019 MNP, Annual Ecotourism Report PNAM 2019 activities MNP, Annual Ecotourism Report PNAM 2019 MNP, Annual Ecotourism Report PNAM 2019 MNP, Annual Ecotourism Report PNAM 2019	Sum of all revenues	792 928 500 Ariary 205 955 USD/ yr \$ 13,30 / ha /yr	The calculation does not take into account the revenues generated for hotels and restaurants

Ankarafantsika

1. For scenario 1

Annual rate of change of the sedimented surface = 2%

Yield per ha: 2000 kg/ha

Inflation rate = discount rate = 7.37%

The following table shows the steps for calculating the discounted net loss (Table 19)

Table 19: The steps	for calculating t	he discounted	net loss in S	Scenario 1
---------------------	-------------------	---------------	---------------	------------

Year	Surface sedimented (ha)	Price of rice/kg (ariary)	Value of annual sediment loss (in ariary)	Value of annual loss discounted
0	1450.16	900	2610288000	2610288000
1	1480.59	966.31	2861430892	2665061189
2	1511.66	1037.52	3136736924	2720983715
3	1543.38	1113.96	3438530896	2778079697
4	1575.76	1196.04	3769361285	2836373756
5	1608.83	1284.17	4132021764	2895891034
6	1642.59	1378.79	4529574792	2956657197
7	1677.05	1480.39	4965377475	3018698452
8	1712.25	1589.47	5443109917	3082041554
9	1748.17	1706.58	5966806294	3146713822
10	1784.86	1832.33	6540888921	3212743145
11	1822.31	1967.34	7170205595	3280158000

Source: Our calculation

The scenario 1 present net loss value is **35,203,689,560 ariary**

Thus, if the Ankarafantsika National Park is better protected, the annual rate of evolution of the sedimented surface is only 2%. These increases in sedimented area imply reductions in the area of cultivable land and therefore cause annual production losses. The present value of these losses for 11 years starting in 2019 is therefore 35,203,689,560 ariary.

1) For the scenario 2

The annual rate of change of the sedimented surface = 4%

Yield per ha: 2000 kg/ha

Inflation rate = discount rate = 7.37%

The following table shows the steps for calculating the discounted net loss (Table 20).

Year	Surface sedimented (ha)	Price per kg of rice (ariary)	Value of annual sediment loss (en ariary)	Value of annual loss discounted
0	1450.16	900	2610288000	2610288000
1	1515.4133	966.31	2928732302	2727743945
2	1583.60283	1037.52	3286025488	2850485092
3	1654.8607	1113.96	3686906959	2978749261
4	1729.32498	1196.04	4136694306	3112784973
5	1807.13996	1284.17	4641353842	3252851931
6	1888.4564	1378.79	5207579747	3399221526
7	1973.43187	1480.39	5842882863	3552177360
8	2062.231	1589.47	6555690322	3712015795
9	2155.02585	1706.58	7355457332	3879046530
10	2251.99622	1832.33	8252792599	4053593200
11	2353.33	1967.34	9259599043	4235994000

Table 20: Steps for calculating the discounted net loss in scenario 2

Source: Authors' own calculation

The scenario 1 present net loss value is **40,364,951,613 ariary**

In the event that the national park is poorly protected, the sedimented surfaces increase at a rate of 4% per year, which is 2 times more important than that in scenario 1. The reduction in the area under arable land is therefore also greater. It is clear that the value of production losses due to the phenomenon of erosion is higher here than in scenario 1. The present value of these losses for 11 years from 2019 therefore amounts to 40,364,951,613 ariary.

1. The discounted net benefit of protecting the national park from erosion

As already mentioned earlier, the value of the loss avoided thanks to the protection of the National Park corresponds to the difference between the values of the discounted production losses of the 2scenarios. More specifically, it is the value of the losses in scenario 1 minus those e scenario2:

Loss of production avoided = net loss discounted scenario 2 - net loss discounted scenario 1

= 40 364 951 613 - 35 203 689 560

= 5 161 262 053 ariary

= 1,340,587.55 USD or 9.82 USD/ha (related to the surface of the Ankarafantsika PN³⁸⁸)

Thus, the protection of the park, in particular the restriction of access and the application of actions favourable to its maintenance, brings a benefit of USD 9.82/ha or USD 1 340 588 in terms of protection of the Marovoay plain.

Protected areas provide significant services that support the lives of humanity. Their protection could be justified by quantifying the economic value of these services.

^{388 1} USD= 3850 ARIARY

This part of the study showed only a small part of the value of the services provided by the Ankarafantsika PN. In addition to protection against erosion, so many other services are also provided by this park among others e.g. carbon sequestration, ecotourism, water regulation. Even at the level of protection against erosion, only the effect on rice cultivation is taken into account. The LRA document indicates that only 14.85% of the losses in the land concerned are deposited in the Marovoay plain while 87.5% are dumped in the Betsiboka river and reach the sea. For this purpose, the value of the benefit of the erosion protection service by the park calculated here is still underestimated. In other words, the damage caused by these sediments dumped elsewhere is still unquantified. This would undoubtedly increase the value of the benefit in question.

Detailed calculations – all contributions (images of master spreadsheet)

Sheet 1 – Global contributions

THE ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION OF MADAGASCAR'S PROTECTED AREAS - A REVIEW OF THE EVIDENCE - Final version printing 280522 ANNEXES - DETAILED CALCULATIONS (MASTER CALCULATION SHEET)

KEY VALUES & codes								% PA in Atiala	
GDP	14192000000 GDP in 2019	Humid forests total	6235720,00	2003 Protected Areas	1102949,00 PASCARRET	PAs in Atiala REDD+	1021644,00 ATIALAPAS	0,16 Case study PA areas	Other Pas and landscapes
Carbon Price	5 CARBONPRICE	Humid forests in Pas	3 172 849,36 HUMIDPAS2	Top 15 PAS for tourism	1113981,00 TOPPAS	Ratio KBAs/PAs	0,71	Ankarafantsika	136513,00 Makira-Masoalalandscape
		_				SCC (Lower)			
						SCC Median (in 201:	171,00 WWF 2020		
Terrestrial Pas	6 233 317,29 TPA	Dry forests total	3603712,16 DRYTOTAL	All KBAs	10730900 ALLKBAS	SCC (Upper)		Ranomafana	40556,00 Atiala-Antsinanana
Wetlands in Pas	119 678,60 WET	Dry forests in PAs	2130175,51 DRYPAS	Top 15 PAs visits in 2019	227431 PAVISITS	Tourism daily spend		CMK	302400,00
Mangroves in Pas	73071,99 MANG	Spiny forests	1465011 SPINYALL	Number of PAs	126 NOPAS			Antrema	20620,00
Reefs in Pas	107 131,00 REEF	Spinyforests in PAs	873347,4 SPINYPAS	Number of KBAs	240 NOKBAS			Makira South	74494,00
Marine Pas all	1 379 029,00 MPA	MPAs WCS2017	822000 MPASWCS	Biodiversity in PAs %	0,71 BIOINPANeugarten	et al 2020; calculation PA/KBA a	s a percentage	Andasibe/Mantadia	16368,00
ALL Pas	7612346,286 ALLPAS	All terrestiral forest in P.	3389324,40 ALLTERFORPAS	Forests in PAs%	45,44558606				

Note: MPA is defined as all marine habitats within Pas, not just Pas classed as MPAs Note: All Pas is defined as all area covered by protection irrespective of habitat type

PROTECTED AREA VALUES FINAL CALCULATION SHEETS - GLOBAL NATIONAL LOCAL

Benefit level	ES category	ES type	ES	Site category	Site subcategory	Specific sites/cases	Method	Year\$\$Valu	ie in study 🛛 🤇	GDP deflator	Value 2021\$	Ha of ES	Value/ha/	yr Other unit value Share o	of GDP	Key assumptions e.g rates, values, prices	Key References	Network cost Benefit co	st ratio Remarks
GLOBAL VALUE DELIVERY BY PAS	GLOBAL	GLOBAL	GLOBAL	GLOBAL	GLOBAL	GLOBAL	GLOBAL	GLOBAL GLOB	AL (GLOBAL	GLOBAL	GLOBAL		GLOBAL		GLOBAL	GLOBAL	(selected	values)
CLIMATE REGULATION																			
	Regulatory	Climate regulation	Carbon storage	Terrestrial Pas	All humid forests in PAs	s All humid forests in PAs	REDD+ & SCC	2019	1273000201	1,08	33 1379041118	09 2341412,10	588,	98 171,00		Assume \$171 SCC WWF 2020	IEFN1 2000; SAPM 2017; WWF 2020;LOFM	/BNCCREDD+, 2021	
		Climate regulation	Carbon storage	Terrestrial Pas	Dry forests	All dry forests in PAs	REDD+ & SCC	2019	267306412	1,08	33 289573035	91 2 130 175,51	1 123,	67 171,00		Assume \$171 SCC WWF 2020	IEFN1 2000;LOFM/BNCCREDD+, 2021;SAPN	1 2017; WWF 2020	
		Climate regulation	Carbon storage	Terrestrial Pas	Spiny forests	All spiny forests in PAs	REDD+ & SCC	2019	60881800	1,08	33 65953253	85 873347,40	28,	17 171,00		Assumes \$171 SCC WWF 2020	REDD+ Strategy; LOFM/BNCCREDD+, 2021;	WWF 2020	
		Climate regulation	Carbon storage	Marine PAs	Mangroves	All mangroves in PAs	REDD+ & SCC	2019	15832416	1,08	33 17151256	55 73071,99) 7,	33 171,00		Assumes \$171 SCC WWF 2020	REDD+ Strategy; LOFM/BNCCREDD+, 2021;	WWF 2020	
		Climate regulation	Carbon storage	Terrestrial Pas	Humid E forests	Makira-Masoala Landscape	Value transfer	2007	549075968	1,10	28 605520977	51 553504,00) 1984,	00 10,00		NOT USED - Assumes carbon price of \$10/t	Masozera 2008		
		Climate regulation	Carbon storage	Marine	Mangroves	All mangroves in PAs	Blue Ventures	2016	292287960	1,06	73 311958939	71 73071,99	9 4000,	00 7,20		Carbon price \$7,2/tCO2eq; 1% growth, discount 13.5%; \$4000/ha	Blue Ventures, unpublished data; Zeng et a	2021; mangrove area BNC	CREDD+
		Climate regulation	Carbon storage	Terrestrial Pas	All PA forests exc mang	roves	SCC	2019	1731758943	1,08	33 1876014463	21 5344935,01	1 350,	99 54,00		Social cost of carbon - used min value of \$54 (Wang et al 2019)			
		Climate regulation	Carbon storage	Terrestrial Pas	All PA forests exc mang	roves	SCC	2019	5483903320	1,0	08 5940712466	84 5344935,01	1 1111,	47 171,00		Social cost of carbon used WWF value of \$171 (WWF 2020)			
		Climate regulation	Carbon storage	Terrestrial Pas	All PA forests exc mang	roves	SCC	2018 3	13373027395	1,0	07 14327861551	02 5344935,01	1 2680,	64 417,00		Social cost of carbon/ used \$417 (Ricke et al 2018)			
Global clmate min			-						2024046903		21879734	03 7612346,29	9 287,	42 83,21		Percentage of total value			
Global climate med							Subtotal		5776191280		62526714	07 7612346,29	821,	39 170,15		Percentage of total value			
Global climate max							Subtotal		13665315355		146398204	91 7612346.29	9 1923.	17 84.77		Percentage of total value			
BIODIVERSITY CONSERVATION																			
	Provisoning	Biodiversity	Conservation	All PAs	All	Theoretical share of actual global	snend min	2019	528240000	11	18 572242392	00 7612346 29	9 75	17		Global actual spend min \$124bn *3% *71% *20% in Pas	Deutz et al 2020. Deutz 2021		
	Provisioning	Biodiversity	Conservation	All PAs	All	Theoretical share of actual global	spend max	2019	609180000	1	08 659924694	00 7612346.29	86	69		Global actual spend max \$142bn *3%*71% 20% in Pas	Deutz et al 2020. Deutz 2021		
	Provisioning	Biodiversity	Conservation	All PAs	All	Global species extinction plan	Investment	2019	3173700000	1.08	33 3438069210	00 7612346.29	9 451	64		Min plobal need if PAs expanded to 30% = \$149bn x 3% x 71% in PAs	Deutz et al 2020: Mair et al 2021		
	Provisioning	Biodiversity	Conservation	All PAs	AII	Global species extinction plan	Investment	2019	4089600000	1,00	33 4430263680	00 7612346.20	581	98		Max global need if PAs expanded to 30% = \$195bn x 3% x 71% in PAs	Deutz 2020: Mair et al 2021		
	Provisioning	Riodiversity	Concernation	All DAr	All	Contribution for 6 key 55	investment	2020	704752000	1,00	A 920576012	20 7612246,2	110	20		WINE 2020 patienal large of 5 6% GDB in RALL costs of inaction	WAVE 2020, Mail CT 01 2021		
	Provisioning	Diodiversity	Conservation	All PAS		Clabel Diadiography Formation	laura tanan t	2020	953000000	1,051	1 053000000	00 7012340,23	5 110, 5 111,	23		COD DAT (2020 - Hattorian losses of 3.0% GDF in DR0 - Costs of Inaction	(RD 2020) Mais at al 2021		
	Provisioning	Biodiversity	Concervation	All PAS	All	Global Biodiversity Framework	Investment	2021	1221252000		1 1221252000	0 7612346,25	9 111,	92 76 1619		CBD 200hp (EH ort) 2% on Mad 41% on An 8 Eor 47% on KRAr 71% in PAs	CBD 2020; Mair et al 2021 CBD 2021; Mair et al 2021		
	Provisioning	Diodiversity	Conservation	All PAS		Country realized as DAs	Rudect coord	2021	1034013	1.00	1 12313333000	00 7012340,23	· 101,	10,10	7 7025 05	Cob Soddi (11 esc), 5/1 of Mad, 41/6 of Mg & Tot, 47/6 of KBAS, 71/6 if FAS	COD 2021, Mail et al 2021		
	Provisioning	Diodiversity	Conservation	All PAS	All	Government spend on PAS	Budget spend	2014	1054915	1,06	73 1104502	50 7612346,25	9 U,	15	7,765E-05	Estimated by BIOFIN 2021 (15% spend on PAS)	BIOFIN 2021		
	Provisioning	biourversity	conservation	AILPAS	AI	Government spend biodiversity	budget spend	2014	0099421	1,00	/5 /505/52	JS /012340,23	9 0,	97	0,000518800	Escinated by BiOFIN 2021 (all biodiversity experior ure)	BIOFIN 2021		
Sub-total biodiversity conservation v	alue min							Subto	ital I	MIN BIO	5/2242392	00 /612346,25	9 75,	1/ 15,5/		Percentage of total value			
Sub-total biodiversity conservation v	alue max							Subto	ital I	Max BIO	659924694	00 /612346,25	9 86,	59 5,82					
		ALC 1						2012											
	Provisioning	Biodiversity	Genetic resources	All Madagascar	All	All Mada Pas	Genetic resources	2013	284000000	1,05	15 299478000	JU /612346,25	9 39,	34		INCLUDED IN MIN ESTIMATE - estimate of World Bank 2013	World Bank 2013		
	Provisioning	Biodiversity	Genetic resources	Makira/Masoala	макіга	Makira-Masoala Landscape	Genetic resources	2007	/33946304	1,10.	28 809395984	US 553504,0L	J 1326,	00		INCLUDED IN MAX ESTIMATE - est. WCS 2008 for Masoala/Makira alone	Masozera 2008		
Subtotal global genetic resources mil	n							2	84000000,00		299478000	00							
Subtotal global genetic resorces max								7	33946304,00		809395984	05							
Subtotal biodiversity+genetic resource	ces min										8/1/20392	00 /612346,25	9 114,	51					
Subtotal biodiversity+genetic resource	ces max				-						1469320678	05 7612346,25	9 193,	02					
	Cultural	Tourism	Ecotourism	Terrestrial PAs+NTK	Terrestrial+NTK	Top 15 Pas	Direct spend	2019	480760000	1,08.	33 520807308	00 1113981,00	J 467,	52 69 all parks		Global spend - 68% tourists visit >/=1 parks x \$707m in 2019	FTHM 2012, MTTM 2019		Deduct national contrib
	Cultural	Tourism	Ecotourism	Terrestrial Pas	Andasibe-Mantadia	Tourism consumer surplus	Existence value	1991	5458344	1,08	54 5924486	58 1113981,00	D 5,	32 24,00		Assumes similar satisfaction for all Pas	Kramer et al 1995		
	Cultural	Tourism	Ecotourism	Terrestrial Pas	Andasibe-Mantadia	Tourism consumer surplus	Existence value	1991	14783015	1,08	54 16045484	48 1113981,00	J 14,	40 65,00		Assumes similar satisfaction for all Pas	Kramer et al 1995		
	Cultural	Tourism	Tourism	Coral reefs in Pas	All MPAs	Reef tourism global benefit	Direct spend	2017	5500000	1,049	96 5772800	00 107131,00	0 53,	89		Assumes 2/3 of reef MPA value is global, based on reef area	Spalding et al 2017		
	Cultural	Tourism	Ecotourism	Megafauna in MPAs	Ankarea NA	Whaleshark total spend	Direct spend	2019	500000	1,08	33 541650	00 135556,00) 4,	00		Assumes \$1.5 m to global tourism economy from whale sharks x 1/3 in MPAs	Ziegler et al 2021		
Gobal tourism MPAs subtotal									6000000,00		6314450	00				Subtotal of benefits from MPAs NOT INCLUDED HERE_SEE UNDER MPAs			
Subtotal global tourism min exc MPA	ls								486218344		5267317	95 1356668,00	388,	25					
Subtotal global tourism max exc MP/	As								495543015		5368527	92 1356668,00	395,	71					
Subtotal global tourism min INC MPA	As								492218344		5330462	45							
Subtotal global tourism max INC MP	As								501543015		5431672	42							
Subtotal scientific research	Cultural	Biodiversity	Research	All PAs	All	All research publications	Direct spend	2021	8343871		1 8343870	97 7612346,29	91,	10 Assume average \$10,000	0 per paper	25866 papers 1990-2021; assume all biodiversity research relates to PAs	Publications search link		
	Cultural	Entertainment	Films & documentaries	Terrestrial PAs	Terrestrial	Natural History Films	Total global spend	2021	412500		1 412500	00 7612346,29	90,	05 1.65 films/yr*\$250000=\$	\$16.5m/40yrs	66 films since 1980 prod cost only (excludes royalties or distribution costs)	BBC consultants for this study		
	Cultural	Entertainment	Films & documentaries	All PAs	All	Dreamworks	Global revenues	2020	83212000	1,05	54 87905156	80 7612346,29	9 11,	55		2,26 bn in 15 yrs less \$502m*0,71 (71% of Madagascar's biodiversity is in PAs)	Wikipedia on Dreamworks		
Subtotal entertainment									83624500,00		88317656	80 7612346,29	9 11,	60 60					
Subtotal global cultural contribution	min							5	78186714,97		623393322	35 7612346,29	9 81,	89					
Subtotal global cultural contribution	max							5	87511385,97		633514320	25 7612346,29	83,	22					
Subtotal biodiversity related benefit	min							Subto	otal f	Min Biod+Cultura	I 1486769843	38 7612346,29	9 195,	31					
Subtotal biodiversity related benefit	max							Sub T	otal I	Max Biod+Cultura	al 2629566792	88 7612346,29	345,	43					
Total min GLOBAL BENEFIT DELIVERY	(TOTA	L F	Reg+Biod+Cult	3674743246	30 7612346,29	9 482,	73	0,258930612		Add nat & local ES not already counted	76123462,86	48,27
Total Med Global Benefit Delivery											7739441249	92	1016,	70					
Total max GLOBAL BENEFIT DELIVER	Y							TOTA	L F	Reg+Biod+Cult	17269387283	61 7612346.29	2268	60	1.216839577		Add nat & local FS not already counted	76123462.86	226.86

Sheet 2 – National Contributions

NATIONAL CAPTURE OF GLO	OBAL PA VALUES	NATIONAL	NATIONAL	NATIONAL	NATIONAL	NATIONAL	NATIONAL	NAT	IONAL NATIONA	L N	ATIONAL	NATIONAL	NATIO	NAL	NATIONAL NATIONAL
National (theoretical potential)	Regulatory	Climate regulation	n Carbon storage	Terrestrial PAs	Humid E forests		REDD+	2021	3722228	1	37222228,11	2341412,10	15,90		Theoretical capture - humid forests in Pas @ 55/tCO2
	Regulatory	Climate regulation	n Carbon storage	Terrestrial PAs	Dry forests		REDD+	2021	7815954	1	7815954,33	2130175,51	3,67		Theoretical capture - dry forests in Pas @ 55/tCO2
	Regulatory	Climate regulation	n Carbon storage	Terrestrial PAs	Spiny forests		REDD+	2021	1780192	1	1780192,21	873347,40	2,04		Theoretical capture - spiny forests in Pas @ 5\$/tCO2
	Regulatory	Climate regulation	n Carbon storage	Marine PAs	Mangroves		REDD+	2021	462936	1	462936,15	73071,99	6,34		Theoretical capture - MAngrove forests in Pas @ 55/tCO2
	Regulatory	Climate regulatio	n Carbon storage	All PAs	All		REDD+	2021	47281311	1	47281310,80	6306389,28	7,50		Theoretical capture under REDD+ - all forests in Pas @ 55/tCO2
National (actual)	Regulatory	Climate regulation	n Carbon storage	Terrestrial PAs	Humid E forests	Atiala-Antsinanana	REDD+	2021	1000000	1	10000000,00	1 444 880,04	6,92		Includes areas outside Pas; assumes \$50m over 5 years REDD+ Strategy 2018
	Regulatory	Climate regulation	n Carbon storage	Terrestrial PAs	Terrestrial	Atiala-Antsinanana	FCPF REDD+	2021	2600000	1	2600000,00	1444880,04	1,80 \$5/tC		Assumes 13m available over Syrs (Ereed pers comm) - assume all from PAs E Reed pers comm
	Regulatory	Climate regulation	n Carbon storage	Terrestrial PAs	Terrestrial	Atiala-Antsinanana	Project budget	2021	19045200	1	19045200,00	1021644,00	18,64		Project budget %158.71m over 5 years x % of forest in PAs
Subtotal Climate regulation capture	e min								21645200		21645200	3389324,40	6,39 \$5/tC		Annual value of terrestrial PAs for carbon
Subtotal Climate regulation capture	e max (potential)								29045200		29045200	3389324,40	8,57 <mark>\$5/tC</mark>		Annual value of terrestrial PAs for carbon
National	Provisioning	Biodiversity	Global funding	All	All	All Pas	Internat fin est	2021	3333333	1,00	33333333,33	7612346,29	4,38		Estimate quoted by Patricia Rajenarison seems accurate
	Provisioning	Biodiversity	Bioprospection	Terrestrial	Terrestrial	All PAs	Revenu/option	2013	284000000	1,0545	299478000,00	7612346,29	39,34		based on W82013 for Pas only World Bank 2013
	Provisioning	Biodiversity	Bioprospection	Terrestrial	Terrestrial	Zahamena	ICBG Investment	1999	10000	1	10000,00	64935,00	0,15		Invesment \$200,000/5 yrs not renewed - GDP deflator correction Raharinirina 2009
	Provisioning	Biodiversity	Bioprospection	Terrestrial	Terrestrial	Ranomafana	ICBG Investment	2005	17333	1	17333,33	40556,00	0,43		Investment \$260,0000/4yrs not renewed need GDP deflator correction Raharinirina 2009
	Provisioning	Biodiversity	Conservation	All PA types	All	International Public Funds	Investment	2018	33271653	1,0714	35647248,49	7612346,29	4,68 MGA=	3455	BIOFIN 2021 - international public finance
	Provisioning	Biodiversity	Conservation	All PA types	All	GEF7	Investment	2021	6760000	1	6760000,00	7612346,29	0,89		S33.8 m spend over 5 years = 6760000/yr This study
	Provisioning	Biodiversity	Conservation	Terrestrial PAs	NE only	World Bank PADAP	Investment	2021	1400000	1	1400000,00	2341412,10	0,60		PADAP in landscapes with Pas PADAP
	Provisioning	Biodiversity	Conservation	All PA types	All	NGO & Foundations spend	Investment	2018	15008182	1,0714	16079766,19	7612346,29	1,97		BIOFIN 2021 WWF 36% WCS 24.55% FAPBM 11.7%
	Provisioning	Biodiversity	Conservation	Terrestrial PAs	Terrestrial	DAPT fiscale receipts	Tax from PAs	2018	57887	1,0714	62020,26	6233317,29	0,01 MGA=	3455	
Subtotal global biodiversity values	national capture min								48365055		51816368,28	7612346,29	6,35	17,32	2
Subtotal global biodiversity values	national capture max								56525055		59976368,28	7612346,29	7,43	16,25	5
National capture global cultural	Cultural	Tourism	Ecotourism	All PA types	Terrestrial	15 MNP sites only	National spend	2019	160253333	1,0833	173602436,00	1113981,00	155,84		0,012232415 1/3 of tourism spend is national, 2/3 global FTHM 2012
	Cultural	Tourism	Ecotourism	Terrestrial PAs	Terrestrial	Top 15 Pas	Site-based spend	2019	37526115	1,0833	40652040,38	1113981,00	36,49		Sums spent at MNP (entry, guides) on 227431 visits MNP Data 2020, FTHM 2012
	Cultural	Tourism	Ecotourism	All PA types	All	All PAs	PA level receipts	2018	1895206	1,0714	2030523,56	7612346,29	0,27 MGA=	3455	BIOFIN 2021 - figure for all Pas in 2018 divided by rate of exchnage \$1=3455mga
National tourism values capture mi	'n								39421320,86		42682563,94	1113981,00	38,32	5,61	1
National tourism values capture ma	3X							1	160253333,33		173602436,00	1113981,00	155,84	22,81	1
National entertainment capture	Cultural	Entertainment	Films & documentaries	Terrestrial PAs	All	All sites	National spend	2019	103125	1,0833	111715,31	6233317,29	0,02		25% of the global production cost of NH documentaries spent in country BBC consultants
National research capture	Cultural	Research & ed	Research & ed	All PAs	All	All sites	National spend	2021	2781290	1	2781290,32	7612346,29	0,37		Assumes 1/3 of research budgets spent in country for all PAs (including MPAs)
National capture of global cultural	values min								42305736,18		45575569,57				
Natural capture of global cultural v	alues max								163137748,66		176495441,64				
National capture of all global value:	s min								151737312,00		161719701,79			4,40	0 Percentage of global benefits
National capture of all global value	s median													2,09	9 Median capture
National capture of all global value:	s max										439119445,92			2,54	4 Percentage of global benefits

NATIONAL ECONOMIC CONT	RIBUTIONS																
	Provisioning	Water	Agriculture	Terrestrial PAs 200	03 Terrestrial	Pas supporting irrigation	Carret & Loyer	2003	24264878	0,9296	22556630,59	1102949,00	22,00	20,45	15 sites of Carret&Loyer 2004, actualised to 2021 USD	Carret&Loyer, WAVES (\$/m3 water)	
	Provisioning	Clean water	Drinking water	Terrestrial PAs	Terrestrial	Carret&Loyer sites	Direct value	2003	10842660	0,9296	10079336,74	1102949,00	9,14		Based on Carret & Loyer 2004 - asssumes water price of 5mga/ltr = \$0.0012/ltr	UNICEF 2020	
Subtotal agriculture and drinking wa	ater								35107538		32635967	1102949,00	29,59				
	Provisioning	Clean water	Hydroenergy	Terrestrial PAs	Terrestrial	5 Eastern sites only	Avoided costs	2021	20746762	1	20746762,00	476937,06	43,50		Assume 50% avoided cost due to Pas	JIRAMA (Andekaleka) plus 4 other sites (Ranomafana and 3 others)	
	Provisioning	Cleanwater	Hydroenergy	Terrestrial PAs	Terrestrial	Potential sites	Avoided costs	2021	20492494	1	20492494,00	2341412,10	8,75		Assume 50% avoided cost due to Pas	JIRAMA (Andekaleka) for 2 potential sites Sahofika and Volobe	
	Provisioning	Clean water	Hydroenergy	Terrestrial PAs	Terrestrial	Sahofika (potential)	Avoided costs	2021	1151489	1,00	1151488,50	26471,00	43,50		Assume 50% avoided cost due to Pas	Sahofika ESIA (potential site) NOT INCLUDED DOUBLE COUNTING	
Subtotal hydroenergy min								2021	20746762	1,00	20746762,00	43,50			Percentage min benefits		
Subtotal hydroenergy max								2021	41239256	1,00	41239256,00	14,50			Percentage max benefits		
Subtotal min NATIONAL exc MPA									207591612		215102431	6233317,29	34,51	0,0151	56597 Values for all terrestrial PAs	6668175,365 51041088,95	3,07
Subtotal max NATIONAL exc MPA									314212138		329312897	6233317,29	52,83	0,0232	04122 Values for all terrestrial PAs	10208699,79 51041088,95	4,70
Subtotal min NATIONAL inc MPA								:	392731622,32		410274983,88	7612346,29	53,90	0,0289	08891 Percentage NATIONAL inc benefits	0,185542541 6564399,742	5,86
Subtotal max NATIONAL inc MPA								1	502699603,78		528020444,73	7612346,29	69,36	0,0372	05499 Percentage NATIONAL inc benefits	0,144167643 8448327,116	7,54

Sheet 3 Local contributions & MPAs

LOCAL BENEFIT CAPTURE	LOCAL	LOCAL	LOCAL	LOCAL	LOCAL	LOCAL	LOCAL	LOCAL LOCAL	LOCAL	L	OCAL LI	OCAL LO	CAL LO	CAL	0,012232415 Percentage CAPTURE benefits	Ecotourisme contribution a	J PNB	
Local	Regulatory		Reduced soil erosion	Terrestrial PAs	All	Ankarafantsika	Avoided Loss	2018	125000	1,0714	133925,00	136513,00	1,96	0,98	Ankarafantsika case study	C3EDM 2018	502218750	
	Provisioning		Hydrological protection	n Terrestrial PAs	All	Ankarafantsika	Production value	2019	364800	1,0833	395187,84	136513,00	5,79		Value of hydrological protection to Marovoay plain		Value in MGA	
			Reduced soil erosion		All	Ranomafana	WTP	2019	6750	1,0833	7312,28	40556,00	0,18	0,18	Local farmer willingness to pay, assumed to be the benefit	This study		
	Provisioning	Terrestrial	Charcoal plantation 1 B	Bemaratohy	All	СМК	Market price MIN	2018	2675400	1,0714	2866423,56	780,00	3674,90	9,48	Value per resource and over whole PA	C3EDM 2018		
	Provisioning	Terrestrial	Charcoal plantation 1 B	Bemaratohy	All	СМК	Market price MAX	2018	4280640	1,0714	4586277,70	780,00	5879,84	15,17	Value per resource and over whole PA	C3EDM 2018		
	Provisioning	Terrestrial	Charcoal plantation 2 I	Masiakakoho	All	СМК	Market price MIN	2018	979373	1,0714	1049300,23	1041,00	1007,97	3,47	Value per resource and over whole PA	C3EDM 2018		
			Charcoal plantation 2 I	Masiakakoho	All	СМК	Market price MAX	2018	1566996	1,0174	1594261,73	1041,00	1531,47	5,27	Value per resource and over whole PA	C3EDM 2018		
	Provisioning	Terrestrial	Other (honey etc.)		Forest	СМК	Market price	2018	1087159	1,0174	1106075,57	92831,00	11,91	3,66	Value per resource and over whole PA			
	Provisioning	Terrestrial	Wood		Forest	Antrema	Market price	2018	12740	1,0714	13649,21	4776,00	2,86	0,66	Was 0,61/ha/yr in calc - check	C3EDM 2018		
		Aquatic	Fish	Lakes & reservoirs	Lakes & reservoirs	СМК	Market price	2018	5107200	1,0714	5471854,08	56910,00	96,15	18,09	Was 16,45/ha/yr in calc - check	C3EDM 2018		
			Fish	Lakes & reservoirs	Lakes & reservoirs	Antrema	Market value	2018	60000	1,0714	64284,00	159,00	404,30	3,12	Value for Lakes&res covering 159ha - was 9,9/ha/yr in calc	C3EDM 2018		
	Provisioning		Mangroves			СМК	Market price	2018	12266193	1,0714	13141999,18	24848,00	528,90	43,46	NOT INCLUDE -was 841 for all area, 1024 mangroves alone - stock not yield	C3EDM 2018		
	Provisioning	Various	Mangroves	Mangrove	Mangroves	Antrema	Market price	2018	190763	1,0714	204383,48	1493,00	136,89	9,91	Was 15 based on all area, 207 based on mangrove area	C3EDM 2018		
	Provisioning	Clean water	Hydroenergy 1	Forest	Forest	Ranomafana	Market price	2018	12369580	1,0714	13252768,01	40556,00	305,00	326,78	305 based on all area	This study		
	Provisioning	Clean water	Hydroenergy 2	Forest	Forest	Ranomafana	Market price	2018	18727950	1,0714	20065125,29	40556,00	461,78	494,75	Value per resource and over whole PA	This study		
	Provisioning	Clean water	Hydroenergy	Forest	Forest	Makira Parcel south	Market price	2021	4106250	1	4106250,00	74494,00	55,12	55,12	Plant 2.5MW at 50% capacity avge cost \$0.75/kWh assuming 50% due to forest	This study		
	Cultural	Terrestrial	Ecotourism 1	Forest	Forest	Ranomafana	MNP sales	2019	410070	1,0833	444228,83	40556,00	10,95	10,95	MNP receives 20% of tourism spend	This study		
	Cultural	Terrestrial	Ecotourism 2	Forest	Forest	Ranomafana	Tourist spend	2019	2050350	1,0833	2221144,16	40556,00	54,77	54,77	Tourism spend by 27338 visitors \$75/head (Serpantie 2009)	This study		
	Cultural	Terrestrial	Ecotourism	Forest	Forest	Andasibe/Mantadia	MNP sales	2019	211000	1,0833	228576,30	16368,00	13,96	13,96	Value per resource and over whole PA	This study		
	Cultural	Terrestrial	Ecotourism	Forest	Forest	Andasibe/Mantadia	Tourist local span	2019	2030215	1,0833	2199331,91	16368,00	134,37	2516,40	Value based on assumed tourist local spend of \$55/day			
	Cultural	Terr & Marine	Ecoutourism	Forest & Marine	Top 15	TOP 15 MNP Pas	MNP sales	2019	110574800	1,0833	119785680,84	1113981,00	107,53	107,53	Assumes 23% of ectourism spend is local	FTHM 2012		
Ankarafantsika local value									125000		133925	136513,00	0,98	0,98				
Ranomafana local value min								12	786400,00		13704309,12	40556,00	337,91	337,91	15481224,4	14		
Ranomafana local value max								20	785049,68		22293581,72	40556,00	549,70	549,70	22293581,7	12		
CMK local value MIN								22	115325,00		23635652,62	302400,00	78,16	133,98	176410,0	00		
CMK local value MAX								24	308188,00		25900468,25	302400,00	85,65	146,82				
Antrema local value									263502,60		282316,69	20620,00	13,69	43,92	Productivity of 6428 ha of ES			
Makira Parcel 6 value								4	106250,00		4106250,00	74494,00	55,12	55,12				
Andasibe/Mantadia local value MIN	1								211000,00		228576,30	16368,00	13,96	13,96				
Andasibe/Mantadia local value MA	X							2	030215,00		2199331,91	16368,00	134,37	2516,40	Value of Analamazaotra at 874ha			
Subtotal local values min									39607478		42091030	590951,00	67,02	71,23	0,031283383 Based on 6 terrestrial parks 590951ha =		443973769,7 62333172,86	7,12
Subtotal local values max									51618205		54915874	590951,00	87,35	92,93	0,040815212 Based on 6 terrestrial parks 590951ha =		579249487,6 62333172,86	9,29

MARINE PROTECTED AREAS	ARINE PROTECTED AREAS NATIONAL BENEFITS																	
National	Regulatory	Climate regulation	1 Carbon storage	MPAs	Mangroves	All mangroves in Pas	REDD+	2018	1096080	1	1096079,85	73071,99	15,00		Assume \$5/t, 100% stop of 1% deforestation, \$300tC/ha	REDD+ Strategy, Zeng et al 2021; LOFM/BNCCRE	DD+ 2021	
	Regulatory	Blue carbon	Carbon storage	MPAs	All MPAs	Mangroves in (M)Pas	REDD+	2017	0	1,0496	0,00	73071,99	0,00		Area based on average value/ha for carbon	Blue Venures unpublished data, Zeng et al 2021;	LOFM/BNCCREDD+, 202:	1
	Provisioning	Fisheries	Fisheries	MPAs	All MPAs	Based on Velondriake & Toliara Ba	y Market price	2013	172378625	1,0545	181773260,06	1379029,00	125,00		Average 100/ha/yr - Assumes same value/ha for all MPAs for fisheries 1.38m ha			
	Provisioning	Mangroves	Fisheries	MPAs	All MPAs	Based on NW mangroves study	Market price	2017	9864719	1,0496	10354008,70	73071,99	135,00		Combination of mud crab, fish and shrimp	Blue Ventures 2017; LOFM/BNCCREDD+ 2021		
	Cultural	Tourism	Tourism	MPAs	All MPAs	Coral reefs in MPAs (exc Tanikely)	Tourism revenues	2017	2750000	1,0496	2886400,00	107131,00	25,67	49,46	Assumes1/3 value of reefs in MPAs (\$8.25m) spent in Madagascar	Spalding 2017		
	Cultural	Tourism	Ecotourism	Ankarea	Ankarea	Whale shark watching around Nos	y Tourism spend	2019	146667	1,0833	158884,00	135556,00	1,08		8000 tourists - assume daily spend 165/3 in Mad and 1/3 in MPA			
	Cultural	Tourism	Tourism	MPAs	Ankarea	Whale shark watching around Nos	y Tourism revenues	2019	166667	1,0833	180550,00	135556,00	1,23		Total \$1,5m from 8000 tourists - assume 1/3 in MPA, and 1/3 spent in Mad	Ziegler et al 2021		
	Cultural	Tourism	Ecotourism	MPAs	One MPA	Nosy Tanikely	Tourism spend	2019	2231376	1,0833	2417249,62	341,00	6543,62		(2019 foreign tourists 38472*daily spend (\$(165/3)+3)	FTHM 2012		
National tourism MPAs subtotal min			Tourism	MPAs	All MPAs	All MPAs	Tourism spend	2019	5128043	1,0833	5555208,62	1379029,00	3,72		Tourism value for all MPAs			
National tourism MPAs subtotal max							Tourism spend	2019	5148043	1,0833	5576874,62	1379029,00	3,73					
	Subtotal MPAs								188487466		198707548	1379029,00	144,09	8,72	0,014001377 Management Cost/ha based on 820000ha (WCS 2017)	WCS 2017 on MPA costs (high cost scenario	13790290	14,41
Subtotal MPAs min									185140010,32		195172552,76		141,53	4,54		Cost High 2017	6830481	
Subtotal MPAs max									188487466,17		198707548,23		144,09			Cost Low 2017	3551850	